Public Document Pack

Town Hall, Upper Street, London, N1 2UD

AGENDA FOR THE EXECUTIVE
Members of the Executive are summoned to attend a meeting to be held in Council
Chamber, Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD on 25 November 2021 at 7.00 pm.
Enquiries to
Tel
E-mail
Despatched

:
:
:
:

Jonathan Moore
020 7527 3308
democracy@islington.gov.uk
17 November 2021

Membership

Portfolio

Councillor Kaya Comer-Schwartz
Councillor Rowena Champion
Councillor Satnam Gill OBE
Councillor Sue Lukes
Councillor Michelline Safi Ngongo
Councillor Una O'Halloran
Councillor Asima Shaikh
Councillor Nurullah Turan
Councillor Diarmaid Ward

Leader of the Council
Executive Member for Environment and Transport
Executive Member for Finance and Performance
Executive Member for Community Safety
Executive Member for Children, Young People & Families
Executive Member for Community Development
Executive Member for Inclusive Economy and Jobs
Executive Member for Health & Social Care
Executive Member for Housing and Development

Quorum is 4 Councillors
Please note
It is likely that part of this meeting may need to be held in private as some agenda items
may involve the disclosure of exempt or confidential information within the terms of
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. Members of the press and public may
need to be excluded for that part of the meeting if necessary.
Details of any representations received about why the meeting should be open to the
public - none

Declarations of interest:
If a member of the Executive has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business and
it is not yet on the council’s register, the Councillor must declare both the existence and details of
it at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent. Councillors may also choose to
declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that is already in the register in the interests of openness
and transparency. In both the above cases, the Councillor must leave the room without
participating in discussion of the item.
If a member of the Executive has a personal interest in an item of business they must declare
both the existence and details of it at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent but
may remain in the room, participate in the discussion and/or vote on the item if they have a
dispensation from the Chief Executive.
*(a) Employment, etc - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for
profit or gain.
(b) Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect expenses in carrying out
duties as a member, or of election; including from a trade union.
(c) Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between the Councillors or
their partner (or a body in which one has a beneficial interest) and the council.
(d) Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area.
(e) Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or longer.
(f)
Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in which the
Councillor or their partner have a beneficial interest.
(g) Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place of business or
land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body or of any one class of its issued
share capital.
NOTE:

Public questions may be asked on condition that the Chair agrees and that the
questions relate to items on the agenda. No prior notice is required. Questions
will be taken with the relevant item.
Requests for deputations must be made in writing at least two clear days before
the meeting and are subject to the Leader’s agreement. The matter on which the
deputation wants to address the Executive must be on the agenda for that
meeting.

A.

Formal Matters

1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Declarations of Interest

3.

Minutes of Previous Meeting

B.

Communities feel safe, connected and inclusive

4.

Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) Strategy

Page

1 - 10

11 - 58

C.

Budget, Performance and Monitoring matters

Page

5.

Monthly Budget Monitor, including funding allocations and adjustments to
the capital programme (Month 6 2021/22)

59 - 82

D.

Everyone has a place to call home

6.

Purchase of former Holloway Police Station

83 - 94

7.

The GLA/DLUH&C Allocation of Funding Programme to acquire former
right to buy properties

95 - 134

8.

Procurement strategy for out-of-hours drainage works, in-hours back up
support for repairs team and all drainage excavation repairs (including
collapsed pipes)

135 - 148

E.

Cleaner, greener, healthier borough

9.

Procurement Strategy for the Fleet Replacement Programme

149 - 162

10.

Adult Paid Carers - Response to the report of the Health and Care
Scrutiny Committee

163 - 174

F.

Urgent non-exempt matters
Any non-exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered
urgently by reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will
be agreed by the Chair and recorded in the minutes.

G.

Exclusion of the press and public
To consider whether to exclude the press and public during discussion of
the remaining items on the agenda, in view of their confidential nature, in
accordance with Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

H.

Confidential / exempt items for information

11.

EXEMPT APPENDIX - Purchase of former Holloway Police Station

I.

Urgent exempt Matters
Any exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgently
by reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will be
agreed by the Chair and recorded in the minutes.

175 - 182

The next meeting of the Executive will be on 13 January 2022

WEBCASTING NOTICE
This meeting will be filmed by the Council for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the Council’s
website. The whole of the meeting will be filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt
items, and the footage will be on the website for 12 months. A copy of it will also be retained in
accordance with the Council’s data retention policy.
If you participate in the meeting you will be deemed by the Council to have consented to being
filmed. By entering the Council Chamber you are also consenting to being filmed and to the
possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. If
you do not wish to have your image captured you should sit in the public gallery area, overlooking
the Chamber.
In addition, the Council is obliged by law to allow members of the public to take photographs, film,
audio-record, and report on the proceedings at public meetings. The Council will only seek to
prevent this should it be undertaken in a disruptive or otherwise inappropriate manner.
If you have any queries regarding webcasting or the recording of meetings by the public, please
contact Democratic Services on democracy@islington.gov.uk

Agenda Item 3
London Borough of Islington
Executive - 14 October 2021
Minutes of the meeting of the Executive held at Council Chamber, Town Hall, Upper
Street, N1 2UD - Islington Town Hallon 14 October 2021 at 7.00 pm.
Present:

Councillors:

Comer-Schwartz, Champion, Gill, Lukes,
Ngongo, O'Halloran, Shaikh, Turan and Ward

Also Present:

Councillor:

Russell

Councillor Kaya Comer-Schwartz in the Chair

831

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
None.

832

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
None.

833

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 2 September 20201 be
agreed as a correct record and the Chair be authorised to sign them.

834

NON RECENT CHILD ABUSE SUPPORT PAYMENT SCHEME
The Leader introduced the item by making the following statement:

Tonight’s meeting includes a report about Non-Recent Child Abuse in
Islington’s children’s homes. Abuse of children in Islington’s children’s
homes was the worst chapter in the council’s history. Children, placed
in our care, were subjected to terrible abuse which has had a deeply
traumatic effect on their lives.
As Leader of Islington Council, I again want to say we are deeply sorry
for the council’s past failure to protect vulnerable children in our care. I
offer this heartfelt apology to everyone who suffered abuse, and who
continues to suffer because of it. We know that nothing can make
amends for the trauma caused, but it is our responsibility as a council
to try to address past failings, and to offer support.
Tonight’s report recommends that the Executive approves a Support
Payment Scheme for people who suffered abuse in the council’s
1

Page 1

Executive - 14 October 2021

children’s homes from 1966-1995. The scheme will enable abuse
survivors to receive a financial support payment of £10,000, without
having to bring a civil compensation claim, and more quickly than
having to go through the trauma of the lengthy civil compensation
process.
Payments will be made through a process that is as straightforward and
quick to access as possible, and that minimises the need to re-live past
trauma, or the risk of further trauma or harm. Survivors or careexperienced people who suffered abuse, whether they make an
application or receive a payment under the scheme or not, will of
course still be able to bring a civil compensation claim.
The scheme will form part of the council’s wider support for survivors
which offers trauma counselling, specialist advice, support and
assistance for care, housing, appropriate welfare benefits, access to
further education and suitable employment, and support to access care
records. I’m sure the Executive will strongly support this
recommendation.
I’d like to thank all the survivors and care-experienced adults affected
by abuse and the organisations supporting them who made very
valuable contributions to our consultation on the proposed scheme
earlier this year. Thanks to their responses, we have made a significant
number of changes to the proposed scheme, including increasing the
payment from £8,000 to £10,000, and expanding the categories of
abuse.
Islington Council today is a very different organisation, and protecting
children from harm is our top priority. But we rightly remain deeply
sorry and ashamed of the failings of the past.
The Leader advised that written questions had been received in relation to this
item and responded as follows:

I have received a questions relating to how the support payment
scheme will work in practice. In the report, we have outlined that there
will be a range of support for those applying for payments under this
scheme including an independent advocacy service. There will be
further details about how the scheme works in practice in due course.
I have also received a question relating to civil compensation and
criminal investigations. The Council is committed to supporting victims
and survivors, provides a number of support services and will assist any
police investigations or prosecutions in any appropriate way that it can.
It is not, however, in a position to offer any form of scheme or process
beyond the support payment scheme that it is currently working to set
up. The Council does not have insurance ‘money’ as such, but rather
2

Page 2

Executive - 14 October 2021

insurance cover that may respond to civil compensation claims arising
out of non-recent abuse. Whilst the Council will continue to support
victims or survivors who bring such claims in any way that it can, and in
this sense work with them, it will be the party against which such
claims are brought and cannot, therefore, work jointly with them within
the actual claim process.
I have received a number of questions not related to the support
payment scheme but about support for survivors. We will continue to
meet with Islington survivors and care-experienced adults so that the
support that has been, or may need to be, in place for them including
our general services across the council are trauma-informed. Their
voices and lived experiences will be central to shaping support that
empowers them to live their lives.
We have also received questions in relation to people who will be
outside of the scope of the proposed scheme. The dates are based on
the management of those care homes, but we can look at this further
and if anyone wants to contact me on this matter they should feel free
to do so.
We have also been asked questions about how the payment scheme
will be publicised and how it will have the furthest reach possible. We
want to publicise this as widely as possible and we will work with
relevant groups to ensure that happens. We will also set aside an
appropriate budget to ensure that the scheme is publicised as widely as
possible.
A council officer read out a statement submitted on behalf of the Islington
Survivors Network. The full statement is appended to the end of this
document.
RESOLVED:
a) That the consultation undertaken on the proposed Support Payment
Scheme (SPS) and the responses received from consultees (Appendix A of
the report) be noted;
b) That the final SPS (Appendix C1 of the report) and final Scheme Terms and
Conditions (Appendix C2 of the report) be approved;
c) That the arrangements for implementation of the SPS (paragraph 4.1 of
the report) and the proposals for the appointment of the Independent
Service Provider and members of the Independent Review Panel
(paragraphs 4.2 and 4.3 of the report) be noted;
d) That the Corporate Director of Resources, following consultation with the
Leader of the Council, be authorised to make any further changes to the
3

Page 3

Executive - 14 October 2021

SPS and Scheme Terms and Conditions considered necessary as a result of
the responses from the council’s insurers.
e) That the Chief Executive and Corporate Director of Resources be
authorised to take all necessary action to implement the approved SPS;
and
f) It be noted that update reports on the operation of the SPS will be
submitted to future meetings of the Executive.
Reasons for decision – to provide financial support for eligible survivors /
victims of non-recent abuse suffered when in the council’s children’s homes.
Other options considered – as detailed in the report, the scheme was subject
to consultation
Conflicts of interest / dispensations granted – none

835

MONTHLY BUDGET MONITOR, INCLUDING FUNDING ALLOCATIONS
AND ADJUSTMENTS TO THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME (QUARTER 5
2021/22)
RESOLVED:
a) That the forecast 2021/22 General Fund budget variance and summary
update on the deliverability of agreed budget savings (Section 3, Tables 12 and Appendices 1-2 of the report) be noted;
b) That the forecast in-year budget variance on the Housing Revenue Account
(Section 4 of the report) be noted;
c) That the 2021/22 capital expenditure forecast of £169.082m be noted; and
it be noted that a review of the profiling of the capital programme is
currently underway (Section 5, Table 4 and Appendix 3 of the report);
d) That it be noted that £0.119m has been added to the 2021/22 capital
programme for additional works on the Bunhill 2 Project, following approval
by the Executive (Paragraph 5.4 of the report).
Reasons for decision – to ensure the financial resilience of the council
Other options considered – none
Conflicts of interest / dispensations granted – none

4

Page 4

Executive - 14 October 2021

836

CONTRACT AWARD FOR THE PROVISION OF SUPPORTED
ACCOMMODATION AT STACEY STREET
RESOLVED:
a) That the contract award for the Stacey Street ‘Somewhere Safe to Stay’
Hub be awarded to Single Homeless Project (SHP) for 24 months from an
estimated start date of November/December 2021 with the option to
extend up to a further 24 months subject to satisfactory performance, for
the reasons outlined in this report, be agreed.
b) That authority to award the contract for refurbishment of the property be
delegated to the Corporate Director of Homes and Neighbourhoods.
c) Reasons for decision – to let the contract to a suitable provider to ensure
that Stacey Street is a success.
Other options considered – as detailed in the report, other options included
insourcing or use of a framework agreement
Conflicts of interest / dispensations granted – none

837

THE GLA/MHCLG ROUGH SLEEPING ACCOMMODATION ALLOCATION
OF FUNDING PROGRAMME 2021-2024
RESOLVED:
a) That the borrowing of £15 million within the Housing Revenue Account to
supplement this funding provided by the Greater London Authority and
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities to enable the
council to purchase 60 one bedroom properties be approved;
b) That the capital funding totalling £4.2 million allocated to Islington Council
through the programme be noted; and to commence the purchase 60 one
bedroom former ex Right to Buy properties in Islington to accommodate
former rough sleepers with a connection to Islington be approved;
c) That revenue funding totalling £1,871,940, and the provision of this
support service within the 60 properties purchased for people who slept
rough in Islington, be noted;
d) That the budget increases as outlined in paragraph 4.1.3 of the report be
approved.
Reasons for decision – to assist the council’s commitment of eliminating rough
sleeping in Islington.
Other options considered – none
Conflicts of interest / dispensations granted – none
5

Page 5

Executive - 14 October 2021

838

CONTRACT AWARD FOR THE MENTAL HEALTH ACCOMMODATION
PATHWAY
RESOLVED:
a) That the award of contracts for the Mental Health Accommodation Pathway
Services be approved as outlined in the report;
b) That the table outlining contracts to be awarded, broken down by lot and
provider, be noted.
Reasons for decision – to enable people currently placed in expensive out of
area residential care placements to return to borough
Other options considered – other options included re-procure services in their
current form, in-house delivery, and re-procure with another borough
Conflicts of interest / dispensations granted – none

839

COMMUNITY MUNICIPAL INVESTMENT
RESOLVED:
a) That the launch of a Community Municipal Investment (CMI) with
Abundance Investment be agreed;
b) That the timeline, including the launch of the CMI at the “Islington
Together: Let’s talk about a greener future” festival before COP26, be
noted.
c) That the plan to launch an initial CMI for £1.0m with a 5 year maturity at a
rate which will match or undercut PWLB borrowing rates be noted.
d) That the plan to use proceeds to part-fund a package of approved
programmes that contribute to a net reduction in carbon emissions in the
Borough be noted (paragraph 4.15 of the report); and the Corporate
Director of Environment be authorised to amend the schedule of projects
following consultation with the Executive Member.
Reasons for decision – to engage with residents to support the net zero
carbon
strategy and part-fund the latest approved capital programme for 2021/22 to
2023/24.
Other options considered – none
Conflicts of interest / dispensations granted – none

6

Page 6

Executive - 14 October 2021

840

PROCUREMENT STRATEGY FOR HIGHWAYS CONTRACT
RESOLVED:
a) That the procurement strategy for Highway Works be approved as outlined
in the report at paragraph 3.4, with Option 5, a mixture external delivery
through a competitive tender and a greater retention of work being
delivered by the in-house resource, being the recommended procurement
strategy;
b) That authority to award the contract be delegated to the Corporate
Director of Environment in consultation with the Executive Member for
Environment and Transport.
Reasons for decision – to appoint a suitable contractor through a contract that
reflects Islington’s needs and priorities
Other options considered – other options included partnering with another
borough, entering into a call-off contract from an existing framework
agreement, a competitive tender exercise, and insourcing.
Conflicts of interest / dispensations granted – none

841

PEOPLE FRIENDLY STREETS PROGRAMME UPDATE
Councillor Champion introduced the report, summarising the progress of the
People Friendly Streets programme and explaining the proposed changes to
delivery, including granting limited exemptions to Islington Blue Badge
holders.
A question was received from Councillor Russell, querying how different
aspects of the programme would be implemented, and welcoming the
progress made.
A deputation was submitted by a local resident, Mr A Martin. This focused on
the impacts of the People Friendly Streets programme on residents with
disabilities.
A number of questions were received from members of the public. These
related to the impacts on residents with disabilities, the extent of public
consultation, the impacts on local businesses and wider impacts on the
borough’s transport network.
RESOLVED:
a) That the continuation of the people-friendly streets programme be agreed
as outlined in the Executive report of 18 June 2020 and amended by the
report submitted, including: a) School Streets; b) low traffic
neighbourhoods (including the new area of people-friendly pavements); c)
cycleways and d) the borough-wide lorry control scheme;
7

Page 7

Executive - 14 October 2021

b) That the delegation of authority to the Corporate Director of Environment,
in consultation with the Executive Member for Environment and Transport,
to continue the implementation of the people-friendly streets programme
through specific schemes, be confirmed;
c) That the initiation and approach to delivery of School Streets at schools on
main roads be agreed, as set out in the report at paragraph 3.2.4;
d) That the changes in delivery of low traffic neighbourhoods (LTNs) in the
people-friendly streets programme, as set out in the report from
paragraphs 3.3.47 to 3.3.68, be noted;
e) That the proposed trial approach to granting limited exemptions to
Islington Blue Badge holders in the low traffic neighbourhoods as set out in
the report, from paragraphs 3.3.62 to 3.3.68, be agreed;
f) That the updated timescales for the future delivery of the people-friendly
streets programme set out in the report, at paragraphs 3.2.3 (School
Streets), 3.3.21 (low traffic neighbourhoods) and 3.4.3 (cycleways) be
noted;
g) That the approach to the delivery of cycleways in Islington be agreed; and
the public consultation arrangements for those cycleways as set out in this
report at paragraph 3.4 be noted.
Reasons for decision – to renew the commitment to the PFS programme
going forward as set out in the report of June 2020, and with the amendments
proposed by the report
Other options considered – as detailed in the report
Conflicts of interest / dispensations granted – none
842

NON RECENT CHILD ABUSE SUPPORT PAYMENT SCHEME - EXEMPT
APPENDIX
Noted.

843

CONTRACT AWARD FOR THE MENTAL HEALTH ACCOMMODATION
PATHWAY - EXEMPT APPENDIX
Noted.

8

Page 8

Executive - 14 October 2021

844

APPENDIX: STATEMENT FROM ISLINGTON SURVIVORS NETWORK
Islington Survivors Network welcome this opportunity to respond tonight to
the proposed Support Payment Scheme for Survivors of Non-recent Child
Abuse.
Firstly, we thank all the survivors in our network for waiting so long since
hopes were raised for a financial scheme back in 2017. We know how difficult
that long wait has been. Secondly, we thank over 100 survivors who provided
evidence so that ISN could produce a comprehensive response to the council
consultation which has contributed so much to the scheme being presented by
the council tonight. We acknowledge that the Council has made some
important changes to their first proposal although not all our responses were
agreed.
It has been a long journey for us since the Executive meeting in September
2017 when many survivors spoke one by one of their very personal
experiences of abuse when they were children in Islington’s care system. In
response we received an apology & admission of council culpability from
Richard Watts (then council leader) when he acknowledged “ it was the darkest
chapter in Islington council’s history ” and gave a “full commitment to
addressing past failings”. Sadly, since this time 8 Islington survivors have died
without justice.
Since 2014, ISN have established and co-produced with the council the
Islington Non-recent Abuse Team Support Service and the Trauma Service
which are highly valued by many of us.
ISN are committed to campaigning for the interests of all survivors including
those who are excluded from this Scheme such as those who were in Islington
Council foster placements. We also reassure survivors that we will advocate
for them, when they apply for the payment, drawing on our extensive
research, knowledge and expertise. Importantly, alongside the council, we will
campaign for the DWP to decide that receipt of the payment will not affect
entitlement to or the amount of any UK benefits. It would be devastating for
many ISN survivors if the DWP refused to make this dispensation.
ISN broadly welcome this Support Payment Scheme and look forward to
contributing our knowledge to the process of implementation during the
following months. However, there is still much work to be done to make sure
that eligible survivors receive this payment as intended by the council
objectives of being straightforward, quick to access & avoiding risk of further
trauma.

9

Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
Young Islington
222 Upper Street
London, N1 1XR
Report of: Executive Member for Children, Young People & Families
Meeting of:

Date:

Executive

25 November 2021

Delete as appropriate:

Exempt

Ward(s):
All
Non-exempt

SUBJECT: Violence Against Women and Girls Strategy (2021 -2026)
1.

Synopsis

1.1

Islington’s current Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) strategy reaches its conclusion
this year and needs to be replaced. Islington’s approach to tackling VAWG has taken its lead
from the Mayor’s Office. In March 2017, the Mayor of London published a Policing and Crime
Plan which led to the development of a comprehensive, London-wide VAWG strategy after which
Islington’s was launched. The progress of Islington’s VAWG strategy 2017-21 has been reviewed
regularly by the strategic VAWG Board. A formal partnership review of the strategy was
undertaken in September 2019, by VAWG service providers, local stakeholders and survivors
which recognised the significant progress that has been made in the area in recent years. This
progress was made more possible because of the additional council funding that has been
provided to support and protect women and girls who are at risk of violence and abuse and to
help those who are enduring it.
National and regional discussions in relation to VAWG have culminated in the months preceding
the launch of this strategy and have represented an unprecedented time in British history in
relation to the issue. The public profile and awareness of VAWG has been raised by a number
of well publicised murders especially that of Sarah Everard, who was kidnapped and killed by a
serving Metropolitan Police officer. In addition, there have also been the murders of sisters Bibaa
Henry and Nicole Smallman, who were killed in a park in north west London, Julia James, a police
community support officer, killed out while walking her dog in Kent, and Sabina Nessa, a primary

Page 11

Page 1 of 6

school teacher who was attacked and killed in South East London. The combination of these
killings, at a time when statistics have showed that rates of domestic abuse and the number of
women requesting support following the COVID-19 pandemic has surged has led to widespread
calls for change.
Whilst figures show that Islington has taken important steps towards improving its response to
VAWG, we are aware that more needs to be done. For instance, rape offences in the borough
have a sanction and detection rate of 5.5%, which whilst higher than the Metropolitan Police
average, needs to be far higher. Our overarching commitment is to keep as many of our women
and girls and their families as safe as possible, to make perpetrators accountable for their actions
and to have a first class system in place to achieve this.
2.

Recommendations

2.1

To approve the proposed strategy for Violence Against Women and Girls (2021- 2026) as outlined
in this report. It is recommended that this strategy is approved for publication and release this
year in order to replace the previous strategy which is now out of date.

3.

Background

3.1

In order to build upon the progress made in recent years and to enhance service delivery further,
the VAWG strategic board has developed an ambitious Service Transformation Programme to
support and protect women and girls from harm and violence. This commenced in April 2020
and is supported by £600k additional per annum council funding, as well as funding from central
government, the Mayor for London, Clinical Commissioning Group and Public Health. This
substantial new investment and service expansion has supported local VAWG services to respond
to the unprecedented increase in demand and complexity of need prompted by the C OVID-19
pandemic.

3.2

The conditions arising from the COVID-19 pandemic and the various lockdowns introduced from
March 2020 exacerbated issues such as confinement, economic insecurity, fear of illness,
increased substance use and mental health issues and this contributed to a widely anticipated
increase in domestic abuse across the world. In the UK, ONS figures show that offences flagged
as domestic abuse by police in the period March – June 2020 increased by 7% compared to the
same period in 2019.

3.3

Nationally 90% of VAWG Services saw an increase in demand for services since the COVID-19
pandemic. In Islington, reported domestic abuse offences rose by 4.2% in 2020-21 compared
to 2019-20. This is significantly less than the 7% increase across the Metropolitan Police Service
for the same period. However, local VAWG services and in particular helplines were extremely
busy as lockdown measures eased.

Page 12

Page 2 of 6

3.4

This does not necessarily indicate an increase in the number of people experiencing violence or
abuse. However, there has been an increase in the severity of abuse reported to statutory and
voluntary and community services. Women experiencing abuse have also been less able to use
coping strategies such as leaving the home to escape the abuse, and less able to access support
services. The additional council investment in April 2020 meant that council -funded VAWG
services increased their capacity to support victims by 56% in 2020-21.

3.5

Islington is committed to ensuring that survivors have a key role in shaping the services they
engage with and this year staff from Islington’s VAWG Team and local VAWG services engaged
with survivors across local services as part of the preparation for the new VAWG strategy. A total
of 17 teams/organisations were contacted with requests to help gather feedback from people
with experience of VAWG services in Islington. In response to the issues highlighted, we
produced a questionnaire and brief on-line survey. Different organisations used these survey
tools in different ways. Some used them to structure group conversations, whereas others
undertook 1-1 interviews. The experience of survivors is a key thread throughout this strategy
in order to ensure that the strategy is as responsive to their needs as possible. It is essential for
us to learn from their experiences.

3.6

The evidence pertaining to ‘what works’ and is effective with perpetrators is underdeveloped in
the area of VAWG. This is not because of an absence of research, but due to the extremely poor
conviction and/or treatment rates in relation to perpetrators in England and Wales (and beyond).
For example, national statistics show a 50% drop in the number of convictions in cases where
rape had been alleged between 2016-17 and 2019-20. At the time of drafting this strategy, the
number of convictions in England and Wales was the lowest since tracking began in 2009. The
picture is similar in domestic abuse cases. In June 2021, Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of
Constabulary and Fire Rescue services (HMICFRS) released a report showing that three in four
domestic abuse cases are closed by police without a perpetrator being charged, a deterioration
which is extremely concerning. The work that is needed to make perpetrators accountable, in
conjunction with key partners such as the Police and the Probation Service is a key part of this
strategy.

3.7

The Domestic Abuse Act received royal assent in March 2021. At the time of writing, the
Government is still notifying the public of when provisions will be enacted. We expect that most
of the new proposals will be in place in autumn 2022, with the likely exception of DAPOs (see
below) which will be initially piloted before being rolled out more widely. The new legislative
changes include amongst others:


A new statutory definition of DA and the recognition of children as victims of DA in their
own right for the first time



Local authority statutory duty to provide support, secure tenancy and housing and
to provide domestic abuse support to survivors and children e.g. counselling

Page 13

Page 3 of 6



Prohibiting perpetrators of abuse from cross-examining their victims in person in the civil
and family courts in England and Wales

Other recent legislative changes of note include the Stalking Protection Act 2019 which
introduced Stalking Protection Orders, and the 2015 criminalisation of coercive control in late
2015. The implementation of this latter change is still in progress, as Metropolitan Police have
only begun to train their officers in 2021 due to the COVID-19 pandemic.
3.8 In order to ensure that we fulfil our responsibilities and duties to women and girls who are
experiencing violence and abuse, or who are at risk of this, the partnership has set itself five key
priorities which are:
1) Create and deliver a coordinated community response
2) Prevent violence and abuse from happening
3) Protect survivors and families and provide support to help them to repair and recover
from the violence and abuse they have experienced
4) Challenge inequality throughout the delivery of our VAWG services and approach to
prevent discrimination and address the impacts of intersectionality
5) Make perpetrators visible and accountable
The delivery of the VAWG strategy will be overseen by the VAWG Strategy Board, the Safer
Islington Partnership and other key Islington governance boards. The collective aim is to
eliminate all forms of Violence against Women and Girls, support survivors and to rehabilitate
and make perpetrators accountable for their actions. A number of performance measures have
been designed so that we can robustly monitor our progress over the five years of the strategy.
There were no performance indicators in the previous strategy, but it is important that the new
strategy has metrics to determine our success.
4.

Implications

4.1

Financial implications:
There are no direct financial implications for the council as a result of this strategy. The main
financial implication to note is that as the strategy seeks to keep as many women and girls safe
as possible, there may be reduced pressure on the council’s budget in the longer -term. For
instance, a large number of children subject to Child in Need and Child Protection Plans are being
supported because of domestic abuse concerns within the family home. The more children who
become Looked After because of such concerns, the more pressure on the council’s budget.
Similarly, large numbers of children who are open to the Youth Offending Services have
witnessed and been exposed to domestic abuse. This can place pressure on the remand budget
if young people perpetrate serious offences due to this exposure and are detained. Subsequently,

Page 14

Page 4 of 6

the provision of support to women and girls at an earlier stage will be financially advantageous
to the Council.

4.2

Legal Implications:
Islington has duties and responsibilities under the Domestic Abuse Bill (2021) as outlined in
section 3.7. There are also other key pieces of legislation such as the Children Act (1989), which
will be relevant to some cases of VAWG when children are involved and also at risk.
1. The report is consistent with the Council’s General Power of Competence under the
Localism Act 2011 and the Council’s general duties.
2. Part of this strategy is aimed to assist looked after children in respect of whom the local
authority owes a range of duties under the Children Act 1989, the Children and Families
Act 2014 , successor legislation, regulations and relevant guidance.
3. The provisions of this report are consistent with the local authority’s statutory duties and
applicable guidance.

4.3

Environmental Implications and contribution to achieving a net zero carbon Islington
by 2030:
The strategy will provide support with the Council’s ambition to work together towards finding
local solutions to tackle the climate emergency as well as how we will deliver our ambition to
achieving net zero carbon by 2030.

4.4

Resident Impact Assessment:
The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and foster
good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do
not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The council has a duty to have due regard to the
need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in particular steps to take
account of disabled persons' disabilities, and encourage people to participate in public life. The
council must have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice and promote understanding.
The new VAWG strategy plan sets out the council’s approach to supporting women and girls, in
part, by putting Challenging Inequality at the forefront of our work.
Equality impact issues have been covered throughout the consultation period and during the
production of this strategy. This strategy seeks to protect and safeguard women from all
backgrounds. However, the strategy outlines that women from certain backgrounds are more
likely to be adversely impacted if they experience VAWG. Islington’s Fairer Together, For a Fairer
Future strategy launched in 2021 and sets out the partnership’s commitment to create a more

Page 15

Page 5 of 6

equal Islington, where all residents have an equal chance to thrive. We are determined to
challenge inequality throughout the delivery of our VAWG services, to prevent discrimination and
to address the impacts of intersectionality. The partnership is committed to ensuring that key
agencies working with survivors should be fully trained in Black and Minoritised women’s
intersectional experiences/needs and actively encouraged to adopt a more inclusive approach.
This is particularly important for the statutory agencies who have the most impact and influence
on those survivors and their children’s lives.
5.

Reason for recommendations

5.1

It is recommended that this strategy is agreed in order to:


Ensure that the Council and the partnership are clear of the course of action in relation to
reducing and eliminating Violence Against Women and Girls for the next five years and
beyond



Set out a framework for quantitative and qualitative monitoring of outcomes in relation to
Violence Against Women and Girls

Appendices: Violence Against Women and Girls strategy 2021 – 26
(note: a final version is currently being prepared by the Council’s graphic design team)
Background papers: None
Final report clearance:
Signed by:
Executive Member for Children, Young People
& Families
Report Author:
Tel:
Email:

Financial Implications Author:
Tel:
Email:

Legal Implications Author:
Tel:
Email:

16.11.21
Date:

Curtis Ashton, Director of Young Islington
020 7527 7052
Curtis.Ashton@islington.gov.uk

Tim Partington, Head of Finance
020 7527 1851
Tim.Partington@islington.gov.uk

Peter Coutts, Principal Lawyer and Curtis Ashton
020 7527 3351
Peter.Cotts@islington.gov.uk

Page 16

Page 6 of 6

15th Nov 2021

Violence Against Women and
Girls (VAWG) Strategy
2021 - 2026

Page 17
OFFICIAL

Contents
1.

Opening Statements/words...................................................................................... 3

2.

Introduction ......................................................................................................... 5
2.1. Definition ..................................................................................................... 6

3.

Our Principles and Approach .................................................................................... 8

4.

Our journey so far and our learning ........................................................................... 9
4.1. VAWG – in Islington the local picture .................................................................. 9
These are the crimes and the survivors that we know about in the borough ...................... 10
4.2. Our services and our approach ....................................................................... 13
4.3. Islington’s DA Daily Safeguarding Meeting (DSM) January – June 2021 .................... 15
4.4. Learning from Domestic Homicide Reviews ........................................................ 17
4.5. Learning from Research: supporting children and young people experiencing domestic
abuse........................................................................................................ 18
4.6. Learning from Survivors ................................................................................ 19

5.

6.

Strategic Context................................................................................................. 20
5.1

Challenging inequality and vulnerability............................................................. 20

5.2

Young people experiencing domestic abuse ....................................................... 23

5.3

Covid 19 pandemic....................................................................................... 24

5.4

Working with perpetrators ............................................................................. 25

5.5

Changing Perpetrator behaviour and Perpetrator programmes – what are the gaps? ... 26

5.6

Robust Management of Perpetrators ................................................................ 27

5.7

Safety of women and girls in schools, workplaces, public transport and the Community 29

Legislation and Strategy........................................................................................ 31
6.1. The partnership response to legislative changes.................................................. 31

7.

Our priorities, objectives, actions and governance arrangements .................................... 32
7.1. Performance measures.................................................................................. 34

8.

References and Acknowledgements ......................................................................... 36

9.

Appendices ........................................................................................................ 38
9.1. VAWG literature review ................................................................................. 38

OFFICIAL

Page 18

1.

Opening Statements/words
Cllr Sue Lukes
Executive Member for Community
Safety and Co-chair of the Islington
Violence Against Women and Girls
Board

Cllr Michelline Ngongo
Executive Member for Children,
Young People and Families

We are very pleased that Islington is launching such a comprehensive and partnership focussed strategy in relation to reducing Violence Against Women and Girls. This is such an
important area and one that has a terrible impact on so many people. The distress of the
1 in 3 women who will experience Domestic Abuse in their lifetime and their families is
enough evidence of this, but then we also need to consider the survivors of sexual offences
and other forms of violence and the trauma that they have endured. In summary, the
trauma and suffering caused by the use of Violence Against Women and Girls is
immeasurable and this must change. This strategy sets out the commitment of the
partnership to effect this change and make it long-lasting. We have achieved so much in
recent times - supporting larger numbers of women and girls who need support and
protection; the establishment of one of London’s first successful Daily Safeguarding
meetings and a range of excellent commissioned services for women and girls. We kno w
that there is more to do to make our community safer for all women and girls and we are
determined to do this in collaboration with our partners which includes our survivors.

Page
3 19
OFFICIAL

Andy Carter
Borough Commander of
Islington/Camden Borough Command
Unit, Metropolitan Police

We fully appreciate that events over the last year have heightened concerns about violence
amongst women in London. The timing of this strategy is crucial and comes just before the
launch of the Metropolitan Police’s own Violence Against Women and Girls strategy. We
completely share that concern and are absolutely committed to doing everything we can to
keep women and girls safe during the next five years and beyond. While we fully recognise
concerns about women’s safety, it’s important to stress that London remains one of the
safest cities in the world. The Met is not complacent. Every day teams across London are
working tirelessly to arrest offenders, make our streets safer and to tackle domestic abuse.
We have a dedicated public protection strand led by a Superintendent whose work
predominately focuses on keeping children safe and tackling violence against women and
girls. Our current plans involve stepping up reassurance patrols of open space across
London, increasing police presence where it is needed in key locations identified through
intelligence. We are also working with partners across the criminal justice system and are
determined to bring offenders to justice. We will continue to prioritise action against sexual
and violent, predatory offenders to prevent them bringing harm to communities.

Tanya Pinnock
Survivor, Homesafe Practitioner and CoChair of the Islington Violence Against
Women and Girls Board

I am very pleased to see that the safety of women and girls is a top priority for Islington,
as the use of violence against us is devastating. Evidence demonstrates there are additional
barriers that impact on Black and Minoritised women. It is extremely important that
services are able to respond to the complex, intersecting needs of women and girls who
need support.

4
OFFICIAL

Page 20

As a survivor and co-chair of Islington’s Violence against Women and Girls Strategic board,
I fully support the strategy which has been developed with survivors to ensure that
victims/survivors are at the heart of tackling VAWG. The development of the strategy has
been an opportunity to evaluate the good progress we have made. However, it is important
to acknowledge that despite the progress, significant challenges remain. Our strategy is
designed to ensure that collective action is taken to address all forms of Violence against
Women and Girls and to make it clear that its elimination is everyone’s responsibility.

2. Introduction
Every woman and girl has the right to pursue a fulfilling and successful life without fear of
intimidation, harassment, bullying and/or violence. For many women, however, this right is
not respected. At the time this strategy was being drafted, the public profile of violence
against women and girls (VAWG) has been raised by a number of terrible and high profile
murders, including of Sarah Everard, sisters Bibaa Henry and Nicole Smallman, who were
killed in a park in north west London, Julia James, a police community support officer, killed
out while walking her dog in Kent, and Sabina Nessa, a primary school teacher who was
attacked and killed in South East London. In October the sentencing of the man who was a
serving police officer at the time he abducted, raped and murdered Ms Everard has led to
wide spread anger and represents a landmark and unprecedented moment in British history
about matters related to VAWG. The announcement, by the government, about an
independent enquiry into this case is welcomed and follows the substantially raised profile
of matters related to VAWG. Sadly, for every high profile case such as the cases of the
women aforementioned, there are many less publicised but no less tragic cases such as that
of Helen Anderson, an Islington resident whose remains were found near a slip road on 23 rd
August 2021. This case did not receive much media coverage. In the 12 months to March
2020, an estimated 1.6 million women experienced domestic abuse in the UK; an average
of one woman was killed by a man in England and Wales every 3 days, most often by
someone they knew; and police recorded 153,136 rapes and other sexual offences, of which
84% involved female victims. In light of these statistics, recent descriptions of violence
against women as an epidemic are surely justified. It is clear that much more needs to be
done, across both society and public institutions, to keep more women and girls safe from
harm.
In Islington, we are determined to make the borough a safer place to live, work, travel,
have fun and visit for women and girls. In 2020/21, Islington supported over 1500
victim/survivors and achieved the highest sanction and detection rates (i.e. the number of
crimes resolved through a formal sanction) for domestic abuse in London. We also increased
investment in specialist VAWG Services in 2020-21, funding new Independent Domestic
Page
5 21
OFFICIAL

Violence Advocates (IDVA) roles and establishing one of the first multi-agency Daily
Safeguarding Meeting (DSM) in London, to provide a much faster, whole-system response
to high risk cases of domestic abuse. Whilst figures show that Islington has taken important
steps towards improving its response to VAWG, we are aware that more needs to be done.
For instance, rape offences in the borough have a sanction and detection rate of 5.5%,
which whilst higher than the Metropolitan Police average, needs to be far higher. Our
overarching commitment is to keep as many of our women and girls and their families as
safe as possible, to make perpetrators accountable for their actions and to have a first class
system in place to achieve this. This strategy demonstrates our collective commitment to
address the attitudes and issues that underpin the abuse of women and ensure that all of
our partners are equipped to address this. The Islington partnership has subsequently set
itself a vision statement:
“Islington has a zero tolerance approach to the mistreatment, abuse and
violation of women and girls. Any form of Violence against Women and Girls is
unacceptable and abhorrent. Our aim is to eliminate all forms of such violence,
support survivors and to rehabilitate and make perpetrators accountable for
their actions. Regardless of our own gender, we all stand in solidarity with our
sisters to eradicate this epidemic”
Over the next five years and beyond we will work towards this vision, as a partnership, by
ensuring that Islington continues to be one of the leading and most forward thinking areas
in the country when it comes to tackling all forms of Violence and abuse against Women
and Girls.

2.1. Definition
Violence against Women and Girls is defined as:
“Any act of gender‐ based violence that results in, or is likely to result in physical, sexual,
psychological harm or suffering to women including threats of such acts, coercion or
arbitrary deprivation of liberty, whether occurring in public of private life. (United Nations
(UN) Declaration (1993) definition). Violence against Women and Girls (VAWG) is the
umbrella term which brings together multiple forms of serious violence under one policy
strand:


Coercive and controlling behaviour



Crimes committed in the name of ‘honour’



Domestic abuse



Female genital mutilation (FGM)



Forced marriage



Harassment



Sexual violence
6
OFFICIAL

Page 22



Stalking



Trafficking for sexual exploitation



Virginity testing (of girls and young women)

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 created a new statutory definition of domestic
abuse which defined children as victims in their own right for the first time
(1)

This section defines “domestic abuse” for the purposes of this Act.

(2)

Behaviour of a person (“A”) towards another person (“B”) is “domestic abuse” if—
(a) A and B are each aged 16 or over and are personally connected to each other,
and
(b) the behaviour is abusive.

(3)

Behaviour is “abusive” if it consists of any of the following—
(a) physical or sexual abuse;
(b) violent or threatening behaviour;
(c) controlling or coercive behaviour;
(d) economic abuse;
(e) psychological, emotional or other abuse;
and it does not matter whether the behaviour consists of a single incident or a course of
conduct.

(4)

“Economic abuse” means any behaviour that has a substantial adverse effect on B’s
ability to—
(a) acquire, use or maintain money or other property, or
(b) obtain goods or services.

(5)

For the purposes of this Act A’s behaviour may be behaviour “towards” B despite the
fact that it consists of conduct directed at another person (for example, B’s child).

This strategy encompasses and responds to all forms of violence against women and girls
and it is important to note that the different forms of violence are not discrete strands and
that victims often experience more than one form of violence at any given time, or during
the experience of abuse. Some victims are affected by multiple forms of male violence
within intimate and / or family relationships including child to parent violence, whilst for
others their experience of violence is perpetrated by the wider community. Some women

Page
7 23
OFFICIAL

will experience all and they are all unacceptable. We are determined to support as many of
these survivors as possible.

3.

Our Principles and Approach
Islington has set out on an ambitious journey to improve the experiences of those affected
by VAWG. We began by listening to the voices of survivors and others affected and finding
out what they care about. Their priorities are Islington’s priorities. We worked closely with
partner agencies to develop these into four key Violence against Women and Girls aims:


Engaging with people who use violence and abuse in their relationships;
To address the significant gap in services engaging with men who use violence, so
that they are held to account for their abusive behaviour and/or are supported to
change



Safety planning, recovery and repair for children;
Services are able to recognise and keep in mind the impact of violence against women
and girls on children and they are supported to recover from experiences and repair
the relationships that are important to them



Supporting victims and moving away from the ‘failure to protect’ narrative;
Services will ensure that victims/survivors are supported and believed and recognise
the impact of coercive control on victims. We will change the narrative from ‘why
didn’t she leave?’ to ‘why didn’t he stop?’



Developing a coordinated community response to Violence Against Women and Girls
Agencies will share responsibility, align best practice and work together to prevent
VAWG and keep survivors and their families safe

Our ambition is for those who are affected by all forms of Violence Against Women and Girls
to receive support that is trauma informed and connected to their experience and that helps
them to feel heard and protected. We will ensure that survivors and children are at the
centre of all of our work and are provided with the support they need to feel safe. To
improve the safety of survivors and children, people who use violence and abuse in any of
their relationships must also be held to account. We believe safe engagement is key to this.
This means that, where appropriate, those using violence and abuse should be supported
by skilled professionals to change their harmful behaviour. To help to do this, we have
established the VAWG Workforce Development team to provide training to develop the skills
of practitioners in Islington. Our aim is for all practitioners to feel connected to their
professional network and to be supported in responding to VAWG in a consistent and
accountable way.

8
OFFICIAL

Page 24

This work involves change for most of us and we recognise that this requires us to reflect
on and improve the way we think and talk about VAWG. We know that victim blaming is a
systemic issue that has a significant impact on survivors and gives power to people using
violence and abuse against them. To achieve this the VAWG Workforce Development team
has been working with the professional network to raise awareness in order to reduce victimblaming, by encouraging and enabling supportive challenge and ensuring accountability.
As part of our commitment to putting survivors and children at the heart of our work, we
recruited Davina James-Hanman to assist us in developing this VAWG Strategy. Davina has
worked extensively on domestic and sexual violence for over three decades in a wide variety
of roles, including as LB Islington’s first Domestic Violence Co-ordinator in 1992. She has
also worked in the voluntary sector, at the GLA and the Home Office. She has written
national policies, delivered training to thousands of professionals, and created best practice
manuals and best practice projects. Throughout all her work, Davina’s aim is to amplify
survivor’s voices, in particular, the most disadvantaged and marginalised. Davina acted as
a critical friend throughout the drafting of this strategy, helping us to reflect on how we can
achieve best practice in all of our work.
We also enlisted the support of Dr Katerina Hadjimatheou. Dr Hadjimatheou is a
criminologist and expert in Violence Against Women and Girls. She leads the Gender,
Violence and Abuse Research Group at the University of Essex.
During the production of this strategy, we sadly lost our wonderful and incomparable
Corporate Director of People (Children and Adults Services) Carmel Littleton following an
illness. Carmel was one of the main champions of tackling VAWG and provided much support
and input to eliminating it and supporting survivors. She was so passionate about the area
(as she was about all areas of her portfolio). We would like to dedicate this strategy to her
memory and to women and girls that we have lost through VAWG.

4.

Our journey so far and our learning

4.1. VAWG – in Islington the local picture
This section provides information in relation to key VAWG themes in Islington during the
period March 2017 to March 2021. It demonstrates the scale of the issue in terms of the

Page
9 25
OFFICIAL

number of Domestic Abuse (DA) and sexual offences and the high demand for (our)
specialised VAWG services. We know that this provides only a partial picture as VAWG is a
largely hidden crime, where many survivors do not report the violence and abuse they
experience. Also, while we do not have full datasets on the numbers of girls and women
that have been sexually harassed in Islington, it is a common experience for many women
and girls of various ages. A report by UN Women UK1 this year found that 97% of women
aged 18-24 have been sexually harassed.

These are the crimes and the survivors that we know about in the borough
April 2017 – March 2021 local picture

1

UN Women UK, Open Access Government (March 2021)

10
OFFICIAL

Page 26

Page
11 27
OFFICIAL

12
OFFICIAL

Page 28

4.2. Our services and our approach
Tackling VAWG has long been a priority, not only for Islington Council and its partnership,
but also for London as a whole. In March 2017, the Mayor of London published a Policing
and Crime Plan which led to the development of a comprehensive, London-wide VAWG
strategy, launched a year later. Islington’s approach to tackling VAWG has taken a lead from
the Mayor’s Office, and the partnership published its current VAWG strategy for the borough
in 2017. Since then, significant efforts have been made across the partnership to make
Islington a safer place for women and girls. Specific initiatives include the development of a
number of new services and initiatives, such as the Keel Multi Agency Team working with
families affected by domestic abuse, the Domestic Abuse Health Pathfinder project, and the
FGM Prevention toolkit for practitioners.
The progress of Islington’s VAWG strategy 2017-21 has been reviewed regularly by the
VAWG Board2. A formal partnership review of the strategy was undertaken in September
2019, by VAWG service providers, local stakeholders and survivors. Alongside recognition of
the progress made, a number of gaps and areas for further improvement were identified.
Islington agreed to address these by:


Increasing the accountability and visibility of perpetrators in the multi-agency service
response to individuals and families experiencing domestic abuse



Enhancing IDVA and service provision in services working with women experiencing
multiple disadvantage, and with families affected by child-to-parent abuse



Expanding services and support for under-represented groups in Islington including
Black Caribbean women and other minoritised groups, LGBTQ communities, older
people and people with disabilities



Expanding services to children and young people experiencing domestic abuse in
their families and in their own relationships



Increasing awareness of and commitment to the VAWG Practice priorities across
statutory and voluntary and community services and the local community. These
principles are: supporting and empowering victims; engaging with men using
violence; safety planning and repair for survivors/children; and creating a community
response to VAWG

In order to build upon the progress made in recent years and to enhance service delivery
further still, the VAWG board has developed an ambitious Service Transformation
Programme. This commenced in April 2020 and is supported by £600k additional per annum
council funding, as well as funding from central government, the Mayor for London, Clinical
Commissioning Group and Public Health. This substantial new investment and service
expansion has supported local VAWG services to respond to the unprecedented increase in
demand and complexity of need prompted by the Covid 19 pandemic.

2

Islington VAWG Board is jointly chaired by the Executive Member for Community Safety and lived experience rep,
and is attended by senior leads from statutory and specialist VAWG services

Page
13 29
OFFICIAL

Since April 2020 Islington council has worked with its partners to:


Increase the VAWG service provision to support survivors and their families. At the
time of writing, Islington now had 13 IDVAs and 5 specialist VAWG posts. This has
led to a 56% increase in number of survivors supported in 2020/2021 compared to
2019/2020.
Year

Service users supported

2017/2018

859

2018/2019

986 (15% increase)

2019/2020

1,002 (2% increase)

2020/2021

1,562 (56% increase)



Increase investment in ‘By and For’ services working with Black, Asian and minoritised
ethnic communities in Islington. As a result, the Samira project exceeded its annual
support target by 68%.



Develop Islington’s new in-house Intimate Partner Violence Service, ‘Journey to
Change’ which supports abusers to change their behaviours and keep survivors safe.
Two full time members of staff have been recruited with Journey to Change and have
been piloting initial referrals and support since spring 2021.



Fund the IRIS project with the Clinical Commissioning Group, working with GP
surgeries across Islington to increase access to domestic abuse services and support:
-

32 out of 34 GP surgeries had been fully IRIS trained as of October 2021 and GPs
are now referring and presenting cases at the DSM.



Improve services to women experiencing multiple disadvantages including risk of
homelessness: The council has extended funding for the DA Housing First project
and the Wiser service and funded a new Women’s Outreach Worker in the Street
Population team



Establish Family Support workers in Islington refuges:
-



24 families were supported by the refuge family work team during 2020-2021

Provide a specialist counselling service for survivors of VAWG:

14
OFFICIAL

Page 30

-

226 clients have been supported by the domestic abuse counselling service since
2018/2019

 Continue to develop the partnership’s work to prevent FGM and other harmful
practices through training and awareness raising events



Develop the Daily Safeguarding Meeting, which replaced the monthly MARAC in
January 2021, in order to improve the multi-agency response to survivors and risk
management of perpetrators

4.3. Islington’s DA Daily Safeguarding Meeting (DSM) January – June 2021



Provide a specialist counselling service for survivors of VAWG:

Page
15 31
OFFICIAL



Sunflower project providing therapeutic group work sessions for children affected by
domestic abuse and for adult survivors:
-



10 women have engaged with the Sunflower project since it commenced in late
2020

Young People Using Violence and Abuse project working with families affected by
child to parent violence, and Perpetrator service supporting professionals working
with families experiencing domestic abuse:
-



226 clients have been supported by the domestic abuse counselling service since
2018/2019

150+ consultations with children’s services staff working with fathers who are
perpetrators of domestic abuse during 2020-2021

Provide replacement and emergency smart phones to victims/survivors:
-

Over 80 mobile phones have been issued to survivors fleeing domestic abuse in
an emergency and/or requested by police to collect evidence



Islington council is committed to improving our response as an employer and will
take action to support any staff member who is affected by domestic violence and
abuse. The council updated its Domestic Abuse policy in 2020 and in 2021 and the
VAWG team provided Domestic Abuse training for all staff working in Human
Resources.



Created the new VAWG Workforce Development Team providing training and case
consultation to develop and embed the borough’s VAWG practice priorities

16
OFFICIAL

Page 32

Our Learning
4.4. Learning from Domestic Homicide Reviews
This year marks the tenth anniversary since Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHR) were
introduced. DHRs review the circumstances and partnership response prior to and in the
aftermath of a domestic abuse-related killing. These reviews help organisations learn lessons
for the future and improve their response to domestic abuse. Nationally, more than 900
DHRs have now been completed which shows the scale of the problem. On average, there
are 22 domestic homicides a year in London. Islington has had to undertake three DHRs
since 2011.
The most frequent issues identified in DHRs include:


Lack of awareness of domestic abuse and its impacts
Some professionals still fail to realise that the ending of a relationship does not
signal an end to abuse. Many professionals still view domestic abuse principally as a
crime of physical violence, and there is a lack of awareness of the inherent high-risk
posed by coercive controlling behaviours that are not physical or sexual. 3.
Sometimes this means that survivors are being asked to do the impossible: manage
violent and manipulative abusers on their own.



Lack of information sharing between agencies
Despite some very good examples of information sharing, persistent gaps remain.
Professionals still do not share information with GPs and schools, and vice versa. It
is critical that those who may only have contact with victim/survivors in a crisis
situation share information routinely with those professionals who have frequent
contact and are therefore better placed to provide support.



Missed opportunities to ask about victim’s relationships
The increasing pressure on staff to 'do more for less' is impacting on the ability of
many professionals to probe more deeply when presented with situations that don't
seem 'quite right'. Sometimes there may be a lack of professional curiosity.
Sometimes professionals may not recognise the less direct and more subtle ways in
which survivors may disclose abuse. Even when clear and direct information is given
about an abusive relationship, enquiries are not always made about who else may
be at risk, the name and current location of the (alleged) perpetrator, the existence of
any criminal justice measures (e.g. injunctions or bail conditions) or the involvement

3

Nicola Sharp-Jeffs and Liz Kelly, Domestic Homicide Review Report for Standing Together (2016)

Page
17 33
OFFICIAL

of other professionals. This may lead to lost opportunities to keep victims/survivors
and families safe and hold perpetrators to account.



Lack of consistent assessments
All too often, a risk assessment focuses on the most recent incident and fails to
identify patterns of abuse. Low levels of physical violence can often lead to an
assessment that the situation is not serious and does not merit a MARAC referral isn’t
made. This is contradicted by what we know about coercive control. Domestic
Homicide Reviews also found that other kinds of assessments, in particular carers’
and mental health assessments were too often not completed.



A lack of focus on perpetrators and risk they pose to others
Perpetrators are all but invisible to most professionals with the exception of Criminal
Justice System agencies. All too often, the response to domestic abuse is to assess
what the victim is doing or not doing and to encourage (and sometimes coerce) the
victim into making further changes.

4.5. Learning from Research: supporting children and young people
experiencing domestic abuse
National research and Islington council’s own data show that childhood exposure to violence
causes trauma and has a negative impact on physical and mental health. In 2018, Islington
council carried out a study on the 25 most prolific and persistent young offenders of concern
in the Youth Offending Service. Our research found that exposure to domestic abuse in early
childhood was a common feature in the backgrounds of the cohort. It is also linked to other
vulnerabilities in children.
Islington recognises the need for reparative interventions, to address the damage caused
by neglect, trauma and loss, as well as by abusers who frequently deliberately undermine
the bond between the child and the non-abusing parent. We are also committed to
supporting children and young people to understand what healthy relationships look like
and to develop skills and strategies to manage and regulate their feelings.
Below we describe some of the services and initiatives Islington has put in place to support
children and families to repair and recover from domestic abuse:


DART : Domestic Abuse Recovering Together programme – Working with nonabusive parents and children together



Children’s IDVA role based in Islington’s Targeted Youth Support Service



The Sunflower project supporting children in schools who have experienced domestic
abuse in their families and offering therapeutic groups to survivors of domestic abuse

18
OFFICIAL

Page 34

The Journey to Chance Service is developing interventions with young people and
families where there is child to parent violence. Awareness of this issue increased
during Covid- 19

4.6. Learning from Survivors
Islington is committed to ensuring that the voices of survivors have a key role in shaping
the services they engage with and this year staff from Islington’s VAWG Team and local
VAWG services engaged with survivors across local services as part of the preparation for
this new VAWG strategy. A total of 17 teams/organisations were contacted with requests to
help gather feedback from people with experience of VAWG services in Islington. In
response to the issues highlighted, we produced a questionnaire and brief on-line survey.
Different organisations used these survey tools in different ways. Some used them to
structure group conversations, whereas others undertook 1-1 interviews.
What we are doing right
We learnt that while survivors value and appreciate local VAWG services we need to do
more to raise the visibility and awareness of the full range of services available to people
experiencing VAWG in the borough.
Survivors felt that:


Islington’s VAWG advocacy services address individual needs well and helped them
to overcome barriers in accessing housing and benefits including supporting survivors
to fill application forms and navigate the services. For example, by offering intensive
advocacy via specialist services including Housing First. “They help you understand
how to pay bills and explain why you have to pay certain things”



The services offered a wide range of services and support which was helpful including
services supporting survivors of so called honour based violence.



They were involved in decision making and felt like they had a choice



They were able to access wide range of services with VAWG support through the one
phone number and email contact for all VAWG services in Islington. This includes 1:1
advocacy and support, legal advice, as well as yoga, Zumba, ESOL, IT training and
counselling. They are able to access emergency essentials/food vouchers and access
Digital Devices schemes (especially during the Covid 19 pandemic) including a free
tablet scheme and digital upskilling. “Without access to a smart phone you can’t do
half the things you need to do, everything’s online, and if you do have access to the
right technology after being on the street for a while you might not feel confident in
how to use it.”



Services were inclusive: survivors were not judged or turned away because of
immigration status or because of disability or mental health needs. Support workers
went above and beyond to provide support and survivors trusted them enough to
share information and disclose abuse. “Judgement, fear and trauma – that’s why it’s
not reported”

Page
19 35
OFFICIAL



VAWG services also helped survivors to overcome mistrust towards social services
and police.

Challenges and areas for improvement
We received strong messages in the challenges survivors can face when trying to access
key services and support including housing and counselling and that survivors were
frustrated at the lack of communication between services. It is imperative that we improve
how we work across all statutory and voluntary sector services if we are to achieve a
properly coordinated community response that supports the diverse and intersectional
needs of survivors and families within our borough.
Survivors felt that:


Navigating housing services can still be very difficult and particularly challenging for
people who experience multiple disadvantage



Consent and information sharing processes between statutory services and VAWG
caseworkers can be complicated.



There are delays and waiting lists to access counselling services and a lack of
specialist, culturally appropriate counselling services in community languages



There are limited resources for survivors who require non-English speaking support/
translation service



There is a need for more work in schools to support children and young people.



VAWG services need to be more visible

As part of our determination to tackle VAWG, the partnership has made a pledge to ensure
that this learning is incorporated into our strategy to assist all women and girls who are in
need of support and protection. We will do this by using the learning to develop tailored
communication awareness raising campaigns that speak to all organisations and
communities across Islington. We will also continue to listen to and empower survivors and
their families to help us improve and develop our services and response to VAWG.

5.

Strategic Context
This section of the strategy provides information on key priority areas for the local Islington
partnership with a focus on challenging inequality and vulnerability. It includes the
challenges caused by the Covid 19 pandemic, our approach to perpetrators and a specific
focus on doing more to recognise and support young people who are experiencing intimate
partner violence

5.1

Challenging inequality and vulnerability
Islington’s Fairer Together, For a Fairer Future strategy launched in 2021 and sets out the
partnership’s commitment to create a more equal Islington, where all residents have an
equal chance to thrive. We are determined to challenge inequality throughout the delivery
20
OFFICIAL

Page 36

of our VAWG services, to prevent discrimination and to address the impacts of
intersectionality.
This strategy acknowledges that some groups of victims have additional barriers to seeking
help. This includes Black and Minoritised women, women with disabilities, older women and
LGBTQ+ communities. While this is a gender informed strategy that recognises the
disproportionate impact of VAWG on women and girls we recognise that boys and men can
be affected also and we are working to end all forms of violence and we provide VAWG
support services that work with all genders.
Black and Minoritised women and intersectionality

We recognise that Black and Minoritised women’s intersectional needs and experience of
discrimination and oppression have existed for centuries. Addressing these matters has
become even more critical in current times, as we face national economic crises such a
reduced economy, the aftermath of Brexit, the impact of Covid-19 pandemic and the
heightening of systemic racism as highlighted by the Black Lives Matter movement. Black
and Minoritised communities have been hit disproportionately hard by the pandemic, and
women in those communities were hit hardest of all, as the health pandemic converged with
the epidemic of violence against women and girls. Black and Minoritised women have been
re-traumatised and re-victimised as they face structural racism and classism in their quest
for a safer, violence-free life.

Therefore, Islington is committed to ensuring that Black and Minoritised women’s needs are
acknowledged and addressed through an intersectional lens, when providing support around
the VAWG they face. Intersectionality is the acknowledgement that everyone has their own
unique experiences of discrimination and oppression and we must consider everything and
anything that can marginalise people – gender, race, class, sexual orientation, physical
ability, etc4. We are adopting an equitable approach towards Black and Minoritised women’s
needs, to deliver an inclusive journey to safety for all women and children.

The partnership is committed to ensuring that key agencies working with survivors should
be fully trained in Black and Minoritised women’s intersectional experiences/needs and
actively encouraged to adopt a more inclusive approach. This is particularly important for
the statutory agencies who have the most impact and influence on those survivors and their
children’s lives. We also acknowledge that resources for addressing VAWG should be
distributed more equally and recognise the need for specialist expertise in supporting
women from these groups. Just as we adopt a zero tolerance approach to VAWG, so too we
take a zero tolerance approach to racism and discrimination, and we call on all agencies to
do the same.

4

https://www.womankind.org.uk/intersectionality-101-what-is-it -and-why-is-it-important/

Page
21 37
OFFICIAL

Women experiencing multiple disadvantage and trauma
VAWG survivors can face ongoing and challenging effects of abuse and the trauma they
have experienced in their relationships, their childhood and throughout their lives. When
looking at the occurrence of VAWG across the life course, it becomes apparent that some
women experience multiple forms of VAWG, which embeds and entrenches their trauma. In
turn, this can impact on their mental well-being: depression, anxiety, sleep problems and
panic attacks are all common responses. Some may self-medicate with alcohol and legal or
illegal drugs in an effort to feel ‘normal’ again and to escape the painful and intrusive
memories.
There are many other ways in which women and girls’ lives may involve disadvantage or
negative experiences, resulting in yet more trauma. Sometimes this will be a consequence
of discrimination on the basis of protected characteristics. For example, they may have
experienced racism or have been discriminated against because of their disabilities. This is
why it is so important for all public services to be gender- and trauma-informed. Traumainformed responses seek to empower clients, build trust and them respectfully and with
concern for their safety. This means not asking ‘what is wrong with you?’ but instead ‘what
has happened to you?’ and ‘how can we help you?’ Trauma-informed services understand
and respond to the high prevalence of trauma and its effects, as well as understanding that
experiences of trauma can lead women to develop coping strategies and behaviours that
may appear to be harmful or dangerous.
Women involved in prostitution/Sex working
Women at the Well is a Camden based organisation working with women involved in or at
risk of being involved in prostitution/sex work across London. They estimate that 100% of
the women they work with have ‘experienced some form of control by another person or
some form of coercion and/or exploitation. A high percentage of the women have
experienced or continue to experience domestic violence’5. Islington will continue to work
with women involved in prostitution/sex work through our main Domestic Abuse services
and specialist services including Women at the Well, CLASH and other relevant
organisations and agencies.
Disabled women
Safe Lives research in 2016 6 found that disabled women experience higher rates of
domestic abuse than non-disabled people and suffer more severe and frequent abuse over
longer periods of time than non-disabled victims. Disabled people also have additional
barriers to seeking help and are less able to remove themselves from an abusive situation,
and in many cases the abuser may also be the person’s carer who controls access to
sources of help. Islington will work with children’s and adult safeguarding teams and
5

Women at the Well https://watw.org.uk

6

Safe Lives. Disabled People and Domestic Abuse, 2016

22
OFFICIAL

Page 38

other relevant organisations to develop and deliver training to improve identification and
our service response to disabled women.

Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender + people
Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender + (LGBT+) people experience high levels of domestic
abuse, and also face distinct systemic and personal barriers in accessing help and support.
Research by GALOP 7 in 2018 found that
-

Lesbian women report similar rates of domestic abuse to that of heterosexual women.
Bisexual women are twice as likely to disclose intimate partner violence compared to
heterosexual women.
Gay and bisexual men might be twice as likely to experience domestic abuse compared
to heterosexual men.
Prevalence rates of domestic abuse may be higher for transgender people than any
other section of the population

However, in 2020-2021 only 3% of survivors using Islington VAWG services were recorded
as LGBTQ and we are in discussion with GALOP to inform out approach and improve services
and our reach into the LGBT+ community. In terms of supporting and reaching out members
of the LGBTQ+ community we also utilise the organisation Forum+ and will continue to do
so.

5.2 Young people experiencing domestic abuse
Research shows that significant numbers of teenagers and young adults are experiencing
violence in their relationships. For example, an NSPCC study 8 found that 25% of girls and
18% of boys had experienced some form of physical violence from an intimate partner. And
SafeLives Children’s Insights data (2017)9 found that nearly all (95%) of young people
experiencing intimate partner violence were female. We recognise that young people
experiencing abuse have distinctive experiences, challenges and needs and are committed
to increasing our awareness and understanding of these. One of our key priorities is to work
with the partnership and our practitioners to actively change how we support young people
through our services.

J. Magić and P. Kelley. LGBT+ People’s Experiences of Domestic Abuse: a report on Galop’s domestic abuse
advocacy service. Galop, London, 2018
7

8

Barter et al Partner exploitation and violence in teenage intimate relationships, London NSPCC, 2009

9 SafeLives, ‘Insights National Briefing 2017’

Page
23 39
OFFICIAL

Young people experiencing Domestic Abuse have sometimes also gone through harmful and
traumatic experiences in early childhood, which can impact their understanding of healthy
relationships and behaviour. Some do not have anyone around them who can talk to them
or model what a healthy relationship looks like. At the same time, violence and intimidation
may be regular features of the behaviour of their peer group. It is therefore vital that we
develop well-informed and reasonable expectations of the young people we engage with.
For example, we should recognise when talking to young people about their relationships
that the term ‘relationship’ may not describe accurately what they have with another person.
We must also recognise that young people’s experiences cannot be improved by working
with them alone. Rather, those young people using violence and abuse in their relationships
(dating/sexual/peer/familial) must also be supported to recognise, understand and change
their harmful behaviour.
Our efforts with young people experiencing abuse are also informed by our learning from
Serious Case and Learning Reviews in this category. They tell us that too often practitioners
have had a limited understanding of the dynamics of domestic abuse and particularly
coercive control. This leads practitioners to focus on addressing the behaviour of the
victim/survivor of the abuse, rather than the person using abuse. It can also lead them to
criticising or hold victim/survivors responsible for some or all of what has happened to them.
This can inhibit victim/survivors from making disclosures, trusting services, and accessing
help and support.
We believe that education, prevention and early intervention are crucial to changing the
experiences of young people and this needs to start at an early age through teaching.
Education environments can challenge what young people may be learning at home or
online and teach them about healthy relationships, challenging misogynistic attitudes and
behaviours from an early stage. Teenage girls in Islington have shared that they want m ore
learning to address the abuse and harassment girls and young women experience in schools,
public transport and on the streets, but that this should not focus on how girls can stay safe
but should be provided to boys in school to challenge their behaviours. Young people have
also shared that they want professionals working with them to be knowledgeable about
these issues and how they affect them. Islington recognises these concerns this is a key
part of our strategy. Through work across the partnership, we aim to ensure that schools
are supported to ensure girls and other victims are safe from harassment violence and abuse
but also that professionals working with young people have access to adequate training and
support to meet their needs.

5.3

Covid 19 pandemic
The conditions arising from the Covid 19 pandemic and the various lockdowns introduced
from March 2020 exacerbated issues such as confinement, economic insecurity, fear of
illness, increased substance use and mental health issues and this contributed to a widely
anticipated increase in domestic abuse across the world. In the UK, ONS figures show that
offences flagged as domestic abuse by police in the period March – June 2020 increased by
7% compared to the same period in 2019.
24
OFFICIAL

Page 40

Nationally 90% of VAWG Services saw an increase in demand for services since the Covid19 pandemic10. In Islington, reported domestic abuse offences rose by 4.2% in 2020-21
compared to 2019-20. This is significantly less than the 7% increase across the Met Police
Service for the same period. However, local VAWG services and in particular helplines were
extremely busy as lockdown measures eased.

This does not necessarily indicate an increase in the number of people experiencing violence
or abuse. However, there has been an increase in the severity of abuse reported to statutory
and voluntary and community services. People experiencing abuse have also been less able
to use coping strategies such as leaving the home to escape the abuse, and less able to
access support services. The additional council investment in April 2020 meant that councilfunded VAWG services increased their capacity to support victims by 56% in 2020-21.
The Domestic Homicide Project report11 on the impact of the pandemic concluded that while
Covid ‘had not caused domestic abuse’ it had ‘been weaponised by some abusers both as a
new tool of abuse or as an excuse for abuse’. The report warned that police and relevant
agencies in the UK should be prepared for an increase in domestic abuse offences, homicides
and suicides, as some abusers’ control is taken away by the easing of Covid restrictions, and
other abusers regain access to victims. With the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic likely to
last for many years the need for a coordinated community response to VAWG has never
been more critical. Achieving such a response is a key objective in this strategy.

5.4

Working with perpetrators
The evidence pertaining to ‘what works’ and is effective with perpetrators is underdeveloped
in the area of VAWG. This is not because of an absence of research, but due to the extremely
poor conviction and/or treatment rates in relation to perpetrators in England and Wales (and
beyond). For example, national statistics show a 50% drop in the number of convictions in
cases where rape had been alleged between 2016-17 and 2019-20. At the time of drafting
this strategy, the number of convictions in England and Wales was the lowest since tracking
began in 2009. The picture is similar in domestic abuse cases. In June 2021 Her Majesty’s
Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire Rescue services (HMICFRS) released a report showing
that three in four domestic abuse cases are closed by police without a perpetrator being
charged, a deterioration which is extremely concerning.
Islington welcomes the Home Office’s publication of the ‘Tackling Violence against Women
and Girls strategy’, which provides some important ideas about how perpetrators can be
rehabilitated through treatment programmes and dealt with through the criminal justice
10

SafeLives, Annual Practitioner Survey (2020).

National Police Chiefs’ Council and the College of Policing, Domestic Homicide Project, Report on the impact of the
pandemic (2021)
11

Page
25 41
OFFICIAL

system. The latter is particularly significant for those perpetrators who do not want to
receive treatment and/or are more persistent and violent offenders. The Home Office
strategy lists a number of key points of focus for work in this area including changing
perpetrator behaviour, the criminal justice system response, robust management of
offenders and perpetrator programmes. In the next section we will look at the gaps that
exist in addressing violence of perpetrators that exist across the UK.

5.5

Changing Perpetrator behaviour and Perpetrator programmes – what are
the gaps?
Key gaps include:


The invisibility of perpetrators
-



When it comes to reports of men abusing and controlling women, the passive
voice prevails. For example ‘Women are groped, Women are sexually harassed,
Women are abused, raped and exploited’. In every single one of these
statements, the perpetrator has disappeared. This absence makes it difficult to
address perpetrators and hold them accountable. At the same time, by
emphasising the role of the victim/survivor in their own abuse, this framing can
encourage professionals to judge, blame, and shift responsibility for abuse onto
their shoulders. Instead of asking what a victim/survivor was (not) doing /
wearing / saying to invite the abuse, and instead of questioning why she does
not leave, we must be asking why he does not stop.

One size does not fit all so a range of interventions is needed
There are five ‘levels’ of intervention needed with VAWG perpetrators and gaps exist
for all:
-

Identification and case Management: In addition to the perpetrator
interventions described below, there is a need for more support to help
professionals identify and engage with perpetrators to encourage them to access
specialist intervention.

-

Prevention and Awareness Raising: This kind of intervention is likely to be
short in duration and aimed at lower risk perpetrators who do not have an
established history of violence or abuse.

-

Structured Intervention for Behaviour Change 1: These will be aimed at
perpetrators identified as posing a standard or moderate risk and who have
limited personal/social needs. Interventions may be generalist in their approach
or designed to work with specific offending types such as stalkers or rapists. Each
will need to have appropriate assessment mechanisms. Any behaviour change
intervention should use a recognised model of work.

-

Structured Intervention for Behaviour Change 2: The Home Office is
currently investing in innovative responses to perpetrators. This may include the
development of interventions with perpetrators who have more extensive
26
OFFICIAL

Page 42

personal / social needs (e.g. substance abusing perpetrators) or the development
of programmes for female abusers.
-



Intensive Risk Management: Flexible in approach and almost exclusively one
to one, these interventions will engage typically with high harm perpetrators
many of whom will have multiple complex needs. Whilst the main focus of the
intervention may initially be risk assessment and management, for some there
may also be scope for structured behaviour change work.

A non-negotiable commitment to safety
Any interventions with perpetrators must begin from a principle of ‘first do no harm’.
At its most basic, this means that any perpetrator intervention must have a dedicated
and funded victim/survivor support element that meets their individual needs. This
must be delivered by a specialist DA organisation and may be integrated within the
specialist perpetrator service or provided in partnership with an external provider. It
must work effectively alongside the appropriate range of women's support services.
More broadly, it means development should take place within a framework of quality
standards such as those developed by Respect.12



Interventions for all VAWG perpetrators
Current interventions are disproportionately focused on perpetrators of intimate
partner abuse, whereas many cases can involve adult child to parent and or siblings.
We also need interventions that will work for rapists, sexual harassers and those who
perpetrate so-called honour-based abuse or forced marriages.

5.6 Robust Management of Perpetrators
Holding perpetrators of VAWG accountable through the criminal justice system and inhibiting
their ability to keep harming others is a vital aspect of prevention. Managing the risk posed
by perpetrators is a key priority for the Probation Service and the partnership. The Probation
Service provides advice to the Courts on the sentencing of domestic abuse cases and
supervises perpetrators who are subject to community sentences or released from prison
on licence. Perpetrators are placed on accredited programmes such as Building Better
Relationships or they complete one-to-one interventions to address domestic abuse with
their supervising officer. Referrals to appropriate multiagency risk management panels
including MARAC and MAPPA and liaison with partnership agencies aims to safeguard
victims/survivors and their families, and put in place robust risk management plans.
Perpetrators released on licence may be subject to conditions including residence in
approved premises, curfews, exclusion zones, non-contact conditions, a requirement to
disclose developing relationships and GPS tagging. Failure to comply with those conditions
can ultimately lead to recall back to prison. For example, where evidence is available,
perhaps through a victim’s statement, that an offender has breached a non-molestation

12

See here for further details: https://www.respect.uk.net/pages/20-accreditation

Page
27 43
OFFICIAL

order, this can be used by Probation services to send the offender back to custody to serve
the remainder of his sentence
Probation practitioners continue to liaise with Islington’s DSM meeting, IDVAs, women’s
safety officers, victim liaison officers and children’s services to ensure the views of victims
are heard and incorporated into risk management planning.

The Criminal Justice System Response
In Islington we have strengthened the partnership working with criminal justice colleagues
in recent years, as well as offering training to practitioners working with families
experiencing domestic abuse to increase engagement with perpetrators. While it is positive
that Islington police achieved the highest domestic abuse Sanction and Detection rate in the
Metropolitan Police in 2020/2021 (at 18%), all partners including the police agree that this
rate is still too low. In the 6 months following the introduction of the Daily Safeguarding
Meeting in January 2021, we saw a 305% increase in requests for civil and legal protection
orders, compared to the same period in the previous year. Islington council has also
introduced the new Journey to Change Service working with people using abuse in their
relationships to support behaviour change as part of the VAWG service transformation
programme.
Despite this progress we remain realistic about the challenges that exist nationwide in
relation to the criminal justice system response to domestic abuse offences and rape and
sexual assaults. In June 2021, Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue
Services13 inspection into the policing of domestic abuse during the pandemic found that
the charging rate for DA offences in the UK dropped from 23.2% in 2016 to 9% in 2020
despite a 15% increase in arrests between April – June 2020. The report acknowledged
that the ‘exceptionally low volume of domestic abuse cases resulting in a charge remains
unacceptable’. It is estimated that approximately 85,000 women and 12,000 men (aged
16-59) experience rape or sexual assault by penetration each year in the UK14. The national
‘End to End rape review’15 published in June led to a government admission that they were
‘deeply ashamed’ that only 1.7% of reported adult rape offences resulted in a prosecution
in 2019/20, tens of thousands of victims are being let down.
At the same time it is important to recognise that Domestic Abuse is largely a hidden crime
and while perpetrator services and responses tend to be focused on the criminal justice
system or attached to children’s services statutory responsibilities. We know that many
perpetrators do not come to the attention of criminal justice agencies or via other statutory

13

HMICFRS, Review of policing Domestic Abuse during the pandemic (June 2021)

14

WWW.Rapecrisis.org.uk

15

Ministry of Justice, End-to-End Rape Review Report, June 2021

28
OFFICIAL

Page 44

interventions, and that leaves a worrying gap particularly in Domestic Abuse situations
without children in the home, of which there are many. That is why making perpetrators
visible and accountable is a key priority in this strategy and we will continue to work with
our partners to improve criminal justice outcomes for survivors and to deploy the full range
of civil and legal measures available to keep survivors/victims and families safe. At the same
time, we will support local practitioners and services to do more to engage with all people
who use violence and abuse in their relationships to increase the safety of, and reduce the
risks to their partners and children.
At the time this strategy was about to be published, the Metropolitan Police launched a
consultation into its own VAWG strategy which it is due to launch imminently. Tackling
violence remains the Met’s top priority, including crimes that disproportionately affect women and
girls. The Met has made it clear that combatting violence perpetrated by men against women is of
paramount importance to it, including bringing more perpetrators to justice and improving and
rebuilding confidence in the Met.

5.7

Safety of women and girls in schools, workplaces, public transport and
the Community
Women and girls have a right to be safe in public, at home, at work or in education and we
are committed to doing everything we can to ensure this by building on existing initiatives
and creating new resources and interventions through this strategy.
Ultimately, we all have a shared responsibility to challenge behaviours and attitudes that
enable VAWG and to create positive change for the benefit of us all. We recognise that
often women do not feel safe in areas of our borough and that there are particular
concerns about women’s safety at night in or outside of venues. We also recognise that
we need to increase the safety of women in the borough through measures that do not
place responsibility on them alone. The council and our partners have a key role in this
and have already been doing a lot in this space. Examples include the council and
partnership’s in promoting gender equality through the Challenging Discrimination
Strategy, and communications campaigns e.g. ‘Not in my Community’ to make it clear that
we will not tolerate violence and abuse of women or girls. Police in Islington have been
working with licensed premises since the easing of the last lockdown to increase
awareness of what they can do to keep women safe including the ‘Ask Angela’ campaign.
As part of our approach Islington’s Community Safety Team developed the Our Safer
Spaces postcard campaign, encouraging residents to tell us where and why they feel
unsafe locally that has attracted over 2000 responses.
Safe Haven scheme
The Islington Safe Haven scheme has been running since 2017, providing a practical way
of helping everyone in Islington enjoy their community knowing that support is easily
available if someone is in danger, feels threatened or harassed on the street, and are in
need of some help.
Safe havens can help by:


Letting someone come inside the premises to keep safe



Calling the police or family or friends

Page
29 45
OFFICIAL



By giving directions or public transport information and signposting to VAWG services
etc.

100+ premises are signed up to the Safe Havens scheme in Islington, a mixture of Council
and statutory service buildings, including libraries and leisure centres, youth and
community buildings, cafés and restaurants and other retail and service providers from
corner shops to nail bars, taxi ranks and solicitors offices. Over 50% of these sites are
open in the evening (between 5pm – 10am) some are 24 hours. The council is continuing
to promote the scheme through the regular business networks and will be asking the Safer
Neighbourhood Panel to work with us to check current premises and recruit new venues.

Women’s Safety Walks
This summer Islington4Women organised 6 neighbourhood walks where women have been
able to come together to walk and talk and help improve safety after conversations that
followed several highly publicised killings of women around the time this strategy was being
written. The walks took place with police and crime safety officers to things out about how
women feel about their local area providing an important opportunity to engage with women
across Islington in identifying the issues and concerns as well as the solutions, and build
relationships between the community and the police. The council is continuing to work with
Islington4Women and other women’s organisations and police in the borough to build on
this work and discuss the findings from the Our Safer Spaces campaign and work together
to develop practical initiatives that can make a difference
Issues of sexual harassment and violence in educational settings have been highli ghted by
thousands of young people in recent years on the Everyone’s Invited Website. Islington’s
Children’s Safeguarding Partnership is leading the response to VAWG in education and is
developing comprehensive guidance and training for schools and support and interventions
for young people. As part of our consultation for this strategy girls and young women told
us that they reject the idea that it is solely their responsibility to keep themselves safe and
that much more work must be done to educate boys and young men on what a healthy
relationship looks like, especially in school settings. It is important to deliver this within a
contextual cafeguarding approach that recognises that the different relationships that young
people form in their neighbourhoods, schools and online can feature violence and abuse.
Contextual safeguarding also entails understanding the ways in which young people’s
experience of domestic abuse may differ to that of adults, due to the increased use of social
media within abusive behavours and to pressure from peer and friendship groups.

30
OFFICIAL

Page 46

6.

Legislation and Strategy

6.1. The partnership response to legislative changes
The Domestic Abuse Act received royal assent in March 2021. At the time of writing, the
Government is still notifying the public of when provisions will be enacted. We expect that
most of the new proposals will be in place in autumn 2022, with the likely excepti on of
DAPOs (see below) which will be initially piloted before being rolled out more widely. The
new legislative changes include amongst others:


A new statutory definition of DA and the recognition of children as victims of DA in
their own right for the first time



Local authority statutory duty to provide support, secure tenancy and housing and
to provide domestic abuse support to survivors and children e.g. counselling



Prohibiting perpetrators of abuse from cross-examining their victims in person in the
civil and family courts in England and Wales

Other recent legislative changes of note include the Stalking Protection Act 2019 which
introduced Stalking Protection Orders, and the 2015 criminalisation of coercive control in
late 2015. The implementation of this latter change is still in progress, as Metropolitan Police
have only begun to train their officers in 2021 due to the Covid 19 pandemic.
Housing response
Islington council is committed to enabling residents to feel safe and well in their homes and
communities.
The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 and subsequent amendments to the Housing Act 19 96
introduced the new category of ‘priority need’ for people who are homeless as a result of
being a victim of domestic abuse. The act also includes new duties on tier 1 local authorities
in England relating to the provision of support for victims and their children residing within
relevant safe accommodation and a duty on tier 2 authorities (i.e. Islington Council) to cooperate with tier 1 authorities.
In line with the wider objectives of the VAWG strategy, the council’s Housing service has
responded to the Domestic Abuse Act and amendments to the Housing Act by:


developing a flexible approach to enable people experiencing domestic abuse to
access homelessness services through multiple avenues as a means to ensure their
safety including offering to be interviewed by an officer of the same sex if requested
alongside the utilisation of translation services;



employing Solace Women’s Aid to advocate on behalf of residents experiencing
domestic abuse, to ensure the Housing Needs and Strategy service provides a service
empathetically and placing the resident at the heart of the service provision;



providing services focussed on the needs of the individual and to ensure services
provided go beyond the basic legal duties;

Page
31 47
OFFICIAL

7.



developing a Rapid Rehousing and Housing First approach for people fleeing domestic
abuse;



ensuring homelessness assessments are focussed on the needs of the resident,
underpinned by sensitivity and empathy, avoiding asking people experiencing
domestic abuse to re-live their experience unnecessarily and where appropriate
seeking information from independent domestic abuse advocates, social services,
health professionals, MARAC etc;



ensuring the provision of Sanctuary schemes to enable people experiencing domestic
abuse can remain safely in their home where it is their choice, and it is safe to do so;



ensuring flexibility for victims of domestic abuse to join the council’s Housing Register
to obtain permanent social housing including offering secure tenancies to victims of
domestic abuse who previously held a secure tenancy in another local authority;



reviewing the council’s Housing Allocation Scheme by 2022 to strengthen the housing
rights of people fleeing domestic abuse, clarify the council’s position on how
perpetrators will be managed;



ensuring perpetrators of domestic abuse do not qualify to join the housing register



providing specialist officers who are trained to support people fleeing domestic abuse
to understand the housing options available to them once they are in safe
accommodation;



implementing an extensive programme to train domestic abuse champions across the
Housing service, from front line officers to senior managers at all levels



working closely with the neighbouring local authorities to develop a North London
Domestic Abuse Reciprocal Agreement in addition to engaging with the Pan-London
Reciprocal Agreement to facilitate out of area moves for victims of domestic abuse;



aiming to achieve Domestic Abuse Housing Alliance (DAHA) accreditation by the April
2022;



replacing references of domestic violence to that of domestic abuse as a result of the
new widened definition specified in the Domestic Abuse Act;



Providing housing accommodation services for people leaving prison to ensure they
do not need to return to live with a perpetrator of Domestic Abuse once released
from prison;



Providing services to women who are forced to work within the sex industry to enable
them to leave the sex industry with accommodation and support.

Our priorities, objectives, actions and governance
arrangements
In order to ensure that we fulfil our responsibilities and duties to women and girls who are
experiencing violence and abuse, or who are at risk of this, the partnership has set itself
five key priorities. These are:
32
OFFICIAL

Page 48

1) Create and deliver a coordinated community response
-

Share the commitment to ending violence across organisations and communities
so that no form of VAWG is tolerated and women and girls feel safe in their homes,
schools, workplaces, public places and on public transport

-

Ensure that all victims/survivors can be confident that they will be believed if they
report VAWG and that their disclosure will trigger immediate actions to support
their safety and the safety of their families whilst also holding the perpetrator
accountable

-

Develop education, training, awareness raising and communications campaigns
to create a common language and understanding of VAWG and the services and
support available to survivors, families and perpetrators

2) Prevent violence and abuse from happening
-

Develop public awareness campaigns to prevent harassment and sexual violence
in private and public spaces, to include targeted age appropriate messages and
messages specifically targeted at perpetrators

-

Educate children and young people about VAWG and healthy relationships with
specific focused interventions with boys and young men in schools as well as in
other settings working with children and young people

-

Develop a VAWG Community Champions scheme to empower local communities
and provide a network of peer-to-peer support and community educators
including information for perpetrators

3) Protect survivors and families and provide support to help them to repair and recover
from the violence and abuse they have experienced
-

Deliver services across the Islington partnership that are both gender and trauma
informed, victim and family centred, and which recognise the impacts of coercive
and controlling behaviours

-

Provide a prompt coordinated multi-agency safeguarding response to survivors
and families at risk of serious harm and/or domestic homicide through Islington’s
DA Daily Safeguarding Meeting

Page
33 49
OFFICIAL

-

Support children, young people and families to help them to process what has
happened and to recover through innovative recovery based services and
counselling/therapeutic support

4) Challenge inequality throughout the delivery of our VAWG services and approach to
prevent discrimination and address the impacts of intersectionality
-

Equip and support our services to be survivor voice led and able to recognise the
impacts of intersectionality so that they are able to work with survivors
experiencing discrimination and multiple disadvantage

-

Work collectively to combat racism and all forms of discrimination recognising that
a one size fits all approach doesn’t work including the ring fencing of funding for
specialist VAWG services working with Black and minoritised communities

-

Provide targeted work and resources to improve engagement and increase
provision for other under-represented groups including LGBQT communities, older
people and people with disabilities

5) Make perpetrators visible and accountable
-

Offer interventions and support to people using violence in their relationships
where they have expressed a desire to change their behaviour and demonstrate
self-awareness and insight in to what they have done

-

Work together with our statutory partners to improve criminal justice outcomes
for survivors of all forms of VAWG including rape and sexual violence where
offences have been reported

-

Perpetrators will be visible and accountable in safety planning and work with
families and services will acknowledge that they pose the primary risk to children
in child safeguarding arrangements

In order to demonstrate our commitment to these priorities, we have developed a multi agency action plan which outlines the actions that key agencies, within the partnership, will
deliver in order to keep women and girls safe.

7.1. Performance measures
The delivery of the VAWG strategy will be overseen by the VAWG Strategy Board, the
Safer Islington Partnership and other key Islington governance boards as outlined and
illustrated in the diagram below. Our aim is to eliminate all forms of Violence against
Women and Girls, support survivors and to rehabilitate and make perpetrators accountable
34
OFFICIAL

Page 50

for their actions. This is a partnership effort and we have set out the performance
measures below to ensure that we can robustly monitor our progress throughout the five
years of the strategy.

We will know if we have been successful if we have:
-

No or reduced homicide cases

-

Increased sanction and detection % rates for domestic abuse incidents reported to
the police

-

Increased the number of Clare’s Law applications

-

Increased the number of Stalking Protection notices

-

Increased reporting of domestic abuse incidents across all services in Islington (not
just to the police)

-

Increased the number of survivors accessing VAWG services and support in
Islington

-

Increased the rape investigation % rate

-

Increased the rape charge % rate

-

Increased the accuracy of police referrals to Daily Safeguarding Meeting (DSM) /
MARAC

-

Decreased the number of repeat referrals to the DSM/MARAC

-

Increased engagement of survivors in the DSM/MARAC process

Page
35 51
OFFICIAL

8.

-

Increased survivor satisfaction in the DSM/MARAC

-

Increased the identification of / and support offered to young survivors of DA

-

Increased the number of FGM investigations and referrals

-

For the profile of survivors to be demographically representative of Islington’s
population

-

Increased support and services accessed by Black and Minoritised ethnic
communities

-

Increased engagement with other underrepresented groups: LGBTQ+ communities,
older people and people with disabilities

-

Increased engagement of perpetrators in services and interventions and achieve a
sustained reduction in harmful behaviours

References and Acknowledgements
Consultation and support:
-

Davina James-Hanman OBE – Independent Advisor

-

Dr Katerina Hadjimatheou – University of Essex

VAWG strategy leads:
-

Cllr Michelline Ngongo - Executive Member for Children, Young People and Families

-

Cllr Sue Lukes - Executive Member for Community Safety (VAWG Board Co-Chair)

-

Curtis Ashton - Director of Young Islington

-

Catherine Briody - Head of VAWG and Youth Safety Commissioning

-

Ralph Coates – Detective Chief Inspector Central North Safeguarding, BCU

-

Karolina Bober - VAWG Strategy and Commissioning Manager

-

Grace Willsher – Solace Women’s Aid

-

Ramesh Logeswaran – Head of Housing Needs and Strategy

-

Helena Stephenson – Head of Housing Partnerships

-

Deborah Idris - Head of Safeguarding and Quality Assurance

-

Elaine Oxley – Head of Safeguarding Adults and Mental Capacity

-

Tanya Pinnock – Home Safe Practitioner and VAWG Board Co-Chair

-

Baljinder Heer-Matiana – Assistant Director Public Health

-

Aisling Barker – VAWG Practice and Workforce Development Manager

-

Jenny Ling, Head of Bright Futures and Community Wellbeing (Central area)

-

Johnathon Gallagher – Acting Head of Community Safety

-

Daniel White – Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Worker – Journey to Change
36
OFFICIAL

Page 52

-

Natalie Dartey - Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Worker – Journey to Change

-

Rachel Reynolds – Project Officer VAWG Workforce Development

-

Rupert Bagenal - Project Officer VAWG Workforce Development

3rd sector partner leads:
-

Sawsan Salim – Kurdish Middle Eastern Womens Organisation

-

Senay Dur - IMECE

-

Yenny Aude – Latin American Women’s Aid (LAWA)

-

Catarina Sousa – DVIP

-

Angie Herrera – LAWA

-

Aygul Ozdemir – KEMWO

-

Anita Grant – Islington Play Association & Isington4Women

-

Lauren Appleby – Solace Women’s Aid

Health leads:
-

David Pennington – Clinical Commissioning Group

-

Marie Fitzpatrick – Clinical Commissioning Group

-

Emma Stubbs – Public Health

Additional Police leads:
-

DI Matthew Hogg

-

ADS Stacey Smith

-

PC Kevin Nicholls

Co-production feedback:
A special thanks to all the survivors who contributed to the development of this strategy
from the following organisations
-

Solace

-

Samira (IMECE, LAWA, and KMEWAO)

-

The Sunflower Project

-

DVIP

-

Violence Reduction Unit Parental Support Project

-

Pause Project

-

Better Lives

Page
37 53
OFFICIAL

9.

-

Galop

-

SHP Single Homeless Project

Appendices

9.1. VAWG literature review
Key findings and good practice identified from the VAWG literature review:
-

Good practice


Importance of language used (e.g. relationship/dating). Making sure language is
accessible and relatable.



Recognising the different experiences of younger teenagers is important and a good
point for action and intervention. Recommendation is to intervene early with
children before age 13.



Any education must recognise that girls can also use violence in order to resonate
with boys’ perspectives and experiences, but also teach them how this changes into
adulthood and it becomes a more gendered issue.



Offender accountability through a community response involving police, courts,
schools, clergy, health care providers and social service agencies. The justice system
and social agencies need to work together to promote offender accountability, while
at the same time helping victims of violence to recover from what has happened to
them.



Victims who attended domestic abuse support groups were influenced as to
how they view their partners’ behaviours. This changed their view of the relationship
and their expectations of their partner (i.e. to not be abusive). They were on the
whole less tolerant of abusive behaviours.



Women’s safety plans should be monitored as they change given the increasing
risk factors associated with separation in domestic abuse relationships.



Motivational Enhancement Therapy (MET), which was developed from
Motivational Interviewing (MI) used in addictions services, has had some
success with perpetrators.



The Older People’s Commissioner for Wales (2015) has introduced an amended Risk
Identification Checklist that includes questions aimed at older victims. This may
provide a starting point for amending risk assessments in other parts of the UK.



Adult social services should receive training on identifying and assessing risk in
relation to domestic violence. Training should take an intersectional approach and
explore the multiple barriers and increased risk faced by particular groups.



We should build healthy teen and parenting relationships, emergency shelter
programmes, screening to identify those at highest risk of lethal violence and
coordinated community responses to address system-level barriers
38
OFFICIAL

Page 54



Wolfe and colleagues (2009) Fourth R Program: Strategies for Healthy Youth
Relationships that has been subject to rigorous evaluation in Canada and the United
States, has successfully reduced dating violence in schools where it has been
implemented.



Futures without Violence national collaborations engage men and boys in violence
prevention across a variety of settings, including sports teams, fraternities and as
fathers.



It is important to clarify the responsibilities and possibilities for friends and
bystanders in preventing exposure to risky situations and responding to perilous
situations (Banyard, Moynihan, & Plant, 2007; Banyard, Plante, & Moynihan, 2004;
Casey & Ohler, 2012; Casey & Smith, 2010; Casey, 2010).



Importance of changing attitudes and norms that reinforce gender
discrimination – ‘Macro level interventions aimed at changing beliefs, attitudes, and
perceptions of social norms are one type of intervention that has shown promise
(Salazar, Baker, Price & Carlin, 2003; WHO, 2009).



Changing norms along with offering concrete actions to support bystanders in
intervening when they witness or suspect gender-based violence have resulted in
decreasing reports of sexual assault according to early research studies (Coker et
al., 2014; Wolfe et al., 2009).



More training and education about technology-facilitated coercive control and tools
to combat it.



Increased resources around tech abuse such as scanning for tracking devices.



Perpetrator intervention good practice:
- Positive policing approach
- Early intervention
- Evidence-based intervention
- Multi-agency working
- Civil protection orders
- Domestic abuse courts
- Long term perpetrator programmes with robust evaluation
- Criminal justice increasing conviction rates
- Equipping men with skills to change their behaviour



The need to hold young people in the criminal justice system in mind as victims but
without minimising/justifying behaviour. A community coordinated response
around young people is necessary.

Page
39 55
OFFICIAL



ALTAR (Abuse, Loss, Trauma and Attachment and Resilience) is an
evidence-based framework developed to consider the needs of and responses
required for troubled children. The action research programme in the West Midlands
was underpinned by the underlying thinking that created ALTAR.



Avoiding the creation of harm by implementing something which tries to help but
can have a negative impact because it is not fully developed and co-ordinated
with a wider service.



Be feminist and anti-racist – Campaigns, services, and professionals alike need
to consider accessibility for different cultural groups within the borough and need
to prioritise anti-racist and feminist approaches.



Commit to language change across the system to “child survivors of domestic
abuse’’ in line with national legislation in the Domestic Abuse Act.



Make domestic abuse more visible within different communities, building on what is
already there, and ensuring that survivors are able to own the way in which support
is offered within their own community, understanding the specific barriers that
need to be overcome.



Community awareness plays a key prevention role. A community which is aware,
and knows how to respond to domestic abuse is a key pillar of a system which
promotes early intervention. When the response to abuse can take place in the
community, it can prevent escalation to high-risk and crisis cases which end up with
statutory services.



‘Honour’-based violence, forced marriage and domestic violence:
- All those supporting victims (including domestic abuse services, MARAC, Police,
family courts and the Crown Prosecution Service) should collect and analyse
data on the HBV cases they engage with, and use this analysis to identify
potential gaps.
- Practitioners and strategic leads must recognise that the culture and beliefs of
the victim and perpetrator are important when assessing risk and need. A rigid
set of beliefs leading to abuse can happen across all cultures.
- Specialist training and resources need to be accessible to organisations that
may come into contact with domestic abuse victims, to provide a better
understanding of the risks faced by victims of ‘honour’-based violence.
- Information should be provided to victims and survivors in formats and
languages that are accessible and that they can identify with.
- Local Authorities should ensure that local agencies, including those that work
with children, are made aware of the issue of transnational marriage
abandonment and of appropriate reporting procedures if they suspect this form
of abuse.

40
OFFICIAL

Page 56

- Local Authorities, family law practitioners and the judiciary should ensure social
workers and family courts receive training on common features of HBV cases
which are relevant to child contact arrangements. This includes use of child
manipulation by perpetrators and the impact this has on the victim’s ability to
parent, and the prevalence of extensive perpetrator networks within the family.
- Local commissioners should fund interventions, ideally through pooling budgets,
designed specifically for victims of domestic abuse who are also at risk of HBV or
forced marriage. These interventions should address the specific needs that
often accompany this type of abuse, for instance language barriers and social
isolation. This should include long term support for survivors of HBV after the
initial risk has been removed, which supports them to rebuild their lives within
new communities, for instance drop-in groups.
- Domestic abuse services should consider appointing ‘champions’ or specialists
who receive in-depth training on HBV. This should include Forced Marriage and
FGM, the motivations behind HBV, and related circumstances such as the use of
dowries.
- Local authorities, statutory agencies, political leaders and community groups
should support national awareness-raising campaigns that have a focus on
HBV, including the national date of remembrance for honour killing and the White
Ribbon campaign.
- Local authorities should ensure that all those who work with young people, and
particularly schools as they deliver the new PSHE curriculum, are aware of referral
pathways for young victims of domestic abuse, HBV and forced marriage.

Page
41 57
OFFICIAL

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5

Resources Directorate
Newington Barrow Way, London, N7 7EP
Report of: Executive Member for Finance and Performance
Meeting of

Date

Ward(s)

Executive

25 November 2021
Exempt

All
Non-exempt

2021/22 BUDGET MONITORING – MONTH 6
1.

SYNOPSIS

1.1

This report presents the forecast outturn position for the 2021/22 financial year as at the end
of month 6 (30 September 2021).

1.2

The budget forecasts remain very uncertain at just half-way through the financial year and still
in the recovery stage of the COVID-19 pandemic. There is a need to maintain and, where
possible, increase resilience in the council’s balance sheet and reserves to reflect hardening
budget risks over the medium term, including:

1.3



Inflationary pressures and a volatile energy market



Social care demand (Children’s and Adults)



Impact of COVID-19 hospital discharge policy on adult social care costs



Ongoing Covid developments and recovery of income streams



Delivery of budgeted savings



Schools funding pressures

Overall, the council is currently estimating total General Fund budget pressures of (+£23.048m).
This is a decrease of (-£1.906m) since the previous reported position, primarily due to
favourable movements in the Adult Social Services, Children’s Services and Environment
directorate forecasts. After the allocation of available COVID-19 funding and an assumed
allocation from contingency, this reduces to a forecast net overspend of (+£0.511m) on the
General Fund as follows:


(-£11.714m) centrally allocated COVID-19 government grant confirmed to date,
comprising general grant and Contain Outbreak Management Fund (COMF).

Page 59



(-£2.423m) estimated compensation from the government’s sales, fees and charges
(SFC) income loss scheme for 2021/22 Quarter 1 (Q1).



(-£5.500m) COVID-19 contingency budget in the 2021/22 base budget.



(-£2.900m) assumed call on contingency in relation to evolving assumptions on the
pending 2021/22 local government pay award compared to the original budget setting
assumption.

1.4

The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is currently forecasting an in-year deficit of (+£8.814m),
a (+£23.893m) increase since the previous reported position. The deficit is predominantly in
respect of capital financing costs. These have increased as a result of the capital receipts in
respect properties “built for sale” slipping into the next financial year. A significant proportion
of the HRA budget is funding towards the housing capital programme. This means there can be
large in-year fluctuations to revenue budgets when either capital expenditure or capital
resources slippage occurs. This is a timing issue and not a reflection of viability of schemes
overall.

1.5

At the end of month 6, capital expenditure of £41.536m had been incurred against a 2021/22
full year forecast of £124.608m and against the revised 2021/22 capital budget of £203.322m.
As work is continuing at pace to reprofile schemes, a central adjustment of slippage to the
capital forecast has been included to account for the levels of expenditure to date compared to
full year project forecasts.

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1.

To note the forecast 2021/22 General Fund budget variance. (Section 3, Table 1 and
Appendices 1-2)

2.2.

To note the forecast in-year budget variance on the Housing Revenue Account (HRA). (Section
4)

2.3.

To review and note the estimated 2021/22 drawdowns from the transformation fund. (Section
3.49, Table 2 and Appendix 3)

2.4.

To note the 2021/22 capital expenditure forecast of £124.608m and that a review of the profiling
of the capital programme is currently underway as part of the 2022/23 budget setting process.
(Section 5, Table 3 and Appendix 4)

2.5.

To note the approval by the Borough Investment Panel on 14 October 2021 of the proposed
allocation of £1.500m Community Infrastructure Levy funding to the Toffee Park Redevelopment
Project. This will be profiled in the future year capital programme for consideration and approval
as part of the 2022/23 budget report. (Section 5 and paragraph 5.5)

3.

GENERAL FUND

Summary
3.1.

The forecast 2021/22 budget variance is summarised in Table 1 and detailed by individual
General Fund variance at Appendix 1 and by individual service area at Appendix 2.

Page 60

Table 1 – 2021/22 General Fund Forecast Over/(Under)Spend
GENERAL FUND

Non
Month 6 Month 5 Monthly
COVID-19
COVID-19 Total
Total Movement
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m

Adult Social Services

2.907

2.909

5.816

6.309

(0.493)

Chief Executive’s Directorate

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.000

Children’s Services

2.247

2.640

4.887

5.142

(0.255)

Community Wealth Building

0.800

0.000

0.800

0.800

0.000

Environment

8.329

(4.762)

3.567

5.099

(1.532)

Fairer Together

0.252

0.000

0.252

0.252

0.000

Homes and Neighbourhoods

1.028

(1.028)

0.000

0.000

0.000

Public Health

0.488

(0.488)

0.000

0.000

0.000

Resources

2.105

0.121

2.226

2.223

0.003

18.156

(0.608)

17.548

19.825

(2.277)

2.600

2.900

5.500

5.129

0.371

Total General Fund

20.756

2.292

23.048

24.954

(1.906)

COVID-19 Tranche 5 Grant and COMF

(11.714)

0.000

(11.714)

(11.714)

0.000

SFC Q1 Compensation (Estimate)

(2.423)

0.000

(2.423)

(2.436)

0.013

COVID-19 Contingency Budget/Reserves

(5.500)

0.000

(5.500)

(7.010)

1.510

Assumed Call on Contingency Budget

0.000

(2.900)

(2.900)

(2.900)

0.000

Net General Fund Over/(Under)Spend

1.119

(0.608)

0.511

0.894

(0.383)

Total Directorates
Corporate

Adult Social Services (+£5.816m, a decrease of -£0.493m since the previous reported
position)
3.2.

Adult Social Services is currently forecasting an (+£5.816m) overspend. Of this, (+£2.907m) is
considered attributable to the COVID-19 crisis, with a non-COVID-19 overspend of (+£2.909m).

3.3.

The most significant COVID-19 budget pressure in the directorate is in relation to additional
demand from the COVID-19 Hospital Discharge Service (+£2.737m), summarised as follows:


(+£2.454m, unchanged since the previous reported position) is in relation to the cohort
of people who have received a care package since the 19 March 2020 as a result of the
Hospital Discharge schemes. 1606* individuals have accessed social care through this
route since the Hospital Discharge schemes began. Of these, 771* clients have been
reviewed and determined to be eligible for social care with an estimated cost in 2021-22
of £14.500m. An estimated £12.000m would have been funded as business as usual,
causing this residual budgetary pressure.



(+£1.366m, an increase of £0.049m since the previous reported position) is in relation
to the cohort of people who received a care package, through the Hospital Discharge
schemes in this financial year, and are awaiting a review of their care packages to assess
whether they are eligible for social care. There have been 582* individuals accessing
services through this scheme to date, with 82* currently awaiting a review.

Page 61



This is offset by estimated NHS funding of (-£1.083m, an increase of -£0.360m since the
previous reported position due to the NHS discharge scheme being extended to the 31
March 2022). Review teams were set up to reduce the cost of these packages, however
a pressure persists.
*as of October 2021

3.4.

Non-COVID-19 related pressures include a contract with Care UK to manage the delivery of
three care homes and day centres. Since September 2020, a fire related suspension has
prevented any new placements from using vacant beds across all three care homes. This has
created a forecast budget pressure of (+£1.850m, unchanged since the previous reported
position) due to additional spot purchased residential beds whilst also paying for the vacant
beds in Care UK. The ongoing issue with the provider also creates a pressure of (+£0.172m,
unchanged since the previous reported position) in relation to delivery of the ‘Better Use of Block
Provision’ saving.

3.5.

The ongoing issues with Care UK will lead to an estimated additional cost of (+£1.400m) in
2021/22, with additional budgetary impact in future financial years.

3.6.

Budget provision had been set aside to fund Care UK to pay the London Living Wage to their
staff. This is no longer anticipated to be agreed in 2021/22, resulting in an underspend of (£0.700m, unchanged since the previous reported position).

3.7.

Adult Social Services continues to be impacted by wider demographic pressures, including
increased demand for services and need of acute care. This is part-funded through demographic
budget growth assumed in the 2021/22 budget. However, there is currently forecast to be an
additional, unbudgeted demographic growth pressure of (+£0.812m, a decrease of -£0.182m
since the previous reported position) as well a pressure of (+£0.250m) in relation to delivery of
demand management savings.

3.8.

The additional clients entering Adult Social Services will also increase the amount of client
contributions the council will receive. This partially offsets the pressures created from the
additional demand by (-£0.200m, unchanged since the previous reported position). There is also
a one-off balance on the Direct Payment accounts of (-£0.500m).

3.9.

Other small non-COVID-19 related underspends totalling (-£0.0175m, a decrease of -£0.158m
since the previous reported position) make up the remainder of the non-COVID-19 variance.

Chief Executive’s Directorate (Breakeven Position, unchanged since the previous reported
position)
3.10. The Chief Executive’s directorate is currently forecasting a breakeven position.
Children’s Services - General Fund (+£4.887m, a decrease of -£0.255m since the previous
reported position), Schools (-£5.803m, an increase of -£0.260m since the previous
reported position)
3.11. Children’s is currently forecasting a net overspend of (+£4.887m), comprised of (+£2.247m)
COVID-19 related budget pressures and risks and (+£2.640m) non COVID-19 related net
overspends.
3.12. COVID-19 related budget pressures in the department comprise:


(+£0.565m, an increase of +£0.065m since the previous reported position) forecast loss
of parental fee income in Children’s Centres due to sustained lower levels of attendance.



(+£0.285m, unchanged since the previous reported position) forecast commercial income
risk in relation to the universal youth offer.

Page 62



(+£0.927m, a reduction of -£0.670m since the previous reported position) forecast net
pressure against the children looked after placements budget, which is largely
attributable to COVID-19. The main area of change is in the forecast for residential and
semi-independent provision (two of the three principal areas of placement cost pressure).
While there has been a slight increase in residential activity since quarter 1, it is still
significantly reduced compared to the same period last year. Semi-independent activity
has reduced significantly from the last quarter. Several management actions have been
put in place to control costs including:
o Detailed review of costs pressures through the placements board.
o Focus on increasing in-house recruitment of foster carers.
o Regional work across London regarding high costs placements, a local welfare secure
unit for children who need their liberty restricted due to risk.
o Sub-regional block booking with Independent Fostering Agencies to reduce costs,
by reducing boroughs competing for the same placement and pushing up cost.
o Service director approval required for all residential/high cost placements.



(+£0.292m, an increase of +£0.006m since the previous reported position) forecast
overspend against Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) transport due to
increased costs of transporting young people and the loss of curriculum income. This is
an increase of (+£0.022m) since the previous reported position.



(+£0.178m, unchanged since the previous reported position) other COVID-19 cost
pressures.

3.13. Non COVID-19 budget pressures are made up of:


(+£0.177m, unchanged since the previous reported position) legal costs in relation to a
delay in the conclusion of care proceedings and to SEND appeals. The use of Counsel is
subject to service director approval to minimise this cost pressure.



(+£0.393m, unchanged since the previous reported position) further cost risks in relation
to the re-procurement of the youth offer. An enhanced offer will incur additional costs
and there will be a risk to commercial income generated under the current offer.



(+£0.455m, an increase of +£0.098m since the previous reported position) overspends
due to a reduction in funding from the Youth Justice Board (despite rising activity),
increased activity against the remand budget, and staffing pressures to meet significantly
increased caseloads in the SEND team in line with the SEND strategy and statutory duties.



(-£0.100m, unchanged since the previous reported position) underspend on the council’s
Universal Free School Meals programme due to increased eligibility for government
funded free school meals and falling pupil numbers.



(+£0.262m, unchanged since the previous reported position) ongoing staffing pressure
in relation to supporting increased numbers of care leavers in recent years.



(+£0.125m, unchanged since the previous reported position) cost pressure in relation to
increased demand for temporary accommodation.



(+£1.090m, unchanged since the previous reported position) of in-year cost pressures in
relation to early help, Islington Trauma Informed Practices in Schools (iTIPS) and
Partners in Practice due to timing differences in relation to funding. The funding for these
items has already been recognised in previous financial years.

Page 63



(+£0.080m, a new variance since the previous reported position) SEND transport
pressure for looked after children in out of borough provision.



(+£0.158m, an increase of +£0.150m since the previous reported position) of other net
overspends across the service.

3.14. There is an underspend of (-£5.803m) (3.7%) against the ring-fenced Dedicated Schools Grant
(DSG), an increase of (+£0.260m) since the previous reported position. This forecast includes
(-£3.750m) of balances brought forward from previous years. The underspend is as follows:


(-£0.199m, unchanged since the previous reported position) unallocated funding in the
Central School Services Block that is being held to smooth in reductions in funding in
future years as the government continues to phase out funding for historic duties. (£0.044m) of this underspend is a balance from previous years.



(-£2.534m, an increase of +£0.314m since the previous reported position, following the
allocation of funding to schools with higher than average numbers of children with
Education, Health and Care Plans). (-£1.228m) of this underspend relates to balances
from previous years.



(-£0.340m, a new variance since the previous reported position) forecast underspend
against the budget for centrally commissioned places in academies, the independent
sector, further education and out of borough provision. While this budget is forecast to
underspend, activity has increased from previous years, but at a slower pace than
budgeted for.



(-£0.234m, a new variance since the previous reported position) unallocated funding
against the budget for additional needs.



(-£0.463m) prior year balance in relation to funding for the statutory entitlement for 2 year-old provision that is being held by Schools Forum to offset a future year funding
risk.



(-£2.033m) early years contingency balance from previous years that is being held to
offset funding risks due to lower numbers in provision because of COVID-19, and to meet
pressures in relation to early years SEND.

3.15. Individual schools balances stood at £9.459m at the end of 2020/21. Schools have budgeted to
reduce their balance by £5.468m to £3.991m over the course of the year. Quarter 1 monitoring
has shown a £0.309m improvement in this position, with balances now projected to be £4.301m
at the end of 2021/22. Some of the use of balances is for planned capital works where timing
can be uncertain.
3.16. There were nine schools in deficit as at 31 March 2021. Based on the budget plans submitted
by schools, this is expected to reduce to eight schools by 31 March 2022, with two schools
coming out of deficit and one entering into a deficit.
Community Wealth Building (+£0.800m, unchanged since the previous reported position)
3.17. The Community Wealth Building directorate is currently forecasting a net overspend of
(+£0.800m), comprised entirely of COVID-19 related budget pressures.
3.18. There are COVID-19 related budget pressures in the department which are unchanged since
the previous reported position and include:


(+£0.548m) reduced income from the Assembly Hall.



(+£0.100m) reduced income from Planning fees.



(+£0.213m) additional pandemic response related costs e.g. hygiene maintenance.

Page 64



(-£0.061m) offsetting reduction in operational costs at the Assembly Hall.

Environment (+£3.567m, a decrease of £1.532m since the previous reported position)
3.19. The Environment directorate is currently forecasting a net overspend of (+£3.567m), of which
(+£8.329m) is attributable to COVID-19 related budget pressures.
3.20. The department relies heavily on fees and charges income to subsidise its services and the
COVID-19 crisis has severely impacted revenue generating activities across all service areas:


Parking related income – there has been a substantial decrease in projected income
across Pay and Display and Permit and Vouchers. Early estimates indicate that the impact
will see a loss in income across these areas of around (+£3.646m).



Leisure related income – the council receives income from operating the leisure centres
and from events within our parks and open spaces. The forecast impact of this income
loss is (+£3.165m).



Other areas such as Commercial Waste, Tables and Chair, Registrars Fixed Penalty Notice
and Pest control income are also experiencing reduced levels of service and it is estimated
that the net income loss across these areas will be (+£1.343m).

3.21. There are also COVID-19 expenditure budget pressures in the department of (+£0.175m) which
due to additional overtime, allowances and mortuary costs throughout the Public Protection
division.
3.22. Other reasons for the overspend include:


Net overspend on agency costs within the Street Services Operations division due to
annual leave cover (+£0.292m).



Overspend within Parking financial charges, NSL/PCN debt registration (+£0.507m).



Overspend within SES on vehicle maintenance (+£0.100m).



Additional spend on running costs within Public Protection & Street Services Operations
(+£0.108m).



Net overspend on employee costs within the Public Protection division due to the vacancy
factor (+£0.099m).

3.23. Based on prevailing activity, the department is forecasting additional income totalling (£5.867m) for Parking Bay suspensions, House in Multiple Occupation licensing, Highways fees,
recharge and other income. These activity levels are constantly monitored, and the forecasts
will be refined based on emerging data.
3.24. There has been movement of (-£1.532m) since the previous reported position, comprising:


Revised forecast on suspension income (-£1.491m) offset by additional costs on NSL/PCN
debt registration (+£0.151m) with Parking Services.



Additional agency costs forecast within Street Services Operations (+£0.269m) due to
cover required for staff taking annual leave and overspend on road tax costs (+£0.096m),
offset by additional income now forecast (-£0.154m).



Within the Public Protection division there is a revised forecast for employee costs
(+£0.148m) and additional HMO licensing income (-£0.200m).



Other general minor revisions throughout the department resulting in a net overspend of
(+£0.006m).

Page 65



The impact of COVID-19 on the department has decreased (-£0.358m) due to revisions
on the deferral of GLL rent, the cost of COVID-19 functions that are still being carried
out and an improved position on permits/vouchers and tables/chair income.

3.25. Based on prevailing activity, the department is forecasting additional income totalling (£5.867m) for Parking Bay suspensions, House in Multiple Occupation licensing, Highways fees,
recharge and other income. These activity levels are constantly monitored, and the forecasts
will be refined based on emerging data.
3.26. Despite the significant spike in energy costs nationally, the council is protected in the current
financial year as energy supplies were purchased and secured in advance. However, there would
be a significant cost pressure in future years if current prices are sustained. This will need to be
considered as part of the overall Medium-Term Financial Strategy.
Fairer Together (+£0.252m, unchanged since the previous reported position)
3.27. The Fairer Together directorate is currently forecasting an overspend of (+£0.252m) entirely
attributable to the COVID-19 response and specifically the ‘We are Islington’ service. Additional
overtime and salary related expenditure are being incurred due to extra support and assistance
provided to the vulnerable, isolating and communities at large.
Homes and Neighbourhoods (Breakeven position, unchanged since the previous reported
position)
3.28. The Homes and Neighbourhoods directorate includes the council’s statutory, yet unfunded by
central government, duty to provide a safety net to vulnerable migrants with No Recourse to
Public Funds (NRPF) – including European Economic Area Nationals, under social services
legislation (including the Care Act 2014 and Children’s Act 1989).
3.29. The Housing directorate is currently forecasting a net breakeven position for the General Fund
including (+£1.028m) of COVID-19 related pressures, an increase of (+£0.094m) since the
previous reported position.
3.30. COVID-19 has continued to cause budget pressures across homelessness and NRPF services of
(+£1.028m). This is shown through rising client numbers, increased provider costs, additional
legal challenges, extra landlord incentive payments, higher rent arrears and lost income sources.
The homelessness service had to alter its service provision following a series of central
government instructions. The financial pressure is being met from wider departmental
underspends and grants.
3.31. The movement since the previous forecast includes increased TA costs as client numbers have
increased and will continue to rise. This is expected due to the end of the eviction ban and extra
responsibility given to the council to extend priority need for homelessness assistance as a result
of being a victim of domestic abuse. This pressure will be partly offset with the Rough Sleeper
Initiative Grant. As TA cases remain high it is likely that higher amounts of rental income will
feed through in the coming months. Offsetting cost reductions include further decrease in the
use of private sector leasing properties and minor staffing changes.
3.32. Underlying the COVID-19 impact are the continued financial pressures of the Homelessness
Reduction Act 2017 and changes to the Statutory Homelessness Code of Guidance.
This is increasing the number of new homeless cases for the council and resulting
in rising legal challenges.
3.33. Within the net non-COVID-19 related underspend, there is a forecast budget pressure of
(+£0.427m, unchanged since the previous reported position) on Islington Lettings, the council
run not-for-profit letting agency. This pressure is partly due to write-offs of historic uncollected
rent.

Page 66

Public Health (Breakeven position, unchanged since the previous reported position)
3.34. Public Health is funded via a ring-fenced grant of £27.365m for 2021/22. The directorate is
currently forecasting a breakeven position, of which (+£0.488m) are COVID-19 related budget
pressures.
3.35. The main COVID-19 budget pressures are in the Sexual Health division (increased online access
to STI testing).
3.36. The following non COVID-19 related budget pressures are forecast across the directorate:


(+£0.091m, increase of +£0.049m since the previous reported position) within Smoking
and Tobacco division for the additional cost of a two-year Smoke free Pregnancy project
and the one-off payment towards stop smoking advisors who will provide support to
service users and residents in supported accommodation.



(+£0.184m, an increase of +£0.113m since the previous reported position) within
Substance Misuse division, predominantly due to the service continuing to commission
withdrawal services and homelessness health services for 2021/22, as a consequence of
demand remaining high.



(-£0.268m, a decrease of -£0.206m since the previous reported position) within Sexual
Health as a result of changes to GUM services and the move to lower tariffs based on
activity levels.



(-£0.007m, an increase of £0.043m since the previous reported position) small
underspends across the directorate.

3.37. In addition to the reported budget variance, the directorate is forecasting (+£0.413m) one-off
projects and (+£0.252m) team posts that are to be funded by wider Public Health underspends
and/or the earmarked public health reserve. It is forecast that £0.528m of the earmarked public
health reserve (balance £1.353m) will be drawn down in the current financial year.
3.38. The directorate will need to ensure sufficient resources are allocated to fund the Agenda for
Change salary uplift to NHS providers. It is unclear how much the additional cost will be as
discussions are ongoing.
Resources (+£2.226m, an increase of +£0.003m since the previous reported position)
3.39. The Resources directorate is currently forecasting a net overspend of (+£2.226m), comprising
(+£2.105m) COVID 19 pressures and a (+£0.121m) net non COVID-19 overspend.
3.40. The most significant COVID-19 budget pressure in the directorate is estimated additional costs
(+£1.936m, unchanged since the previous reported position) in relation to IT related hardware
and software solutions. Examples of these costs include the fit out of the council chamber for
broadcasts, updating Wi-Fi in key buildings to enable social distancing, central government
required PSN compliance, delays to schemes and additional infrastructure required to support
rapidly increasing digitisation of services.
3.41. Additional COVID-19 cost pressures (+£0.169m, unchanged since the previous reported
position) include:


(+£0.480m) shortfall in legal income from planning activities due to reduced demand.



(+£0.100m) forecast one-off implementation costs due to a delay in deliverable savings
within Legal Services;



(+£0.021m) annual cost of Caselines system required by the courts during the pandemic
in order to process digitised papers for legal cases. This cost will be on-going as the courts
move away from paper based to a digitalised system.

Page 67

3.42. The directorate is also incurring non-COVID 19 related extra costs of (+£0.175m, unchanged
from previous reported position) in connection with various ad-hoc projects including ongoing
restructures in finance and HR, recruitment campaigns and software upgrade costs in
connection with income receipts within the council. This is offset by non-COVID-19 underspends
across the directorate of (-£0.054m, unchanged since previous reported position).
Corporate Items (+£5.500m, an increase of +£0.371m since the previous reported
position)
3.43. The corporate items forecast is a (+£5.500m) overspend, comprising (+£2.600m) COVID-19
related pressures and non-COVID-19 related net pressures of (+£2.900m).
3.44. The COVID-19 related corporate budget pressure (+£2.600m, an increase of £0.371m since the
previous reported position) relates in full to the in-year decision to continue the Council Tax
Support Hardship Scheme in 2021/22, mirroring the additional £150 deductions scheme that
supported residents in 2020/21.
3.45. The forecast non-COVID-19 variance (+£2.900m, unchanged since the previous reported
position) is in relation to evolving assumptions on the 2021/22 local government pay award.
Following announcements from the Chancellor during the budget setting process, the council
set aside provision for a 0% general pay award together with an increase for those staff on the
lower pay grades. It is now anticipated that there will be a pay award of at least 1.75%, with
negotiations ongoing.
3.46. In addition, not currently factored into the forecast, it is anticipated that there will an
underspend on the treasury management and capital financing budget due to continued low
interest rates and re-profiling of the capital programme. The council’s budget includes prudent
provision for a revenue cost of borrowing to fund the capital programme that is higher than
prevailing interest rates. This prudent provision ensures that the capital programme remains
affordable if interest rates increase, with latest indications being of an increase in the near
future. Alongside re-profiling of the capital programme, this lower and delayed cost of borrowing
gives rise to budget underspends in the short term. The forecast in this area is currently being
reviewed alongside the re-profiling of the capital programme and will be factored into the month
8 budget monitoring report to the Executive.
Council Tax and Business Rates
3.47. COVID-19 led to significant council tax income and business rates income losses in 2020/21.
Whilst it is too early in the recovery from the pandemic to fully assess the budget outlook in this
area, collection levels currently appear to be reassuring compared to the prudent assumptions
made at 2021/22 budget setting.
3.48. As part of setting the 2021/22 council tax base in January 2021, will all the uncertainty of a
second national lockdown and with the furlough scheme due to end on 31 March 2021, it was
prudently assumed that council tax support caseload could significantly increase during 2021/22.
To date, this significant increase has not materialised and it is currently anticipated (to be refined
over the coming months ahead of the annual statutory Collection Fund forecast in January
2022), that there will be a significant in-year surplus on the council tax account. Other things
being equal, this one-off surplus is expected to be in the region of £3.6m and in line with the
Medium-Term Financial Strategy would be used to replenish reserves. Due to the time lag
around accounting for Collection Fund surpluses and deficits, this surplus would not come into
the council’s budget and reserves until 2022/23 so would not affect the 2021/22 outturn
position.
3.49. At this stage, a balanced in-year position is currently forecast on the business rates account
after government grant income to offset the impact of increased reliefs on the council’s retained

Page 68

rates income. This assumes that the government, as previously announced, legislates against
COVID-19 Material Change of Circumstance (MCC) appeals by businesses and specifically that
the cost of any such appeals does not fall on the council. The business rates forecast will be
further refined over the coming months ahead of the annual statutory Collection Fund forecast
in January 2022.
Transformation Fund
3.50. As part of the council’s overall Medium-Term Financial Strategy, there is a corporate
Transformation Fund for the one-off revenue costs of projects which aim to improve services
and residents’ experiences and/or support the delivery of budget savings.
3.51. The Transformation Fund was approved as part of the budget in 2019 with a total value of
£15.1m, anticipated to be spread over three years. It was funded from the council’s earmarked
reserves. However, the expectation is that costs will be funded in the first instance from available
in-year budgets in order to boost the council’s financial resilience for hardening budget risks
over the medium term.
3.52. Investment decisions are made in consideration of the benefits to residents, the approved
savings the investment will deliver and available funds within the approved reserve.
3.53. The latest estimated drawdowns from the Transformation Fund for 2021/22 are summarised by
directorate in Table 2 and detailed by project in Appendix 3.

Table 2 – Estimated 2021/22 Transformation Fund Drawdowns
Directorate

£m

Community Wealth Building

2.915

Environment

0.450

Fairer Together

0.274

Homes and Neighbourhoods

0.130

Adults

1.050

Children’s

1.768

Public Health

0.000

Resources

2.214

Total

8.801

4.

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)

4.1.

The HRA is currently forecasting an in-year deficit of (+£8.814m), predominantly in relation to
capital financing costs which have increased temporarily as a result of capital receipts in respect
of properties “built for sale” slipping into the next year financial year. The HRA budget forecast
is summarised in Appendix 2.

4.2.

As the HRA is a ring-fenced account, a surplus or deficit at the end of the financial year will be
transferred to or from HRA reserves.

4.3.

A significant proportion of the HRA budget is funding towards the housing capital programme.
This means there can be large in-year fluctuations to revenue budgets when capital slippage

Page 69

occurs. At month 6, there is a forecast overspend on the HRA’s Revenue Contributions to
Capital Expenditure (RCCO) of (+£8.045m). This increase in RCCO relates in the main to the
New Build section of the capital programme, comprising:

4.4.



(+£10.317m) delayed open market sale receipts.



(+£7.271m) RCCO rolled forward from the prior year (at closing 2020/21 capital receipts
planned for use in 2021/22 were swapped for RCCO).



(+£0.800m) pump room upgrades to facilitate operational effectiveness of Bunhill 2.



(+£0.180m) Holland Walk lighting improvement works (it should be noted that, except
for Major Works growth (+£0.980m), this increase in RCCO is simply a timing issue
straddling financial years and as such does not result in an additional cost pressure).



(-£10.522m) anticipated RCCO slippage during 2021/22 (net of RTB receipts) as
compared to the original 21-22 budget.

The remaining forecast budget variance (+£0.769m) is in relation to the following:


(+£0.410m) HRA parking income shortfall as current data indicates that usage of car
spaces and garages has failed to return to pre-pandemic levels. This could be partly due
to a decline in the need to commute for work and behavioural changes influenced by the
implementation of the Low Traffic Neighbourhood (LTN) initiative. There is a risk that
HRA parking income could reduce further with the expansion of the Ultra Low Emission
Zone (ULEZ) from October 2021.



(+£0.588m) repairs and maintenance cost pressure, of which (+£0.233m) is a net
pressure on in-house repairs and repairs sub-contractor expenditure and (+£0.350m)
pressure resulting from the installation of carbon monoxide detectors to comply with the
Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 amendment which
requires social landlords to install carbon monoxide alarms in any room used as living
accommodation where a fixed combustion appliance is used.



(+£0.302m) forecast pressure on HRA use of temporary accommodation due to the
introduction of the Domestic Abuse Act 2021. Islington is experiencing an estimated 45%
sharp increase in tenant related anti-social behaviour, domestic violence and abuse cases
compared to 2020/21.



(-£0.531m) in additional generated income within the Rent and Service Charges
department, representing 0.30% of the budget.

4.5.

Despite the recent publicised “UK gas crisis”, heating and hot water expenditure by the HRA
will not overspend because gas supplies for 2021/22 were purchased and secured in advance.
However, with current market prices being an estimated 60-70% higher than 2021/22 prices,
it is highly probable that costs will increase significantly as we seek to secure supplies for next
year. The gas market will be closely monitored as the year progresses to ensure supplies are
secured at most competitive prices for our tenants and leaseholders. If costs were to increase,
this would be managed by the utilisation of the tenant heat reserve to smooth the impact on
tenants and a review of heating charges levied to tenants and leaseholders.

4.6.

Whilst the HRA is not expecting any material variances to result from COVID-19 related
activities, there remains a risk that tenant rent and service charge arrears could increase when
the furlough scheme ends in September 2021. However, a more significant factor of increasing
arrears is the ongoing migration from Housing benefit (HB) to Universal Credit (UC). T his is
because tenants on UC hold much higher arrears (UC tenants average arrears £1,400 and non
UC tenants average arrears £750)

Page 70

4.7.

An assessment as to the recoverability of those arears that is reflected in the budget in the
form of a provision for arrears that are deemed irrecoverable in the long term (known as bad
debt provision). The 2021/22 HRA budget includes a bad debt provision of (+£2.250m) to
accommodate tenant rent arrears that are deemed irrecoverable. In addition, a (+£1.500m)
one-off provision has been made available for any pressure that may arise from the migration
of housing benefit to universal credit. This assessment will be kept under review as the year
progresses.

5.

CAPITAL PROGRAMME

5.1.

At the end of month 6, capital expenditure of £41.536m had been incurred against a 2021/22
full year forecast of £124.6081m and against the revised 2021/22 capital budget of £203.322m.

5.2.

The capital forecast by scheme at month 6 reflects latest forecast variances where available,
with identified slippage of £50.571m against specific projects. However, many schemes are still
forecasting expenditure to budget pending a detailed review of capital expenditure profiles that
is ongoing. It is expected that this will result in further re-profiling of the current year capital
programme for approval in the month 8 budget monitoring report to the Executive.

5.3.

A central adjustment to the capital forecast has been included due to the low levels of
expenditure to date compared to full year forecasts, and the inference that further re-profiling
is highly likely. This central adjustment extrapolates capital expenditure to date whilst
recognising that capital expenditure is generally more weighted in the second half of the financial
year. As a proxy, it is assumed that capital expenditure in the second half of the year (M7-M12)
will be double what it was in the first half of the year (M1-M6).

5.4.

The latest capital position is summarised by non-housing and housing programme in Table 3
and detailed by lead directorate and project in Appendix 4.
Table 3 – 2021/22 Capital Programme
Forecast
Variance/
Slippage
£m
(17.669)

Forecast
Expenditure
M7-M12

4.878

Forecast
Outturn
21/22
£m
39.652

146.001

36.658

113.099

(32.902)

76.441

203.322

41.536

152.751

(50.571)

111.215

(28.143)

(28.143)

(28.143)

124.608

(78.714)

83.072

Programme

Revised
Budget
£m

Spend to
Date M6
£m

Non-Housing

57.321

Housing
Sub-Total
Central
Adjustment
Total Capital
Programme
5.5.

34.774

Following agreement by the Borough Investment Panel on 14 October 2021, it is proposed to
allocate £1.500m Community Infrastructure Levy funding to the Toffee Park Redevelopment
Project. This will be profiled in the future year capital programme for consideration and approval
as part of the 2022/23 budget report. Subject to approval, this additional funding (bringing the
total budget to £3.000m) will provide improved Early Years, community and adventure play
services as well as a new skateboard park in the Bunhill area. The scheme is in initial stages
and expenditure is expected to be incurred in future financial years.

Page 71

6.

IMPLICATIONS
Financial Implications

6.1.

These are included in the main body of the report.
Legal Implications

6.2.

The law requires that the council must plan to balance its spending plans against resources to
avoid a deficit occurring in any year. Members need to be reasonably satisfied that expenditure
is being contained within budget and that the savings for the financial year will be achieved, to
ensure that income and expenditure balance (Section 28 Local Government Act 2003; the
council’s Financial Regulations 3.7 to 3.10 (Revenue Monitoring and Control)).
Environmental Implications

6.3.

This report does not have any direct environmental implications.
Resident Impact Assessment

6.4.

The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and foster
good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do
not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The council has a duty to have due regard to the
need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in particular steps to take
account of disabled persons' disabilities, and encourage people to participate in public life. The
council must have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice and promote understanding.

6.5.

A resident impact assessment (RIA) was carried out for the 2021/22 Budget Report agreed by
Full Council. This report notes the financial performance to date but does not have direct policy
implications, so a separate RIA is not required for this report.

Appendices:
Appendix 1 – General Fund Revenue Monitoring by Variance
Appendix 2 – Revenue by Service Area
Appendix 3 – Transformation Fund Drawdowns
Appendix 4 – Capital Programme
Background papers: None

Signed by:
16 November 2021
Executive Member for Finance and Performance

Date

Report Author:

Paul Clarke, Director of Finance
Martin Houston, Strategic Financial Advisor

Legal Implications Author:

Peter Fehler, Acting Director of Law and Governance

Page 72

Appendix 1: 2021/22 General Fund Key Variances - Month 6

Division

ADULT SOCIAL SERVICES
Integrated Community Services
Integrated Community Services
Integrated Community Services
Integrated Community Services
Integrated Community Services
Integrated Community Services
Adult Social Care
Integrated Community Services
Strategy & Commissioning
In House Services
Integrated Community Services
Integrated Community Services
Integrated Community Services
Integrated Community Services
Strategy & Commissioning
Adult Social Care
Adult Social Care
Integrated Community Services

Type of Variance

COVID-19 Additional Cost
COVID-19 Additional Cost
Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure
Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure
Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure
Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure
Underspend
COVID-19 Additional Cost
Underspend
Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure
Underspend
Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure
Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure
Underspend
Underspend
COVID-19 External Funding
COVID-19 External Funding
COVID-19 External Funding

Description

Covid 19 additional demand from 2020/21 discharge schemes
Potential Covid 19 additional demand from 2021/22 discharge scheme 3
Care UK Saving
Care UK Bed Vacancies
Additional demand above demographic allocation for older people TO DATE
Projected additional demand above demographic allocation for older people based on current demand.
Care UK LLW provision
Social Workers, Occupational Therapist - 7 day week and 12 hour shift rota
plus support staff & Brokerage.
HRS Related Support Additional Saving
In-House Saving Reprofiled
One-off Direct Payment Surplus
Assistive Technology Saving Reprofiled
Demand Management Saving Reprofiled
Additional Client Contribution due to increased placements
Transport Underspend from Day Centre Closures
Infection Control & Rapid Testing Costs
Infection Control & Rapid Testing Grants
NHS funding for Discharge scheme 3

Over/(Under)
Spend
Month 6
£m
2.454
1.366
0.172
1.850
0.468
0.344
(0.700)
0.170
(0.213)
0.080
(0.500)
0.150
0.250
(0.200)
(0.192)
1.302
(1.302)
(1.083)

Other Additional Costs:
Integrated Community Services
Integrated Community Services
Total ASC

Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure
Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure

Social Work support for Care UK
Care UK Decant (2021-22 Costs - FYE £5.4m)

Of which CV-19 pressures

0.400
1.000
5.816

2.907

CHILDREN'S SOCIAL SERVICES
Young Islington

COVID-19 Additional Cost

Young Islington

COVID-19 Additional Cost

Safeguarding and Family Support

COVID-19 Additional Cost

Early Intervention and Prevention

COVID-19 Loss of Income

Learning and Culture

COVID-19 Additional Cost

Learning and Culture
Learning and Culture

COVID-19 Loss of Income
COVID-19 Additional Cost

Young Islington

Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure

Young Islington

Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure

Young Islington
Young Islington

Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure
Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure

Safeguarding and Family Support

Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure

Safeguarding and Family Support

Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure

Safeguarding and Family Support

Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure

Safeguarding and Family Support

Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure

Safeguarding and Family Support

Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure

Safeguarding and Family Support

Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure

Safeguarding and Family Support / Early Intervention
Non COVID-19
and Prevention
Cost Pressure
Early Intervention and Prevention
Early Intervention and Prevention
Learning and Culture
Learning and Culture
Learning and Culture
Learning and Culture
Learning and Culture
Learning and Culture
Learning and Culture
Total CES

Underspend
Underspend
Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure

Cost of underwriting income at Iseldon Community Interest Company (CIC) in 2021/22 for the contract extension period to
the end of October 2021.
Cost of underwriting commercial income risk for the period of dual contract running to the end of December in relation to
the universal youth offer
Forecast pressure on Children's Social care placements budget. While an overspend is forecast, activity has reduced in the
first quarter of the year.
Impact of self-isolation and potential structural reduction in demand for paid for childcare provision post COVID-19 – 10%
loss in income would cost £0.500m. This is consistent with income returns for April and May but more will be known after of
the summer term.
Estimated increased cost of SEN transport due to COVID-19 and loss of curriculum income. This pressure is after drawing
down provisional demographic growth allocations
Cardfields: forecast reduction in income due to COVID-19
Additional cost of cleaning BSF schools (Council share)
Estimated in-year pressure from the enhanced youth offer in 2021/22 that is currently being procured, including period of
dual running with the existing contractor.
Increased activity re. secure remand / reduction in grant funding from the Youth Justice Board. There has been a further
increase in activity that if it is sustained will lead to an overspend in addition to an in-year reduction in grant funding.
Staffing pressures across the division
External costs incurred in relation to 2020/21 but charged for in 2021/22
Additional demography related cost pressure - there have been increased numbers of care leavers in recent years (35%
increase since 2017/18) and the Independent Futures service is facing increasing capacity issues to meet increased demand.
This is creating an ongoing staffing cost pressure.
Potential underlying pressure in relation to care proceedings. Significant cost pressure in 2020/21, assumed will fall back
somewhat in 2021/22 - 2019/20 pressure used as a proxy for 2021/22
SEND transport related cost pressure in relation looked after children in out of borough provision
PIP funding extension agreed by the Department of Education but could not be accounted for as a receipt in advance –
grant income recognised in full in 2020/21, therefore this is a timing issue.
Increased demand for temporary accommodation - pressure estimated at £125k for 2021/22 based on average of 2019/20
and 2020/21 excluding COVID-19 impact.
Islington Trauma Informed Practices in Schools – structural shortfall to continue project. A business case is being prepared
to expand the project from 2022/23.
Commitments in Early Help against the multi-year budget provision (Fairer Together and Children’s). Income recognised in
full in 2020/21, therefore this is a timing issue.
Unallocated grant aid budget
Underspend against the budget for Lunch Bunch
Legal costs in relation to SEND appeals

0.233
0.052
0.927
0.565
0.292
0.094
0.084
0.393
0.250
0.110
0.075
0.262
0.127
0.080
0.119
0.125
0.118
0.853
(0.023)
(0.035)
0.050

Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure

0.167
Increase in operational capacity of SEND Team to meet significantly increased caseloads as per the agreed SEND strategy and in line with our statutory duties. This is an ong

Underspend

(0.100)
Forecast reduction in cost of universal free school meals due to an expected reduction in pupil numbers and an increase in government funded free school meal (FSM) eligibi

Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure
Non COVID-19 Income Pressure
Underspend
Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure

Increased cost of school uniform grants as FSM numbers increase
Increased cost of Post-16 bursary as FSM numbers increase
Unallocated budget for Islington Community of Schools
Staffing pressure in the arts service and cost pressures within business support

Of which CV-19 pressures

0.030
0.008
(0.025)
0.056
4.887

2.247

COMMUNITY WEALTH BUILDING
Corporate Landlord
Planning & Development

COVID-19 Loss of Income
COVID-19 Loss of Income

Corporate Landlord

COVID-19 Additional Cost

Corporate Landlord

COVID-19 Reduction in Cost

Lost income from Assembly Hall Events
Lost income due to reduction in levels of Planning activity
Anticipated expenditure likely to be incurred as a result of COVID-19 hygiene maintenance of Assembly Hall: Air Handling
System/Power upgrade to incorporate air handling/technological modification/IT/PPE
Reduced costs due to not holding events in Assembly Hall and reduced operation for Registrars

0.548
0.100
0.213
(0.061)

Total CWB

0.800

Of which CV-19 pressures

0.800

ENVIRONMENT
Environment & Commercial Operations

COVID-19 Loss of Income

Deferral of Rent received from GLL for most of 21/22

3.045

Environment & Commercial Operations

COVID-19 Loss of Income

Reduced levels of bay occupancy in 1st quarter

2.859

Environment & Commercial Operations

COVID-19 Loss of Income

Reduced levels of permits and vouchers in 1st quarter

0.787

Environment & Commercial Operations

COVID-19 Loss of Income

Reduced levels of commercial waste income in 1st half of year

1.375

Environment & Commercial Operations

COVID-19 Loss of Income

Reduced income in park sports/events in 1st half of year

0.120

Public Protection

COVID-19 Loss of Income

Shortfall in Registrars income

0.382

Public Protection

COVID-19 Additional Cost

Additional overtime/allowances/mortuary costs as a result of COVID-19

0.175

Public Protection

COVID-19 Loss of Income

Licensing/Table & Chairs/Pest Control - Reduced income in 1st half of year

Environment & Commercial Operations

COVID-19 Reduction in Cost

Anticipated reduction in levy due to reduced commercial waste sales

Environment & Commercial Operations

Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure

Net overspend on agency costs mainly due to annual leave cover

0.292

Environment & Commercial Operations
Environment & Commercial Operations

Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure
Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure

Net overspend on supplies/services and fees/charges throughout
Additional costs on financial charges & NSL/PCN debt registration

0.052
0.507

Environment & Commercial Operations

Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure

Additional costs on vehicle maintenance within SES

0.100

Public Protection
Public Protection

Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure
Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure

0.099
0.056

Department Wide

Underspend

Net overspend on employee costs as a result of the vacancy factor
Additional spend on running costs
Additional Parking income from Low Traffic Neighbourhoods roll-out, House in Multiple Occupation Licensing, Highways
recharge and other fee income

Total Environment

0.285
(0.700)

(5.867)
3.567

Page 73

Appendix 1: 2021/22 General Fund Key Variances - Month 6

Division

Type of Variance

Description

Of which CV-19 pressures

Over/(Under)
Spend
Month 6
£m

8.328

Fairer Together
We are Islington

COVID-19 Additional Cost

Total Fairer Together

We are Islington - Additional overtime/salary related expenditure incurred due to extra support and assistance provided to
vulnerable, isolating and communities at large.
Based on the assumption all savings will be delivered in 2021/22

Of which CV-19 pressures
HOMES & NEIGHBOURHOODS
Housing Needs
Housing Needs
Housing Needs
Housing Needs
Housing Needs
Housing Needs
Housing Needs
Housing Needs
Housing Needs
Housing Needs
Housing Needs
Total Housing

0.252
Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure
Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure
Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure
Underspend
Non-COVID-19 External Funding
COVID-19 Additional Cost
COVID-19
COVID-19
COVID-19
COVID-19
COVID-19

Additional Cost
Additional Cost
Loss of Income
External Funding
External Funding

0.698
0.093
(0.912)
(2.135)
0.000

Predominantly due to changes in staffing and delays in one-off Public Health projects

(0.112)

1.400

1.028

PUBLIC HEALTH
Other Public Health

Underspend

Sexual Health

Underspend

Smoking & Tobacco

Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure

Substance Misuse

Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure

Public Health
Public Health
Total Public Health

Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure
COVID-19 Additional Cost

Activity is expected to continue to be low for FY 21/22. Consequently the division will continue to pay tariffs based on
activity to NHS providers.
The Smokefree Pregnancy project has resulted in an overspend. To be funded by underspends initially. Income for this
project is being held in reserves. Other costs include stop smoking services for residents in supported accommodation.
Demand has continued to be high in the first quarter of 21/22. The department is still continuing with the commission of
withdrawal services and homelessness health services.
Small overspend in various other PH departments
Mainly due to an increase in online access to STI testing, treatment and online contraception

Of which CV-19 pressures

(0.684)
0.091
0.184
0.033
0.488
0.000

0.488

COVID-19 Additional Cost
COVID-19 Additional Cost
COVID-19 Additional Cost
COVID-19 Additional Cost
COVID-19 Additional Cost
COVID-19 Additional Cost
COVID-19 Additional Cost
COVID-19 Additional Cost
COVID-19 Additional Cost
COVID-19 Additional Cost
COVID-19 Additional Cost
COVID-19 Additional Cost
COVID-19 Additional Cost
COVID-19 Additional Cost
COVID-19 Additional Cost
COVID-19 Additional Cost
COVID-19 Additional Cost
COVID-19 Loss of Income
Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure

IT infrastructure costs
IT equipment purchased and shipped for people whilst WFH, chargers, mobiles, headphones etc.
Cost of additional helpdesk/engineer support (weekend work / overtime)
Resource Costs
Additional devices
Courier/Transport Cost
Software Subscriptions
Support/Maintenance costs as a result of COVID-19
Update Wi-Fi in key buildings to enable social distancing
Fit out Council Chamber for broadcast
Audio/Visual fit out
Project overrun
Digital Trainers
PSN Remediation & Compliance (COVID-19 delay)
Server 2008 migrations (COVID-19 delay)
Working From Home Support Scheme - IT and furniture
Delays on legal case management project
Lost income due to reduction in legal service in regards to planning and property matters
Due to various adhoc projects including restructure and civica update.

Of which CV-19 pressures

0.171
0.023
0.084
0.200
0.130
0.005
0.126
0.070
0.123
0.198
0.128
0.170
0.080
0.170
0.148
0.110
0.145
0.024
0.121
2.226

2.105

Directorates Total

17.548

Of which CV-19 pressures
CORPORATE
LCTS Hardship Scheme
Pay Inflation
Total Corporate Items

0.160
0.427
0.440
(0.414)
(1.641)
1.884

Legal Costs - Pertaining to challenges to housing decisions. Fees for defence and third party legal fees in cases of defeat.
Islington Lettings - Charges for voids and uncollected rent.
SHPS (Single Persons Homelessness Prevention Scheme) - Unbudgeted contract
Temporary Accommodation: Nightly Booked/PSL
Housing General Fund Non COVID-19 Grants
Homelessness services - Estimated cost of COVID-19 related cases in TA
Rough sleeping - accommodating and supporting those brought into alternative accommodation as a result of COVID-19.
Provision is through Hotels.
Housing - other excluding HRA: Non-Recourse to Public Funds and Incentive Payments to Landlords.
Other income losses - potential write offs of uncollected rent rising as a consequence of COVID-19 hardship.
RSI 4 Grant - Not strictly a COVID-19 Grant, but repurposed to support Rough Sleepers
Increased Housing Benefit due to additional cases
Based on the assumption all savings will be delivered in 2021/22

Of which CV-19 pressures

RESOURCES DIRECTORATE
Digital Services
Digital Services
Digital Services
Digital Services
Digital Services
Digital Services
Digital Services
Digital Services
Digital Services
Digital Services
Digital Services
Digital Services
Digital Services
Digital Services
Digital Services
Digital Services
Legal
Legal
General Overspend
Total Resources

0.252
0.252

18.155
COVID-19 Additional Cost
Non COVID-19 Cost Pressure

Local Council Tax Support Hardship scheme 2021/22 - Mirroring £150 deduction scheme provided in 2020/21.
Assumed cost of 2021/22 pay award (TBC), in contrast to pay freeze assumed at 2021/22 budget setting.

Of which CV-19 pressures

2.600
2.900
5.500

2.600
23.048
20.755

OVERALL GENERAL FUND

Of which CV-19 pressures
COVID-19 Grant Tranche 5 and COMF Allocation 2021/22
SFC Q1 Compensation (Initial Estimate)
Assumed Call on Contingency Budget
COVID-19 Contingency Budget
FORECAST NET GENERAL FUND

(11.714)
(2.423)
(2.900)
(5.500)
0.511

Page 74

Appendix 2: 2021/22 Budget Monitoring by Service Area - Month 6
GENERAL FUND

ADULT SOCIAL SERVICES
Adult Social Care
In House Services
Integrated Community Services
Learning Disabilites
Strategy & Commissioning
Total Adult Social Services

Net Budget

Forecast
Outturn

£m

£m

(24.582)
5.991
31.787
28.348
17.585
59.128

(25.282)
6.071
38.436
28.348
17.372
64.944

Of which CV-19 pressures
CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S DIRECTORATE
Chief Executive's Office
Communications
Total Chief Executive's

0.089
1.045
1.133

0.089
1.045
1.133

Of which CV-19 pressures
CHILDREN'S SERVICES
Young Islington
Safeguarding and Family Support
Learning and Culture
Early Intervention & Prevention
Strategy and Commissioing
Directorate
Total Children's Services

5.357
41.246
20.104
11.047
(0.527)
(0.100)
77.127

6.470
43.313
20.878
11.981
(0.527)
(0.100)
82.014

Of which CV-19 pressures
COMMUNITY WEALTH BUILDING
Community Finance Resilience
Corporate Landlord
Inclusive Economy
Planning & Development
Procurement
Total Community Weath Building

2.276
12.488
1.222
0.340
0.745
17.071

2.276
13.188
1.222
0.440
0.745
17.871

Of which CV-19 pressures
ENVIRONMENT
Business Performance & Improvement
Climate Change & Transport
Directorate
Environment & Commercial Operations
Public Protection
Total Environment

0.609
11.518
0.557
(11.462)
3.024
4.246

0.609
10.845
0.557
(7.331)
3.133
7.813

Of which CV-19 pressures
FAIRER TOGETHER
Strategy & Commissioning (Adults)
Customer Experience (Resources)
Voluntary & Community Services
Early Intervention & Prevention
Total Fairer Together

0.587
2.245
2.786
0.000
5.618

0.587
2.497
2.786
0.000
5.870

Of which CV-19 pressures
HOMES AND NEIGHBOURHOODS
Temporary Accommodation (Homelessness
Direct)
Housing Needs (Homelessness Indirect)
Housing Strategy and Development
Housing Administration
No Recourse to Public Funds
Community Safety
Total Homes and Neighbourhoods

2.685
1.224
0.069
1.015
1.116
0.339
6.448

1.784
2.054
0.069
0.997
1.205
0.339
6.448

Of which CV-19 pressures
PUBLIC HEALTH
Children 0-5 Public Health
Children and Young People
NHS Health Checks
Obesity and Physical Activity
Other Public Health
Sexual Health
Smoking and Tobacco
Substance Misuse

3.672
2.332
0.265
0.689
(20.917)
6.519
0.455
6.897

3.772
2.324
0.249
0.645
(20.957)
6.251
0.546
7.081

Page 75

Over/(Under)
Spend
Month 6
£m

Over/(Under)
Spend
Month 5
£m

Movement

(0.700)
0.080
6.649
0.000
(0.213)
5.816

(0.700)
0.080
7.142
0.000
(0.213)
6.309

0.000
0.000
(0.493)
0.000
0.000
(0.493)

2.907

3.218

(0.311)

0.000
0.000
0.000

0.000
0.000
0.000

0.000
0.000
(1.297)

0.000

0.000

0.000

1.113
2.067
0.774
0.934
0.000
0.000
4.887

0.830
2.775
0.634
0.904
0.000
0.000
5.142

0.283
(0.708)
0.140
0.030
0.000
0.000
(0.255)

2.247

2.830

(0.583)

0.000
0.700
0.000
0.100
0.000
0.800

0.000
0.700
0.000
0.100
0.000
0.800

0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000

0.800

0.800

0.000

0.000
(0.673)
0.000
4.131
0.109
3.567

0.000
(0.673)
0.000
5.611
0.160
5.099

0.000
0.000
0.000
(1.481)
(0.051)
(1.532)

8.328

8.304

0.024

0.000
0.252
0.000
0.000
0.252

0.000
0.252
0.000
0.000
0.252

0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000

0.252

0.252

0.000

(0.901)
0.830
0.000
(0.018)
0.089
0.000
0.000

(0.854)
0.653
0.000
(0.035)
0.236
0.000
0.000

(0.047)
0.177
0.000
0.017
(0.147)
0.000
0.000

1.028

0.934

0.094

0.100
(0.008)
(0.016)
(0.044)
(0.039)
(0.268)
0.091
0.184

0.000
(0.004)
(0.016)
(0.034)
0.003
(0.062)
0.042
0.071

0.100
(0.004)
0.000
(0.010)
(0.042)
(0.206)
0.049
0.113

Appendix 2: 2021/22 Budget Monitoring by Service Area - Month 6

Net Budget

Total Public Health

£m
(0.088)

Over/(Under)
Spend
Month 6
£m
£m
(0.088)
(0.000)

Forecast
Outturn

Of which CV-19 pressures
RESOURCES
Director of Resources
Digital Services
Digital Services Projects
Financial Management
Revenues & Technical Services

Community Finance Resilence
Internal Audit
Law & Governance
Human Resources
Transformation
Total Resources

0.959
13.375
0.000
2.563
3.462
(1.372)
0.682
2.926
2.822
0.884
26.301

1.134
13.376
1.936
2.563
3.412
(1.372)
0.672
3.096
2.825
0.885
28.527

Of which CV-19 pressures
Directorates Total

196.984

208.084

(91.909)
5.000
(25.648)
(99.249)
5.500
0.000
(2.615)
8.925
18.509
9.005
22.636
(15.047)
(24.594)
(14.514)
7.018
(196.984)
(0.000)

0.488

0.000

0.175
0.001
1.936
0.000
(0.050)
0.000
(0.010)
0.170
0.003
0.001
2.226

0.177
0.001
1.936
(0.001)
(0.050)
0.000
(0.017)
0.170
0.003
0.004
2.223

(0.002)
0.000
0.000
0.001
0.000
0.000
0.007
0.000
0.000
(0.003)
0.003

2.105
19.825

(3.574)

18.155

18.931

(0.776)

0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
2.600
0.000
2.900
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
5.500

0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
2.229
0.000
2.900
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
5.129

0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.371
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.371

(91.909)
5.000
(25.648)
(99.249)
5.500
2.600
(2.615)
11.825
18.509
9.005
22.636
(15.047)
(24.594)
(14.514)
7.018
(191.483)
16.601

0.000

0.488

2.105

Of which CV-19 pressures
TOTAL GENERAL FUND

Movement

17.548

Of which CV-19 pressures
CORPORATE
Business Rates Retention Scheme
Contingency
Corporate Financing
Council Tax
COVID-19 Contingency
COVID-19 Cross-Cutting Schemes
Cross-cutting Savings
Demographic Growth and Inflation
Levies
Pensions
Prior Year Collection Fund (Surplus)/Deficit
Transfer to/(from) Reserves
Revenue Support Grant
Specific Grants
Technical Accounting Adjustments
Total Corporate Items

Over/(Under)
Spend
Month 5
£m
0.000

0.000

2.600

2.229

23.048

24.954

(3.203)

0.371

Of which CV-19 pressures

20.755

21.160

(0.405)

COVID-19 Grant Tranche 5 & 21/22 COMF Allocation
Drawdown of Covid-19 Budget Provision
Assumed call on contigency budget for pay award
SFC Compensation (Estimate)
NET GENERAL FUND

(11.714)
(5.500)
(2.900)
(2.423)
0.511

(11.714)
(7.010)
(2.900)
(2.436)
0.894

0.000
1.510
0.000
0.013
(1.680)

Page 76

Appendix 2: 2020/21 Budget Monitoring by Service Area - Month 12
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT(HRA)
Service Area

Net Budget
£m
(160.528)
(18.261)
(1.600)
(1.947)
(15.700)
(2.397)
(22.855)
(0.990)
(0.816)
(19.010)
(0.500)
(244.604)
35.258
53.455
44.929
24.475
0.990
16.693

Dwelling Rents
Tenant Service Charges
Non Dwelling Rents
Heating Charges
Leaseholder Charges
Parking Income
PFI Credits
Interest Receivable
Contribution from the General Fund
Transfer from HRA Reserves
Other Income
Income
Repairs and Maintenance
General Management
PFI Payments
Special Services
Rents, Rates, Taxes & Other Changes
Capital Financing Costs
Depreciation (mandatory transfer to Major Repairs Reserve)
Revenue Contributions to Capital Expenditure
Bad Debt Provisions
Contingency
Transfer to HRA Reserves
Expenditure
(Surplus)/Deficit

Page 77

Over/(Under)
Spend
Month 6
£m
£m
(160.920)
(0.392)
(18.400)
(0.139)
(1.600)
0.000
(1.947)
0.000
(15.700)
0.000
(1.987)
0.410
(22.855)
0.000
(0.990)
0.000
(0.816)
0.000
(19.010)
0.000
(0.500)
0.000
(244.725)
(0.121)
35.846
0.588
53.757
0.302
44.929
0.000
24.475
0.000
0.990
0.000
16.693
0.000

Forecast Outturn

31.178

31.178

0.000

31.863
3.513
2.250
0.000
244.604
0.000

39.908
3.513
2.250
0.000
253.539
8.814

8.045
0.000
0.000
0.000
8.935
8.814

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 3: 2021/22 Transformation Fund Drawdowns

Directorate

Title

Forecast
Drawdown
2021/22
£m

Related
Saving(s)
£m

Adult Social Care

Learning Disability Reviews

0.011

Adult Social Care

Adult Social Care Transformation

0.426

Adult Social Care

Assistive Technology
ASC Strength Based Reviews (Annual Review of Packages of
Care)

0.500

0.500

0.113

1.880

1.050

4.898
1.447

Adult Social Care
TOTAL ADULT SOCIAL
CARE

2.518

Children's Services

Children's Social Care Transformation

1.248

Children's Services

Children's Transformation Manager

0.100

Children's Services

Foster Care Housing Adaptation Scheme (PM cost)

0.066

0.250

Children's Services
TOTAL CHILDREN'S
SERVICES

ASIP (Adolescent support intervention project)

0.354

1.554

1.768

3.251

Community Wealth Building

Corporate Asset Strategy

0.233

Community Wealth Building

Procurement Capacity

0.125

Community Wealth Building
TOTAL COMMUNITY
WEALTH BUILDING

FutureWork - Phase 1 Programme

2.557

Environment

SES Back Office System

0.400

Environment

People Friendly Streets

0.050

0.479

0.450

0.479

0.274

0.170

0.274

0.170

2.915

TOTAL ENVIRONMENT
Fairer Together

Resident Experience

TOTAL FAIRER TOGETHER

1.262

1.262

Homes & Neighbourhoods

Temporary Accommodation projects

0.084

0.300

Homes & Neighbourhoods
TOTAL HOMES AND
NEIGHBOURHOODS

Non Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) - reduction in caseload

0.046

0.150

0.130

0.450

Resources

Workforce Strategy

0.167

Resources

Applications upgrades

0.635

Resources

Business Support

0.100

Resources

Systems Review

0.050

Resources

IT Projects (net of COVID-19 related expenditure)

0.200

Resources

Finance Transformation

0.160

Resources

Intranet Re-design

0.180

Resources

Digital Experience Platform

0.500

0.722

TOTAL RESOURCES

2.214

TOTAL

8.801

Page 79

0.500

11.010

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 4: Capital Programme 2021/22
Housing/
Lead
NonHousi
Directorate
ng

Scheme

Original
Budget

M12
2020/21
Slippage

Budget
Changes

Current
Budget

Forecast
Outturn

Forecast
Variance

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

2021/22
Expendit
Forecast Confiden
Forecast
ure to
Spend
ce in
Reason for Variance
Spent to
Date
M7-M12 Forecast
Date
£m
%
£m
Dropdown
Dropdown

Non-Housing CWB

Compliance and Modernisation (nonhousing)
48 Seven Sisters Road

Non-Housing CWB

Finsbury Leisure Centre Development

Non-Housing CWB

Laycock Street

Non-Housing CWB

Jean Stokes community hub

0.600

Non-Housing CWB
Non-Housing CWB

GGF Affordable Work Space
Hungerford Rd Cladding Replacement

0.977 -

0.727
0.258

-

0.727
0.719

0.727
1.083

0.364

0.294
0.881

40%
81%

0.433 Medium
0.202 Medium

No Current Variance
Overspend

Non-Housing CWB

0.390

-

0%

0.578 Medium

No Current Variance

-

0.306
0.021

0%
-14%
-1030%

5.000 Medium
2.498 Medium
0.023 Medium

No Current Variance
No Current Variance
No Current Variance

0.003

1%

0.477 Medium

Reprofiling - Non CV-19

Non-Housing CWB

2.865

-

-

2.865

2.865

-

0.022

1%

2.843 High

No Current Variance

-

0.349

-

0.349

0.500

0.151

0.169

34%

0.331 Medium

Overspend

0.925

0.035

-

0.960

0.300 -

0.660

0.057

19%

0.243 Medium

No Current Variance

-

0.233

-

0.233

0.233

-

-

0%

0.233 Medium

No Current Variance

-

-

0.600

0.484 -

0.116

0.072

15%

0.412 Medium

Underspend

Greenspace - Whittington Park Hocking
Hall Community Centre Phase 1

0.941

0.027

-

0.968

0.578 -

Non-Housing CWB
Non-Housing Environment
Non-Housing Environment

Section 106/CIL Funded Schemes
Bunhill Energy Centre Phase 2
Cemeteries

5.000
-

2.073
0.002

0.119
-

5.000
2.192
0.002

5.000
2.192
0.002

Non-Housing Environment

Clerkenwell Green

1.781

-

-

1.781

0.480 -

Non-Housing Environment

Corporate CCTV Upgrade

1.500

0.224

-

1.724

1.724

-

-

0%

1.724 Medium

No Current Variance

Non-Housing Environment

Council Building Renovation (Special
Projects)

0.085

0.101

-

0.186

0.186

-

0.004

2%

0.182 Medium

No Current Variance

Non-Housing Environment

Energy - LED Lighting Upgrades

0.334

-

-

0.334

0.000 -

0.334

-

100%

-

Medium

Reprofiling - Non CV-19

Non-Housing Environment

Energy - Solar Panels on Corporate
Buildings

0.334

-

-

0.334

0.000 -

0.334

-

100%

-

Medium

Reprofiling - Non CV-19

Non-Housing Environment

Energy Services

-

0.441

-

0.441

0.190 -

0.251

0.094

49%

0.096 Medium

Underspend

Non-Housing Environment

Environment - Other
Extension of energy network to
Highbury West incl Harvist Estate

-

0.001

-

0.001

0.001

-

-

0%

0.001 Medium

No Current Variance

-

-

-

0.000

0.000

-

-

100%

-

0.021

0.612

Non-Housing Environment

1.301

-

-

Medium

No Current Variance

2%

0.882 Medium

No Current Variance

0.004

5%

0.066 Medium

Reprofiling - Non CV-19

Non-Housing Environment

Greenspace - Barnard Park Renewal

0.903

-

-

0.903

0.903

Non-Housing Environment

Greenspace - Bingfield Park (including
Crumbles Castle legacy)

0.682

-

-

0.682

0.070 -

Non-Housing Environment

Greenspace - Floodlight Upgrades

0.090

-

-

0.090

0.090

-

-

0%

0.090 Medium

No Current Variance

0.400

0.017

-

0.417

0.417

-

0.018

4%

0.399 Medium

No Current Variance

0.690

0.005

-

0.695

0.695

-

-

0%

0.695 Medium

No Current Variance

0.403

0.182
0.032

-

0.182
0.435

0.182
0.435

-

0.078
0.032

43%
7%

0.104 Medium
0.403 Medium

No Current Variance
No Current Variance

0.030 -

Non-Housing Environment
Non-Housing Environment
Non-Housing Environment
Non-Housing Environment
Non-Housing Environment
Non-Housing Environment
Non-Housing Environment
Non-Housing Environment
Non-Housing Environment

Greenspace - Greenspace (Park
Improvements)
Greenspace - Highbury
Bandstand/Highbury Fields
Greenspace - Other
Greenspace - New River Walk
Greenspace - Playground Water
Features
Greenspace - Tufnell Park all-weather
pitch
Greenspace - Woodfall Park
Improvements
Greenspace - Wray Crescent Cricket
Pavilion
Greenspaces - 3G Football Pitch
Replacement

0.039

-

-0.009

-0.009

0.400

-

-

0.400

0.000 -

-

-

0% -

0.009 Medium

No Current Variance

0.400

0.004

100% -

0.004 Medium

0.205

-

-

0.205

Reprofiling - Non CV-19

0.205

-

0.005

2%

0.200 Medium

0.219

-

-

No Current Variance

0.219

0.219

-

0.023

10%

0.196 Medium

-

-

No Current Variance

-

0.000

0.000

-

-

100%

1.400

0.309

-

1.709

1.709

-

0.453

27%

-

-

-

0.000

0.000

-

-

100%

-

Medium

No Current Variance

-

Medium

Reprofiling - Non CV-19

0.291 Medium

Reprofiling - Non CV-19

Non-Housing Environment

Highways

Non-Housing Environment

Islington Heat Networks

Non-Housing Environment

Leisure - Cally Pool

0.250

-

-

0.250

0.000 -

0.250

-

100%

Non-Housing Environment

Leisure - Leisure repairs/modernisation

0.100

0.168

-

0.268

0.453

0.185

0.162

36%

Non-Housing Environment

Leisure - Strategic Provision

-

-

0.000

0.000

-

-

100%

Non-Housing Environment

Leisure - Sobell Leisure Centre

0.445

-

0.445

0.445

-

-

0%

Non-Housing Environment

People Friendly Streets - Liveable
Neighbourhoods

1.950

0.050

-

2.000

0.000 -

2.000

-

4.243 -

3.996

Non-Housing Environment
Non-Housing Environment

People Friendly Streets - Low Traffic
Neighbourhoods
Public Realm - Kings Square Shopping
Area Public Space

0.247

-

3.996

0.547

-

-

0.547

-

100%

-

Medium

No Current Variance

1.256 Medium

No Current Variance

-

Medium

No Current Variance

0.445 Medium

No Current Variance

-

Medium

3.831 Medium

No Current Variance

-

0.16

4%

-

0.547

-

100%

0.050

-

0%

0.050 Medium

Reprofiling - Non CV-19

-

Low

No Current Variance
No Current Variance

Non-Housing Environment

Recycling Site Improvement

0.100

-

-

0.100

0.050 -

Non-Housing Environment
Non-Housing Environment

School Streets
Street Lighting

0.400
-

0.070

-

0.400
0.070

0.400
0.070

-

-

0%
0%

0.400 Medium
0.070 Medium

No Current Variance
No Current Variance

Non-Housing Environment

Traffic & Safety - Cycling

0.907 -

0.102

-

0.805

0.805

-

0.191

24%

0.614 Medium

No Current Variance

Non-Housing Environment

Traffic & Safety - Electric Vehicles

0.160 -

0.194

-

-0.034

-0.034

-

0.000

0.034 Medium

No Current Variance

Non-Housing Environment

Traffic & Safety - Enforcement

0.400

0.036

-

0.436

0.436

-

0.089

20%

0.347 Medium

No Current Variance

Non-Housing Environment

Traffic & Safety - Safety

0.778

0.179

-

0.957

0.957

-

0.144

15%

0.813 Medium

No Current Variance

Non-Housing Environment

Tree Planting Programme

0.239

-

-

0.239

0.239

-

-

0%

0.239 Medium

No Current Variance

Non-Housing Environment

Vehicle fleet electrification
(infrastructure)

3.566

0.200

-

3.766

2.750 -

1.016

0.01

0%

2.743 Medium

Reprofiling - Non CV-19

Non-Housing Environment

Vehicle Replacement

4.600

0.708

-

5.308

0.754 -

4.554

0.754

100%

0.000 Medium

Reprofiling - Partly CV-19

Non-Housing Adults

Adult Social Care

0.505 -

0.035

-

0.470

0.470

-

0.095

20%

0.375

Medium

No Current Variance

Non-Housing Childrens

Schools Major Works

0.250

0.649

-

0.899

0.211 -

0.688

0.057

27%

0.154

High

Non-Housing Childrens
Non-Housing Childrens

Schools Condition Works
Schools Matching

2.075
-

1.399
0.040

-

3.474
0.040

3.088 0.240

0.386
0.200

0.714
0.048

23%
20%

2.374
0.192

Medium
High

Reprofiling - Non CV-19
No Current Variance

Non-Housing Childrens

Early Years

1.249

0.149

-

1.398

0.948 -

0.450

0.326

34%

0.622

Medium

Reprofiling - Non CV-19

Non-Housing Childrens

Libraries

1.400

0.017

-

1.417

0.667 -

0.750

0.022

3%

0.645

Medium

Reprofiling - Non CV-19

Non-Housing Childrens

Adventure Playgrounds

2.100

0.094

-

2.194

0.502 -

1.692

0.064

13%

0.438

Medium

Reprofiling - Non CV-19

Non-Housing Childrens
Non-Housing Childrens

SEND
Childrens - Other
TOTAL - Non-Housing Programme

2.253
0.279
49.115

8.087

0.119

2.253
0.279
57.321

0.465 0.279
39.652 -

1.788
17.669

0.112
0.022
4.878

24%
8%
12%

0.353
0.257
34.774

Medium
High

Reprofiling - Non CV-19
No Current Variance
-

HRA Current New Build Programme General Fund Open Market Sales Units

15.909

1.665

-

17.574

12.222 -

5.352

4.067

Housing

Housing
General Fund

Page 81

0% -

33%

8.155 Medium

Underspend

Reprofiling - Largely CV-19

Appendix 3: Capital Programme 2021/22

Housing
Housing

Housing
Housing
Housing

Housing
General Fund
Housing
Revenue
Account
Housing
Revenue
Account
Housing
Revenue
Account
Housing
Revenue

HRA Pipeline New Build Programme General Fund Open Market Sales units

5.881

-

-

5.881

5.881

-

0.130

2%

Housing Revenue Account Major Works
and Improvements

40.000

-

-

40.000

34.038 -

5.962

15.753

46%

18.285 Medium

Reprofiling - Partly CV-19

HRA Current New Build Programme HRA Social Rented Units

64.412

6.662

-

71.074

49.486 -

21.588

16.466

33%

33.020 Medium

Reprofiling - Largely CV-19

HRA Pipeline New Build Programme HRA Social Rented Units

10.922

-

-

10.922

10.922

-

0.242

2%

10.680 Low

No Current Variance

-

-

0.550 Low

No Current Variance

8.327
16.414

0.119

Retrofitting Housing Estates - Pilot
Projects
TOTAL - Housing Programme
SUB TOTAL - Capital Programme

TOTAL - Capital Programme

0.550
137.674
186.789

186.789

16.414

0.119

0.550
146.001
203.322

203.322

0.550

-

-

113.099 152.751 -

32.902
50.571

36.658
41.536

124.608 -

78.714

Page 82

41.536

0%
32%
27%

27%

5.751 Low

No Current Variance

76.441
111.215
A central adjustment to the capital
forecast has been included due to the
low levels of expenditure to date
compared to full year forecasts. This
83.072 central adjustment extrapolates the
capital expenditure to date whilst
recognising that capital expenditure is
generally more weighted in the
second half of the financial year. As a

Agenda Item 6
Homes and Neighbourhoods Directorate
222 Upper Street, N1 1XR
Report of: Executive Member for Housing & Development
Meeting of

Date

Ward

Executive

25 November 2021

Finsbury Park

Delete as appropriate

Exempt

Non-exempt

APPENDIX 1 TO THIS REPORT IS EXEMPT AND NOT FOR PUBLICATION

SUBJECT:

Purchase of former Holloway Police Station

1.

Synopsis

1.1

The council has the opportunity to purchase the former Holloway Police Station site from The
Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC).

1.2

Purchase of the site would enable the council to deliver a mixed use development, which
includes at least 50% council rented accommodation, on the edge of the council’s existing
Andover Estate.

2.

Recommendations

2.1

To approve the purchase of the former Holloway Police Station site for a sum as set out in
the exempt Appendix.

2.2

To note that negotiations with MOPAC are ongoing to reach an agreed purchase.

2.3

To authorise the Corporate Director of Homes and Neighbourhoods in consultation with the
Corporate Director of Resources to conclude the negotiation and final terms of purchase of
the former Holloway Police Station site in accordance with the principles set out in the
Appendix and to instruct the Director of Law and Governance to enter into all necessary legal
documents to give effect to the agreed terms.

Page 83

Page 1 of 5

3.

Background

3.1

The building is a former purpose-built police station with external parking areas to the rear,
surrounded by a high wall. The building has been unoccupied for several years, which we
understand is still the case. The whole site is within the perimeter of the council’s Andover
Estate, one of the council’s largest and most deprived estates in the borough.

3.2

During 2018 the council worked up a scheme to develop a replacement facility for the
neighbouring Andover Medical Centre, with residential accommodation above, on the
Holloway Police Station site.

3.3

Detailed discussions took place with MOPAC and the GLA who advised the council to declare
itself a ‘Special Purchaser’ whereby MOPAC would consider an off-market sale. This was
based on the added value the council could provide, for example, in the additional quantum
of affordable housing that could be delivered.

3.4

However, following the announcement of the new government’s funding of 20,000 additional
police officers, MOPAC notified the council at the end of January 2020 that it would be
suspending the sale of the former Holloway Police Station building, pending a full asset
review that was expected to take at least a year, whilst MOPAC identified suitable
accommodation for its share of these additional police officers.

3.5

Since early 2020 contact has been maintained with MOPAC who approached the council in
early July 2021 after having received approval from the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime
to the disposal of the site, with the intention to compete a sale by the end of the current
financial year.

3.6

MOPAC has sought confirmation the council is still willing to acquire the former Holloway
Police Station.

3.7

This report seeks approval to purchase the site.

4.

Implications

4.1
4.1.1

Financial implications
Financial implications are included within the Exempt Appendix 1.

4.2
4.2.1

Legal Implications
The council has power under section 17 of the Housing Act 1985 to acquire properties for
housing purposes.

4.2.2

Section 120 of the Local Government Act 1972 gives the Council power to acquire land by
agreement for the purposes of (a) any of the Council’s functions under the Local Government
Act or (b) the benefit, improvement or development of the area.

4.2.3

The acquisition of the site for housing will fulfil the requirements of s120 as the provision of
housing is one of the council’s functions. In addition, the local area will arguably benefit from
the new homes, the enhanced environment and from the construction jobs created through
its development.

Page 84

Page 2 of 5

4.2.4

Section 120(2) of the Local Government Act 1972 further provides that where land is
acquired for a purpose and it is not immediately required for that purpose, it may be used for
the purpose of any of the council’s functions until it is required for the purpose for which it
was acquired.

4.2.5

Taken together these provisions give the Council adequate legal powers to acquire the
property for housing and to use it for other temporary uses in the interim period prior to
construction of housing.

4.3

Environmental Implications and contribution to achieving a net zero carbon
Islington by 2030
The design for a new building on the site of the former Holloway Police Station is at early
stage and will be progressed further if the council is successful in acquiring the site. Its
design and delivery will need to address the requirements that are common to all new council
housing developments, which must be zero carbon on balance in line with the London Plan.

4.3.1

4.3.2

Environmental implications will include those related to demolishing the existing building
(principally waste generation), the materials and energy required to construct the new
building, and ongoing energy and water use by the residents of the new building.

4.3.3

As set out within our new Design Guide and new Employer’s Requirements, the council’s new
housing developments are designed to be as low carbon as possible, both in terms of
embodied energy and operational energy use. We will achieve this through:
 reducing the embodied carbon within the building structure and fabric through careful
design and specification;
 following Circular Economy principles in the design of our buildings;
 achieving Passivhaus standard on the residential elements of the building, including a
highly efficient thermal envelope;
 minimising the potential for overheating through careful design of windows and
orientation to limit excessive solar gain;
 installing low carbon heating, hot water and lighting systems;
 maximising the amount of on-site microgeneration through the installation of photovoltaic
panels on the roofs.

4.3.4

All the remaining carbon emissions will then be offset by means of a payment to Islington
Council as part of the Planning approval process, the current rate of which is £95/tonne.

4.3.5

As part of the development we will also address the requirements of the London Plan and the
Islington Local Plan for achieving enhanced Biodiversity and specific Urban Greening Factors,
both contributing to lower carbon emissions and limiting urban heat gain. Our tree mitigation
strategy and associated guidance sets out how the impact of our developments on existing
trees is minimised wherever possible, and mitigated.

4.3.6

The development will be car free and it is situated on Hornsey Road which is served by the
91 bus route and is close to Seven Sisters Road bus routes. The development will also
include secure cycle parking spaces for residents and visitors.

Page 85

Page 3 of 5

4.4

Resident Impact Assessment

4.4.1

The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and
foster good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and those
who do not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The council has a duty to have due
regard to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in
particular steps to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, and encourage people to
participate in public life. The council must have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice
and promote understanding.

4.4.2

A Resident Impact Assessment is included as Appendix 2 to this report and acquisition of the
Holloway Police Station site will enhance the council’s existing plans to develop the Andover
Estate which have been underway for several years, as part of the council’s plans to invest
resources to meet its commitment to deliver 1,900 much needed genuinely affordable new
homes by 2022.

4.4.3

The site is located on the edge of the Andover Estate and construction of a new building
would not impact on the existing estate layout nor impact those residents with protected
characteristics. The provision of a minimum of 15 new social rent homes can be prioritised
for existing Andover Estate residents where their current needs are not being met by their
existing homes, as well as 10% of the homes being adapted for residents with physical
disabilities.

4.4.4

The Project Team will produce regular newsletters to Andover Estate residents which will
highlight the steps taken by the Project Team and the future contractor to ensure that the
needs of those with protected characteristics are considered and if necessary communicated
with directly in person. The contractor will be required to provide a dedicated resident liaison
officer and senior site manager who will be based on site and accessible to residents.

5.

Reasons for recommendations

5.1

Purchase of the site would enable the council to deliver a mixed use development, which
includes at least 50% council rented accommodation.

5.2

This approach would allow flexibility for the council to conclude a purchase within the
timeframe specific by MOPAC.

Appendices
Appendix 1 – Exempt
Appendix 2 – Resident Impact Assessment
Background papers
None

Page 86

Page 4 of 5

Signed by:

15 November 2021

Executive Member for Housing & Development

Report Author:
Tel:
Email:

Jonathan Fitch
020 7527 4283
Jonathan.Fitch@islington.gov.uk

Financial Implications Author:
Tel:
Email:

Lydia Hajimichael
020 7527 5160
Lydia.Hajimichael@islington.gov.uk

Legal Implications Author:
Tel:
Email:

Helen Coyle
020 7527 3082
Yasmin.Khan@islington.gov.uk

Page 87

Date:

Page 5 of 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 3

www.islington.gov.uk

Resident Impact Assessment

Purchase of Former Holloway Police Station from MOPAC
(Mayors Office for Policing and Crime)
Service Area: Housing New Build, Homes and Neighbourhoods

1. What are the intended outcomes of this policy, function etc?
The former Holloway Police Station on Hornsey Road is currently being sold off-market by
the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime. The site is located within the edge of the
council’s Andover Estate and has been vacant for a number of years. Acquiring the site
would enable the council to redevelop the site to provide new council housing that would
benefit the residents of the Andover Estate and elsewhere in the borough.

The New Build team’s scheme for the site would create a 5/6 storey block that would fit
into the councils overall masterplan for the Andover Estate and would create 30 unit of new
housing, delivering up to 21 units of social rent housing with 9 units for private sale. The
scheme also delivers commercial space on the ground floor which is intended to be divided
into two or three units, one of which can be affordable workspace.
Acquistion of this site would enhance plans to develop the Andover Estate which have been
underway for several years, as part of the council’s plans to invest resources to meet its
commitment to deliver 1,900 much needed genuinely affordable new homes by 2022.
As it strives for a ‘fairer Islington’, the council has championed community engagement and
leadership to achieve ‘buy-in’ from tenants and leaseholders on the Andover Estate,
ensuring residents have informed the decision-making and design process through the
creation of the Andover Estate Development Plan, followed by council-led and facilitated
community consultation sessions over a four year period.
The Andover Estate master plan was granted outline planning consent in November 2017,
subject to reserved matters being submitted, to deliver a total of 199 new homes on the
estate, including on council owned sites along the Hornsey Road. The acquisition of the
former Holloway Police Station site will enhance the revival of the commercial hub along
Hornsey Road as well as increase the number of new homes delivered to support the
growing population in the area.

Page 89

The first phase of the Andover Estate project obtained detailed planning approval in
November 2017. It will deliver the first 64 new homes outlined in the masterplan,
alongside new affordable workspace, improvements to the landscaping and the provision of
162 cycle parking spaces. A contractor has been appointed and works began in June 2021.
Islington Council as a Leader/Enabler
With nearly 1,065 homes occupying 10 hectares of land, Andover Estate is the largest
council estate within Islington, and has been identified as a valuable opportunity to
maximise space and increase housing within the area.
Andover Estate has become an ‘urban island’: despite its proximity to main transport hubs
and amenities, few people choose to walk through the estate due to its tangled network of
narrow streets and redundant public space. The wider scheme therefore not only focuses
on providing an increase in quality housing but also seeks to enliven the public realm by
improving connectivity and legibility of routes through the estate, helping to stitch it back
into the wider community.
Garages, many of which are unused, will be converted to provide affordable community
workspace on the ground floor with affordable new homes above. Small single aspect flats
will be converted into larger, dual aspect homes with improved access and security.
Redundant pockets of space located at key points around the edge of the estate, currently
fronted by blank gables, have been identified as sites for new build infill, with careful
consideration of massing and fenestration within the context. In response to local housing
demand, these new residential blocks will change from single bedroom apartments to
spacious family homes.
A proportion of the new build and refurbished flats will be wheelchair accessible, and where
new buildings adjoin old, lift and level access will be provided to ensure accessibility for all.

Page 90

2

2. Resident Profile
The table below provides a breakdown of those with protected characteristics living at Andover
Estate when compared to the boroughs population.
Borough profile

Andover Estate Resident
Profile

Total: 206,285
Gender

Female

51%

1,015 (50.3%)

Male

49%

851 (42.2%)

No Data recorded
Age

152 (7.5%)

Under 16

32,825

329 (16.3%)

16-24

29,418

212 (10.5%)

25-44

87,177

501 (24.8%)

45-64

38,669

454 (22.5%)

65+

18,036

337 (16.7%)

No Data recorded

160

185 (9.2%)
100%

Disability

Sexual
orientation
Race

Religion or
belief

Disabled

16%

206 (10.2%)

Non-disabled

84%

368 (18.2%)

No data recorded

0

1,444 (71.6%)

LGBT

No data

17 (0.8%)

Heterosexual/straight

No data

429 (21.3%)

No data recorded

No data

1,572 (77.9%)

BME

52%

602 (29.8%)

White

48%

396 (19.6%)

No data recorded

0%

1,020 (50.6%)

Christian

40%

283 (14%)

Muslim

10%

152 (7.5%)

Other

4.5%

33 (1.6%)

No religion

30%

78 (3.9%)

Religion not stated

17%

125 (6.2%)

No data recorded

0%

1,347 (66.8%)

Page 91

3

3. Equality impacts
•

Residents who occupy the new building would benefit from living in a modern, energy efficient
building which addresses issues such as disability through providing level access to all dwellings
as well as 10% of the homes being built to building regulation Approved Document M, category
3 standards. The new homes can be prioritised for existing Andover Estate residents with
physical disabilities where their current needs are not being met by their existing homes.

•

The Project Team will produce regular newsletters to Andover Estate residents which will also
bring to the fore the steps taken by the Project Team and the contractor to ensure that the
needs of those with protected characteristics are highlighted and if necessary communicated
with directly in person. The contractor will also provide a dedicated resident liaison officer,
senior site manager who will be based on site and accessible to residents and a site office.

•

In constructing the new homes on the former Holloway Police Station site the building works
will not change the existing layout of the Andover Estate but will change the interface between
the site and the Andover Estate where exisiting high walls are removed and the site better
integrated with Mingard Walk, the existing neighbouring building and Andover Road. It is
anticipated that whilst boundary works are underway, steps will be taken by the contractor to
minimise the impact of for residents, pedestrians and road users.

•

Those residents who are known to the Project Team to have disabilities will be communicated
with early on before the building works begin to ensure that steps can be taken to minimise the
difficulties they will experience when moving around the estate and in and out of the existing
buildings.

•

The proposed development will not have a negative impact on relations between residents who
live on the estate who have a protected characteristic and the rest of the population in
Islington. The project team will be required to produce monthly newsletters which will address
matters concerning all residents but will also bring to the fore the steps taken by the contractor
to ensure that the needs those with protected characteristics are highlighted and if necessary
communicated with directly in person.

4. Safeguarding and Human Rights impacts
a) Safeguarding risks and Human Rights breaches
If the former Holloway Police Station site is purchased, the development will take place on
the edge of the Andover Estate and will impact the residents who live in the immediate
surroundings. Construction access will be limited to Hornsey Road or to Andover Roads
only.
The Contractor will be required to undertake training with its workforce to ensure
employees understand members of the community who are greater risk and what forms

Page 92

4

these risks can take, how to spot human rights breaches and the responsibility every
employee has to address it or to seek advice and support on dealing with such breaches.

If potential safeguarding and human rights risks are identified then please contact
equalities@islington.gov.uk to discuss further:

5. Action
The actions needed to address the gaps identified in sections 3 and 4 above are set out in the
table below.
Action

Responsible person or
team

Deadline

Identify and communicate with people physical
disabilities.

Project Team

Prior to start on
site

Communicate with the Andover Community
Centre based within the estate.

Project Team

Prior to start on
site

Take steps during the contruction phase to
minimise the impact in the changing levels
around the estate.

Construction Team

Prior to start on
site

Please send the completed RIA to equalites@islington.gov.uk and also make it publicly available
online along with the relevant policy or service change.

This Resident Impact Assessment has been completed in accordance with the
guidance and using appropriate evidence.
Staff member completing this form:

Head of Service or higher:

Signed:

Signed:

Date:

18/10/2021

Date:

Page 93

19/10/2021

5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
Homes and Neighbourhoods Directorate
222 Upper Street, N1 1XR
Report of: Executive Member for Housing and Development
Meeting of:

Date:

Ward(s):

Executive meeting

25th November 2021

All

Delete as appropriate:

Exempt

Non-exempt

SUBJECT: The GLA/DLUH&C Allocation of Funding Programme to acquire 60
x 2 bedroom, 10 X 3 bedroom and 10 X 4 bedroom former ex-right
to buy properties for homeless households and the Afghanistan
humanitarian housing work
1.

Synopsis

1.1

The aim of this report is to advise the Executive of the outcome of a capital funding bid
made to the GLA to purchase 60 Ex Right to Buy 2 bedroom properties for homeless
households and to purchase 10 x 3 bedroom and 10 x 4 bedroom Ex Right to Buy
properties for the Afghanistan humanitarian housing work.

1.2

Islington Council is the first council in London to access this funding from the GLA.

2.

Recommendations

2.1

To approve the borrowing of £21.48m within the Housing Revenue Account to supplement
the funding provided by the GLA/DLUH&C to enable the council to purchase 60 Ex Right to
Buy two bedroom properties for homeless households; and to also approve the borrowing
of £10.362m within the Housing Revenue Account to supplement this funding provided by
the GLA/DLUH&C to enable the council to purchase 10 x 3 bedroom and 10 x 4 bedroom
Ex Right to Buy properties as part of the council’s Afghanistan humanitarian work.

2.2

To note the capital funding totalling £4.5 million allocated to Islington Council by the
DLUH&C/GLA and to commence the purchase 60 two bedroom former ex Right to Buy
properties in Islington to accommodate homeless households with a local connection to
Islington; in addition to this to note the capital funding totalling £1.900m allocated to
Islington Council by the DLUH&C/GLA and to commence the purchase 10 x 3 bedroom and
10 x 4 bedroom former ex Right to Buy properties in Islington to accommodate people
through the Afghanistan housing work.

Page 95

Page 1 of 5

2.3

To note the funding and to commence the purchase of these properties immediately.

2.4

To approve the budget increases as outlined in 4.1.3

3.

Background

3.1

Islington Council is currently accommodating 930 homeless households who are living in
temporary accommodation. This is the highest level of people living in temporary
accommodation for a considerable period of time due to the financial fall out of the
COVID19 pandemic.

3.2

The Mayor of London, Sadiq Khan has announced that Islington Council is the first borough
to secure funding from his Right to Buy Back scheme to secure long-term housing for
Afghanistan refugees and for homeless households.

3.3

London has a proud history of providing sanctuary to those in need and the Mayor of
London has made clear that he wants to do everything in his power to support Afghanistan
refugees to establish a long-term future in the city. In late August, as thousands of
Afghanistan people fled the advancing Taliban, the Mayor of London announced he was
expanding his new Right to Buy-back fund to help councils buy homes that can be used to
resettle families arriving from Afghanistan. In recognition of the emergency situation, the
Mayor of London agreed to provide increased funding for family-sized homes purchased
through the programme, which has led to Islington Council receiving this funding.

3.4

Islington Council has a long and proud history of offering sanctuary to people in need, and
Islington Council stand ready to help Afghanistan refugees in every way we can.

3.5

Homeless households are now spending longer periods of time living in temporary
accommodation due to the reduction of available council and housing association lettings,
again as a result of the effects of COVID 19. In addition to this the number of homeless
households living in temporary accommodation continues to increase.

3.6

Islington Council is the first council in London to secure this funding from the GLA which
was announced on the 13th July 2021.

3.7

This funding will secure 60 x 2 bedroom properties for homeless households, 10 x 3
bedroom properties and 10 x 4 bedroom properties for Afghanistan humanitarian work, with
all purchases resulting in the acquisition of Ex Islington Council Right to Buy properties.

3.8

The acquisition of these properties will ensure homeless households and people fleeing
Afghanistan are now provided with good quality accommodation locally in Islington to
enhance community well-being.

3.9

The current crisis underlines the importance of this funding. But it is not only needed for
those in expensive emergency temporary accommodation as a result of homelessness and
the financial effects of the pandemic. It is also required to provide longer-term homes for
those who need to live in Islington for employment reasons or to provide or receive support
from family and friends.

3.10

The aim of the programme is to boost delivery of affordable accommodation for homeless
households locally in Islington.

Page 96

Page 2 of 5

4.

Implications

4.1

Financial implications:

4.1.1

It is estimated that the combination of GLA (HRA) capital grant of £4.5m and HRA
borrowing of £21.48m will facilitate the purchase of 60 x two bedroom dwellings in Islington
for homeless households. It is also estimated that the combination of GLA (HRA) capital
grant of £1.900m and HRA borrowing of £10.362m totalling £12.262m will facilitate the
purchase of 10 x three bedroom dwellings and 10 x four bedroom properties in Islington for
up to £465k for the 3 bedrooms & up to £650k for the 4 bedrooms.

4.1.2

The financial viability assessment based on a 30 year cash flow indicates a breakeven
position based on rents being set at the relevant Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rate which
means the cost of HRA borrowing (interest) is covered by the net rental income received.

4.1.3

Although the overall impact on both the HRA budgets for the purchase of the 60 x 2
bedroom Ex Right to Buy properties is net nil the following increases in both expenditure &
income budgets are required in 2021-22:HRA EXP. Budgets
Capital (dwelling purchases) £25.98m
HRA INCOME Budgets
Revenue RCCO (short term) £21.48m
GLA (Capital) Grant £4.5m
In the medium term the HRA will be required to borrow £21.48m at a cost of around £645k
per year in interest to be funded from NET Rents £645k – these budgets will be adjusted in
a future budget setting cycle.

4.1.4

Although there is an overall net nil financial impact on the HRA for the acquisition of the 10
x 3 bedroom and 10 x 4 bedroom Ex Right to Buy properties the following expenditure &
income budgets will need increasing in 2021-22 & 2022-23.
The Director of Housing Needs & Strategy is confident all 20 purchases will be completed in
2021-22 as such an increase in the HRA Capital budget provision is required in 2021-22
totalling £12.262m.
To be financed from: HRA Borrowing of £10.362m & GLA Capital Grant of £1.900m
However, in the short term the borrowing will be covered by HRA reserves as such in 202122 the HRA RCCO budget will need to be increased by £10.362m.
In terms of the ongoing revenue impact the interest on borrowing (estimated at a prudent
3.5%) £363k per annum will be covered by the net rent. This will be included as part of the
2022-23 budget setting process any part year impact towards the last quarter in 2021-22
will be accommodated within existing HRA contingency.

4.1.5

In addition to the GLA capital grant, for the acquisition of the 10 x 3 bedroom and 10 x 4
bedroom properties the Council will receive central Government grant funding of £20.5k per
person (payable over 3 years) as part of Islington Council’s humanitarian work. It has been
estimated that this will enable the Council to provide the Afghanistan households with
financial support, over around a 4 to 5 year period, to cover both living expenses and any
shortfall in Housing Benefit arising as a result of the benefit cap being breached. In the
longer term it is anticipated that the Afghanistan families will either gain employment

Page 97

Page 3 of 5

(thereby removing them from the benefit cap) and or move on to alternative
accommodation. Should households move on It is anticipated that there will be ongoing
demand within the refugee community for these larger properties.
4.1.6

In order to avoid GLA grant claw back & for the Council to retain the full £4.5m GLA capital
grant for the purchase of the 60 x 2 bedroom properties for homeless households the
service needs to be provided for 30 years. At the end of the 30 year term, if the service was
no longer required, the Council would need to sell an estimated 20 of the 60 x 2 bedroom
dwellings in order to repay the debt the remaining 40 properties could be retained for
general needs purposes & let at social rent. In addition to this to avoid the GLA grant claw
back on the purchase of the 10 x 3 bedroom and 10 x 4 bedroom properties as part of the
Afghanistan humanitarian work and for the Council to retain the full £1.9m GLA capital grant
the service needs to be provided for 30 years. At the end of the 30 year term, if the service
is no longer required, the Council would need to sell an estimated 50% (10) of the 20
dwellings in order to repay the debt the remaining 50% (10) of the dwellings could
potentially be retained for general needs purposes & let at social rent.

4.1.7

There remains a risk that we cannot sustain the delivery of the service for the full 30-year
period, this could arise for example if the demand for temporary accommodation/two beds
declines over time or there is no longer a need for 3 and 4 bedroom properties.

4.1.8

In this event we would potentially have the option to sell. House prices in Islington have
risen by around 12% over the last 6 years so it is not unreasonable to assume we could sell
the dwellings if necessary & both repay the proportion of the grant claw back & redeem the
outstanding debt. Alternatively, there is also the potential option to convert the 3 & 4 bed
dwellings into smaller sized temporary accommodation provision for which ongoing long
term demand is anticipated.

4.2

Legal Implications:

4.2.1

The Council has legal duties under the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 to help secure
housing accommodation for people who are homeless or under threat of homelessness.
Under sections 9 and 17 of the Housing Act 1985 the Council has the necessary power to
acquire land and buildings for housing purposes to provide housing accommodation as
proposed in this report.

4.3

Environmental Implications and contribution to achieving a net zero carbon Islington
by 2030:

4.3.1

Purchasing 60 existing two bedroom properties, 10 existing three bedroom properties and
purchasing 10 existing four bedroom properties this will contribute positively to the council’s
environmental commitment, by purchasing existing properties and improving/reducing the
carbon outputs through the capital works programme and reducing the use of natural
resources.

4.4

Resident Impact Assessment:

4.4.1

The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and
foster good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and
those who do not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The council has a duty to have
due regard to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in
particular steps to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, and encourage people to

Page 98

Page 4 of 5

participate in public life. The council must have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice
and promote understanding.
4.4.2

S149(3) provides that having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity
between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not
share it involves having due regard, in particular, to the need to (a) remove or minimise
disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant protected characteristic that are
connected to that characteristic; (b) take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not
share it; and (c) encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is
disproportionately low.

4..4.3

This programme will contribute positively to the council equality of opportunity principles,
the Human Rights of individuals and the elimination of rough sleeping in Islington.

4.4.4

A Resident Impact Assessment was completed on the 21st May 2021, and is attached to
this report as Appendix 1.

4.4.5

As a public authority, the council must take account of the provisions of the Human Rights
Act 1998 and not act in a way, which is incompatible with a Convention right. Under Article
8, any interference with the right to respect for a person's private and family life and home
must be proportionate and Article 14 requires that there must be no unjustified
discrimination within the scope of human rights on any grounds, such as sex, race, colour,
language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, association with a
national minority, property, birth, or other status.

5.

Reason for recommendations

5.1

To assist the council’s commitment of ending homelessness in Islington

Appendices: Appendix 1 - Resident Impact Assessment
Background papers: None
Final report clearance:
Signed by:
16 November 2021
Executive Member for Housing and Development
Date
Report Author:
Email:

Ian Swift
Ian.swift@islington.gov.uk

Financial Implications Author:
Email:
Legal Implications Author:
Email:

Lydia Hajimichael
Lydia.Hajimichael@islington.gov.uk
Peter Fehler
Peter.Fehler@islington.gov.uk

Page 99

Page 5 of 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 101

Equalities impact assessment
Housing Allocations – 2020/21

Background
• This assessment will explore the impact of the Housing Allocations work undertaken by Islington Council between
April 2020 and March 2021.
• This will include demographic analysis of:
• The population approaching Islington Council to lodge a homelessness application,

Page 102

• The population who were housed, following a homelessness application
• The population currently on the borough’s housing waiting list
• And the borough’s overall population.

• This assessment will seek to identify any areas where the allocations process might have an undue impact on the
inequalities within the borough, with relation to the protected characteristics under the Equalities Act, 2010.

Background
• In the period studied, Islington Council received 1,051 homelessness applications, and housed 1,680 households
in permanent accommodation.

Page 103

• The Housing Register is taken as a snapshot at the end of March 2021, with 14,002 households on the Register.

Executive Summary
• The analysis shows that, in general, the profile of Islington's housing applicants and those allocated a new
property is slightly younger, more female, and much more heavily skewed towards people of colour than the
borough population.

Page 104

• While these groups are over-represented, relative to the borough's population, they are likely to be a
consequence of dependent children contributing to a priority need decision, and the ethnic inequalities in the
labour market and other factors that contribute to homelessness.
• Overall, there is no obvious indication of inequitable processing in the Housing allocations process.
• However, it should be noted that there is very little consistent recording of disability, and there is relatively
little recording of religion, marital status and sexual orientation. There may be value in improving recording of
these factors, to further inform future work in this area.

Gender

Page 105

• In 2020/21, 60% of applicants were
male, while 58% of people housed
were female.
• While this is a marked, and
statistically significant, difference, it
is likely to be explained by the
associations between gender and
factors that increase a person's
chances of being assessed as a
priority need for Council
accommodation.
• It is worth noting that this is a
change in pattern from previous
analysis, where the majority of
applicants have been female.

Gender

Page 106

• While the comparison between
applicants and housed populations
showed a stark difference by
gender, there is almost no
difference between those allocated
a property and the Housing
Register.

Gender

Page 107

• This chart compares the population
who have been housed this year
against the Islington population,
based on GLA estimates.
• The population who were housed
this year had a slightly higher
proportion of females than the
general population.
• The allocated population has a
portion of people with no recorded
gender, however it should be
assumed that this population would
be split fairly evenly between male
and female.

Gender
• This shows that while the housing applicant pool has a greater proportion of males than the general population,
the housed population and the housing register are both skewed towards females.

Page 108

• Previous years has shown less of a male skew in the applicant pool - 60% of applicants in 2016 were female,
while in 2018/19 and 2019/20 the applicant pool was 53% male. The skew this year suggests that there might
have been a significant Covid-impact on the applicant pool: this would tie in with other known changes in the
labour market and a substantial shift in the gender split of Universal Credit sign-ups among Islington tenants in
the first half of 2020.
• The fact that the housed population and housing register are both more female is in keeping with previous
analysis. Women are more likely to apply as a result of domestic violence than men, and they are also more
likely to apply with dependent children – these factors contribute to women being more likely to be housed or
to be added to the waiting list than men.

Age groups

Page 109

• In general, housing applicants are
slightly younger than those who
were housed.
• There are statistically significant
differences between those aged 1624 (with a higher proportion of
applicants than housed), and ages
65-74 and 75+ (which account for a
higher proportion of those housed).
• It should be noted, however, that
those aged 65 and over who are
being housed are almost
entirely transfers and mutual
exchanges, rather than fresh
applicants.

Age groups

Page 110

• While housing applicants tended to
be younger than those who were
allocated a new property, this chart
shows that those allocated a new
property are, in turn, also younger
than those on the Register.
• The age groups most likely to be
allocated a new property correlate
with ages most likely to have a
dependent child.
• Given that households can be on
the Housing Register for some time,
it also makes sense that this
population are likely to be older, on
average, as households will slowly
age.

Age groups

Page 111

• Compared against the general
population, the population housed
in 2020/21 were slightly younger.
• It should be noted that 10% of the
housed population had no recorded
age, though the age profile of those
is likely to be similar to those with a
recorded age.

Age
• These slides have shown that in general, people at all stages of the housing process are slightly younger than
the borough population. This is likely a result of home ownership and stable forms of employment being more
common among older adults.
• In general, the households allocated a new property this year are slightly younger than those on the Housing
Register.

Page 112

• These patterns are likely a consequence of dependent children counting as one of the priority need categories;
women accounted for two-thirds of people housed between the ages of 25-34, as well as 60% of those housed
between the ages of 16-24; both slightly higher ratios than the overall proportion of allocations that were for
female applicants (58%)

Ethnicity

Page 113

• There is no significant difference
between the ethnicity of Islington's
housing applicants and those
housed, in 2020/21.
• In both groups, 15% of households
had no recorded ethnicity, and a
further 3-4% opted not to provide
an ethnicity when asked.

Ethnicity

Page 114

• The Housing Register shows a
similar breakdown by ethnic group
to the overall applicant population:
• A quarter of households on the
Housing Register have no recorded
ethnicity, or declined to provide
their ethnicity.
• Of those with a recorded ethnicity,
most households are White.
• There is a statistically significant
difference between the proportion
of Asian households housed, and
the proportion on the waiting list.

Ethnicity

Page 115

• This chart shows that there is a
stark difference between the
ethnicity make-up of the borough
population and the population who
were housed in 2020/21.
• The borough's adult population,
based on GLA estimates, is 71%
White, compared to a third of
applicants and households who
were housed and had a recorded
ethnicity.

Ethnicity
• These slides have shown that while the borough population is almost three-quarters White, this ethnic group
only accounts for around a third of households at each stage of the Council's homelessness process.
• This is in keeping with previous analysis on Islington's housing data, which found that people from Black and
Other ethnic groups are more likely to apply for, and be accepted as, statutory homeless than people from
White ethnic groups.

Page 116

• The previous analysis found that this pattern held true even after adjusting for other risk factors, such as age,
gender, and deprivation.
• This suggests that individuals from Black and Other ethnic groups are being disproportionately affected by the
upstream factors that lead to homelessness (challenges in the labour market, mental ill-health, physical
disability, inaccessible housing market, etc.).
• There is a statistically significant difference between the housed and waiting list populations, in terms of the
representation of Asian households. This may be a sign that Asian households are disadvantaged in
the allocations process, but it may also be explained by other factors – for example the average household size
for Asian families on the Waiting List is 3.2 persons per household, compared with 2.9 for Black households, and
2.6 for White and Mixed households.

Disability

Page 117

• This data shows that there are no
applicants with a disability status
recorded, within the applications or
allocations.
• A fairly small portion have no
disability status recorded, in both
groups.
• The data suggest no clear problem
with equalities impact, however this
does imply an unusually low level of
disability within both populations.

Disability

Page 118

• Only a very small number of
households on the Housing Register
have a disability recorded against
their record.
• By contrast, the Housing Register
also has a high number of cases
with no disability status recorded.

Disability
• These slides show that there is very little recording of disability among housing applicants, those allocated a
new property, or on the waiting list.

Page 119

• These figures are surprisingly low throughout, however for the available data there is no indication of inequality
in processing.

Religion

Page 120

• A high proportion of households
have no religion recorded.
• Focusing on those with a recorded
religion, the figures are similar:
• Christians account for 30% of
applications and 29% of
allocations;
• Those with no religion account
for 25% and 14%;
• Muslims account for 15% and
25%.

Religion

Page 121

• There is a higher rate of religion
recording among households on the
Housing Register.
• Here, only 35% of households are
missing a religion recording.
• Again, once the ‘Not recorded’
category is removed, the
proportions are broadly similar:
• Christians account for 34% of
the Housing Register and 29%
of those housed,
• Muslims are 19% of the
Housing Register and 25% of
those housed,
• Non religious households are
26% of the Register and 29%
of those housed.

Religion
• The clearest pattern from this analysis is that there is a low level of data recording for religion.
• There is a logical explanation for this, given that religion is not a key determinant of a person's eligibility for
housing support, though it does inhibit equity analysis.

Page 122

• Focusing on the remainder with a recorded ethnicity, there is little evidence of inequity: slightly higher
proportions of those recorded as Christian or Muslim were housed and fewer of those with no religious
background, relative to the applicant population, however these differences are not statistically significant.

Sexuality

Page 123

• Overall, most applicants either have
no recorded sexual orientation, or
are recorded as heterosexual.
• 10% of applicants prefered not to
disclose their sexual
orientation, compared to 13% of
allocations.
• Small portions of applicants and
allocations were gay, bisexual, or
lesbian.

Sexuality

Page 124

• The households allocated in
2020/21 are similar to those on the
Housing Register.
• A slightly higher proportion on the
Housing Register preferred not to
disclose their sexual orientation, but
this is the only difference of note.
• Of those with a recorded sexual
orientation, there is no
statistical difference between the
categories.

Sexuality
• A substantial minority of cases do not have a recorded sexual orientation, and a further 10-15% of cases
preferred not to share their sexual orientation when asked.

Page 125

• As with religion, this is somewhat expected as the category in itself is not relevant to a housing application,
however it slightly restricts analysis of equity in service delivery.
• When comparing only those cases with a recorded sexuality, over 90% of applications, allocations, and cases on
the Housing Register are heterosexual. This is broadly in line with national figures for the general population:
the ONS reported in 2018 that 94% of the national population identify as heterosexual.
• The lesbian, bisexual, and gay populations may be slightly over-represented in Islington's housing pools: 2.8%
of London adults identified as LGB which is similar to Islington's housing profile: 4.5% of applicants were
LGB, and 3.6% of allocations, and 6% of the Housing Register. However, this is likely to be explained by
Islington's younger age profile than most of London, and in turn those applying for statutory homelessness and
being housed are younger again than the general population.
• Interestingly, reported reasons for loss of accommodation do not appear to vary by sexuality - there is no
indication, for example, that LGBTQ+ applicants for statutory homelessness were more likely to have been
asked to leave by family.

Pregnancy
• 1.1% of households housed in
2020/21 involved a pregnant
woman, compared to 1.0% of the
applicants.

Page 126

Pregnancy
• 1.1% of households housed
in 2020/21 involved a
pregnant woman, compared to
0.8% of the Housing Register.

Page 127

Pregnancy
• There is little difference between the level of pregnancy in the applicant pool and those housed, or on the
Housing Register.
• The very slightly higher rate of pregnancy among those housed is to be expected, given the priority need
attached to having a dependent child or pregnancy.

Page 128

• The rate of pregnancy in the allocations pool is slightly higher than the national average – ONS data for 2019
puts the number of live births per year at 640,000 which would equate to approximately 0.8% of the population
being pregnant at a single point in time.

Marital status

Page 129

• The relationship data in the housing
population suggests that only 2.6%
of housing applicants, and 7.0% of
those allocated are married or in a
civil partnership.

Marital status
• This shows that there is a slightly
higher rate of marriage and civil
partnership among those on the
Housing Register.

Page 130

Marital status
• The very low rate of marriage and civil partnership suggests that there may be some gaps in the Housing data,
as this is a relatively low proportion – 50.2% of the population of England and Wales are currently married or in
a civil partnership according to ONS data.

Page 131

• However, this may also point towards the factors that make a homelessness application more likely; single
parent families are more likely to be at risk of homelessness through financial difficulties, or as a result of
relationship breakdown, for example.
• Based on the data that are available, there is no indication that people in marriages or civil partnerships are
experiencing any level of discrimination in the allocations process.

Conclusion
• This slide pack explores the available data on the nine equalities strands for Islington's homelessness
applicants, housing allocations, and people on the housing register.
• There are some differences in experience by age, gender, and ethnicity; however these are most likely to
be logical consequences of the allocations process. Women, and particularly young women, are more likely
to be allocated a property as they are most likely to be a priority need through caring for a dependent child or
being a survivor of domestic abuse.

Page 132

• Similarly, people from Black and Other ethnic groups in particularly more likely to apply for homelessness
support relative to the borough population. Given that the ethnic breakdown of households allocated a new
property reflect the ethnicity profile of those applying, and on the waiting list, it suggests that the differences by
ethnicity are a consequence of upstream causes of homelessness rather than a result of inequitable treatment in
the allocations process.
• Overall, there is no obvious indication of inequitable processing in the Housing allocations process.
• However, it should be noted that there is very little consistent recording of disability, and there is relatively
little recording of religion, marital status and sexual orientation. There may be value in improving recording of
these factors, to further inform future work in this area.

FURTHER INFORMATION

Page 133

About Public Health Knowledge, Intelligence and Performance team
Public Health KIP team is a specialist area of public health. Trained analysts use a variety of statistical and epidemiological methods to
collate, analyse and interpret data to provide an evidence-base and inform decision-making at all levels. Camden and Islington’s Public
Health KIP team undertake epidemiological analysis on a wide range of data sources.
All of our profiles, as well as other data and outputs can be accessed on the Evidence Hub at: https://www.islington.gov.uk/about-thecouncil/islington-evidence-and-statistics

About the Equalities Impact Assessment: Housing Allocations
This data pack/profile was produced by David Clifford, Principal Public Health Intelligence Specialist, and Tara Hendry-Boord, Data Officer,
reviewed and approved for publication by Mahnaz Shaukat, Head of Health and Care Intelligence.
Contact: David.Clifford@islington.gov.uk
We would also very much welcome your comments on these profiles and how they could better suit your individual or practice requirements, so
please contact us with your ideas.
© Camden and Islington Public Health KIP team PHASS@islington.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Homes and Neighbourhoods
222 Upper Street, N1 1XR
Report of: Executive Member for Housing & Development
Meeting of:

Date:

Ward(s):

Executive

25 November 2021

All

Delete as appropriate

Non-exempt

SUBJECT: Procurement Strategy for out-of-hours drainage works,
in-hours backup support for repairs team and all
drainage excavation repairs (including collapsed pipes)
1.

Synopsis

1.1

This report seeks pre-tender approval for the procurement strategy in respect of out-of-hours
drainage works, in-hours backup support for the repairs team and all drainage excavation
repairs (including collapsed pipes) in accordance with Rule 2.7 of the Council’s Procurement
Rules.

1.2

This strategy is to deliver all out-of-hours drainage repairs and in-hours backup support for the
repairs team. The contract will also include all drainage excavations and the repair of collapsed
pipes.

2.

Recommendations

2.1

To approve the procurement strategy for out-of-hours drainage works, in-hours backup
support for the repairs team and all drainage excavation repairs (including collapsed pipes) as
outlined in this report.

Page 135

Page 1 of 9

2.2.

To delegate authority to award the contract to the the Corporate Director of Homes and
Neighbourhoods, in consultation with the Executive Member for Housing and Development,
following completion of the tender process.

3.

Background

3.1

Nature of the service
The in-house drainage team consists of six operatives and provides most standard in-hours
drainage repair work, for example, jet washing to clear blocked drainage pipes. Currently, the
in-house drainage team is supported through a contract, which is due to expire.
In addition to the standard drainage repair work, some drainage repairs are specialist, for
example, remote inspection and repair of collapsed drains, drain lining, and excavation to
repair communal drainage pipework. The in-house repairs team cannot facilitate this work due
to its specialist nature and not having access to the skills to use the type of specialist
equipment required to complete this more technical work.
The drainage related workload is weather dependent and characterised by peaks and troughs.
Due to the end of PFI 2, approx. 4000 additional properties will come back in-house in April
2022, so the workload and fluctuation will likely increase further.
Therefore, a contractor with the necessary equipment and expert knowledge is required to
carry out the specialist work, provide the out-of-hours repairs, and support the in-house team
during busy periods and seasonal spikes.

3.2

Estimated Value
The estimated aggregate value of this contract is £4,608,000 (£512,000 per year) based on a
maximum contract term of one hundred and eight (108) months. The initial term will be 36
months, with the option to extend for a further three (3) periods of up to 24 months each. Any
extensions will be subject to satisfactory performance.
The estimated value is based on the contract spend, and it factors in the planned return of
PFI2 properties to the council in 2022.
The spend on the current contract was £430,835 in the last 30 months. In order to account for
the seasonal peaks that occur with drainage and to provide a contingency, the annual cost is
estimated to be £175,000.
The annual value for the drainage excavation is £303,000.
There were only two years of PFI2 drainage data available but considering the new contract
will mainly cover out-of-hours repairs, the estimated budget is £34,000.
The total estimated annual value for this contract is £512,000.
This contract will be funded using an existing budget for drainage repairs and excavation from
the Housing Revenue Account (HRA). There is not likely to be any financial savings that can be
made within this contract, as the market is not very competitive and the number of companies

Page 136

Page 2 of 9

providing the specialist excavation works and equipment is limited. In addition, the existing
infrastructure is old, and some unpredictable challenges are possible when the PFI2 stock,
which includes some old Victorian properties, comes back in-house.
However, the new price framework will include a fixed schedule of rates elements for items or
repairs that are likely to occur regularly, enabling quicker and more accurate spend forecasting .
In addition, we will work with the contractor, who might have some new and more advanced
equipment, to reduce the cost and increase residents’ awareness, so the misuse of the
drainage system is minimised.
A budget reduction during the contract term would delay the drainage repairs, potentially
leading to flooding or back surging of waste and/or foul water into residential properties. This
could lead to property damage, negative impact on residents’ health and the council’s
reputation.
3.3

Timetable
The timetable for this procurement is:
Approval of Procurement Strategy

25 November 2021

Open tender published
Contract award
Contract start

January 2022
May 2022
August 2022

The council will consult with leaseholders in accordance with the Landlord and Tenant Act.
3.4

Options appraisal
The preferred procurement route is a competitive open tender procedure.
The required works are clearly defined, with specific outcomes, and a competitive tender will
provide the council with the opportunity to evaluate the best value for money. Based on the
current market knowledge and a limited number of companies offering the required service, it
is anticipated that only a small number of organisations will respond. Before publication, the
market will be engaged to stimulate competition. Furthermore, an open tender is ‘open’ to all
organisations who express interest, and it tends to generate a higher response rate. Therefore,
an open tender is most likely to be successful.
A Framework Agreement is the quickest route to market. Therefore, a number of frameworks
relating to constructions were investigated, but none offers the required services.
Collaboration allows for financial savings. However, this is dependent on all parties having
similar service requirements and delivery models. The differences in service delivery between
neighbouring boroughs (including timescales for delivery and how the works are managed and
IT systems used) would require significant funding and time to resolve, which makes
collaboration not possible at this time.
The existing in-house repairs team delivers a large proportion of the day-to-day drainage
repairs for council residents in Islington. However, some drainage works that, due to their
specialist nature and equipment required, cannot cost-effectively be fulfilled in-house.
Expanding the team and in-sourcing the works would give the council full control over the

Page 137

Page 3 of 9

service delivery, but this would require significant upskilling of the in-house repairs team and
the purchase of specialist equipment. In addition, drainage works are characterised by periods
of peaks and troughs and external input is only required when the demand for the service is
high. Expansion of the existing in-house team is not the preferred option, as an additional
workforce would not be utilised outside of the peak periods.
3.5

Key Considerations
Proposals for social value will be evaluated by using the National Themes, Outcomes and
Measures (TOMs) Framework. Additional weighting will be put on measures relating to the
‘outcome’ “More local people in employment” to encourage providers to focus on this area in
their offer for delivering social value. The contract will require that the successful tenderer
provides apprenticeship opportunities for the local residents as a minimum requirement.
Additional social value contributions may include work placements, job shadowing, work
experience and training opportunities for residents. The delivery of social value will be achieved
with the support of the Council’s iWork team and in conjunction with the Employment Team. It
will focus on opportunities for local residents, especially those who are disadvantaged in the
labour market.
Additional weighting may also be put on the ‘theme’ “Supporting Growth of Responsible
Regional Business” to promote the contractors to commit to the use of local suppliers where
possible. Such commitment will increase local economic growth and help with local
employment opportunities. It will also lower the carbon footprint by reducing unnecessary
vehicle journeys and offer overall contract efficiencies such as attending site quicker and
timeliness of work execution.
A higher weighting may also be put on the ‘theme’ “Environment: Decarbonising and
Safeguarding our World” supporting the council’s commitment to reducing C02 emissions and
air pollution within the borough, and the use of sustainably sourced materials and energysaving parts.
London Living Wage will be included as a condition of the contract.
There may be TUPE implications resulting from this contract.

3.6

Evaluation
The tender will be conducted in one stage competitive procedure, known as the Open Tender,
as it is ‘open’ to all organisations who express an interest. The Open Tender includes minimum
requirements, which organisations must meet before their bid is evaluated.
The contract will be awarded to the Most Economically Advantageous Tender (MEAT), and the
award criteria will be set at 40% price and 60% quality, of which 20% will be social value. The
social value will be evaluated by using the National TOMs Framework.
The price criteria (40%) will be assessed by evaluating the submitted financial offers within the
pricing schedules returned.
The quality criteria will be assessed by evaluating the following:

Page 138

Page 4 of 9





3.7

Proposed approach to social value, including reducing carbon footprint and promoting
opportunities for local residents (20%)
Proposed approach to managing the delivery of service (20%)
Proposed approach to communication and customer service (10%)
Proposed approach to quality assurance and health and safety (10%)

Business Risks
Islington Council has a duty to ensure residents have a fresh, mains water drinking supply and
properties are free of blockages and/or leaks to foul drains, soil stacks and toilets, as part of
The Secure Tenants of Local Housing Authorities (Right-to-Repair) Regulations 1994. Failure to
carry out repairs for this, due to a break-in delivering the service, would result in the council
not complying with the regulations and potentially liable to pay compensation.
Residents rely on the council to deliver repairs to keep their homes in a good state of repair.
Failure by the council to meet its obligations could adversely impact residents, mainly due to
the health and safety implications of the nature of the work involved. This also carries a
reputational risk for the council. Leaseholders pay service charges for appropriate repairs and
expect they will be carried out effectively. These risks can be mitigated by ensuring this
contract is procured within the given timescales.
There is a risk the contractors cannot meet volumes of work. This risk is managed by precise
requirements set out within the specification and rigorous assessment at the method statement
stage within the tender.
The key risks associated with this procurement are:

3.8

Risk

Likelihood Impact

Priority

Mitigation

Procurement is
unsuccessful with no
suitable supplier
tendering.

Medium

High

Medium

Delays to the
Medium
procurement process
resulting in postponing
the mobilisation of a
new supplier.
The successful
Low
tenderer pulls out of
the contract before the
start of the contract.

High

Medium

An Open tender will be used to
stimulate the response rate.
Interim emergency measures
will be sought, and a plan to reprocure put in place.
A project plan is in place, and
the Project Procurement team
will ensure the key milestones
are met.

High

Medium

Interim emergency measures
will be sought, and a plan to reprocure put in place.

The Employment Relations Act 1999 (Blacklist) Regulations 2010 explicitly prohibit the
compilation, use, sale or supply of blacklists containing details of trade union members and
their activities. Following a motion to full Council on 26 March 2013, all tenderers will be
required to complete an anti-blacklisting declaration. Where an organisation is unable to
declare that they have never blacklisted, they will be required to evidence that they have 'selfcleansed'. The Council will not award a contract to organisations found guilty of blacklisting
unless they have demonstrated 'self-cleansing' and taken adequate measures to remedy past
actions and prevent re-occurrences.

Page 139

Page 5 of 9

3.9

The following relevant information is required to be specifically approved by the Executive in
accordance with rule 2.8 of the Procurement Rules:
Relevant information

Information/section in report

1 Nature of the service

The council is intending to procure one supplier to
deliver a borough-wide drainage related repairs and
excavations contract.
See paragraph 3.1

2 Estimated value

The estimated value per year is £ 512,000.
The agreement is proposed to run for a period of
thirty six (36) months with an optional three (3)
extensions of twenty four (24) months.
See paragraph 3.2

3 Timetable

Advert – January 2022
Award – May 2022
Mobilisation – June-July 2022
Contract Start – August 2022
See paragraph 3.3

4 Options appraisal for tender
procedure including consideration of
collaboration opportunities

Open Tender

5 Consideration of:
Social benefit clauses;
London Living Wage;
Best value;
TUPE, pensions and other staffing
implications

London Living Wage and social benefit clauses will be
included as part of the contract terms. Best value is
considered as part of the specification, award criteria
and delivery of the service. There may be TUPE
implications.

6 Award criteria

40% price and 60% quality, of which 20% will be
social value. The award criteria price/quality
breakdown is more particularly described within the
report.

See paragraph 3.4

See paragraph 3.5

See paragraph 3.6
7 Any business risks associated with
entering the contract
8 Any other relevant financial, legal
or other considerations.

See paragraph 3.7
See paragraph 4.1 - 1.4

Page 140

Page 6 of 9

4.

Implications

4.1

Financial implications:
This contract is estimated to cost £512k per annum. This is comprised of £478k for existing
stock and £34k for returning PFI2 properties.
Currently, there is no budget allocation for PFI2, but provison to fund for these properties has
been made in the latest 30-year HRA business plan (updated Sep 2020). PFI2 properties are
still new within Repairs, so finance will monitor these closely to understand the true impact it
will have to the budget.
The cost of providing this service for existing stock (£478k) is funded from the Housing Repairs
Subcontractor budget (£3.3m in 2021/22).
This budget is used to fund all responsive repairs subcontractors. In recent years, the
subcontractor budget has experienced increased pressures. This has resulted in overspends to
the subcontractor budget, which was managed within the overall context of Housing Repairs &
Maintenance. It is expected that any future subcontractor pressure will be managed in the
same way.
There is a risk that current level of underspends in other areas of Repairs cannot be
maintained in the future. If this cannot be sustained, then any pressures m ay result in the use
of HRA reserves. Finance will monitor this closely and will alert management should any
pressure arise.

4.2

Legal Implications:
The council has power to enter into a contract for the carrying out of drainage and ancillary
services under section 1 of the Local Government (Contracts) Act 1997.
The estimated value of the proposed contract exceeds the financial threshold for public
services contracts for the full application of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. Contracts
above this threshold must be procured with advertisement in Find A Tender and with full
compliance of the Regulations.
The council’s Procurement Rules also require contracts of this value to be subject to
competitive tender.
The proposed procurement strategy to advertise a call for competition and procure
the service using the open tender process is in compliance withthe principles underpinning the
Regulations and the council’s Procurement Rules.
On completion of the procurement process the contract may be awarded to the highest
scoring tenderer subject to the tender providing value for money for the council.
The Executive may delegate the decision on the award of the contract to the Corporate
Director of Homes and Neighbourhoods, in consultation with the Executive Member for Housing
and Development (Paragraph 8.1, Part 3 Constitution).

Page 141

Page 7 of 9

4.3

Environmental Implications and contribution to achieving a net zero carbon
Islington by 2030:
Carrying out drainage repair work has several environmental impacts. The nature of the service
means that sufficient quantities of water need to be used to carry out the drainage works
successfully. Noise and dust will be generated when accessing drainage pipes and when
blockages are removed. The works might require the use of chemicals and groundwork
materials which may damage biodiversity if used incorrectly. The energy for the plant and
equipment used on-site might be powered by fossil fuels. In addition, the contractor will be
using vehicles to arrive at and deliver materials to sites, which will contribute to congestion and
air pollution (unless electric vehicles are used).
Provision will be made within the contract specification and contractor selection criteria to
mitigate the impact for each of the above, concerning relevant legislation and the stipulation
that the contractor must adhere to the requirement of the Councils Housing HSE Code of
Conduct for Contractors and appropriate legislation.
The contractor will have to ensure that waste materials and water loss are kept to a minimum
and that waste leaving sites is reused or recycled where practicable.
The contractor will be required to minimise the use of water, chemical and materials, recycl e
waste where at all possible, and ensure that any waste disposal is done legally. In addition, the
contractor will have to store, use and dispose of any chemicals following manufacturer’s
guidelines and, where possible, use recycled or sustainably produced materials.
The contractor will also be encouraged to use low or zero-emission vehicles and install energysaving replacement parts where possible and compatible.

4.4

Resident Impact Assessment:
The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and
foster good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and those
who do not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The council has a duty to have due regard
to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in particular steps
to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, and encourage people to participate in public
life. The council must have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice and promote
understanding.
A Resident Impact Assessment was completed on 18 June 2021, and the summary is included
below. The complete Resident Impact Assessment is appended.
It is anticipated that the delivery of this service will not negatively impact any persons within
the protected characteristics groups. The delivery of the contract will positively impact all
residents, including those with protected characteristics, as it is designed to ensure that council
properties and estates are maintained to a high standard and its residents have access to the
necessary sanitation.

Page 142

Page 8 of 9

5.

Reason for recommendations

5.1

Islington Council must ensure residents’ properties are free of blockages and/or leaks to foul
drains, soil stacks and toilets, as part of The Secure Tenants of Local Housing Authorities
(Right-to-Repair) Regulations 1994. The council is also responsible for maintaining and keeping
the council’s housing stock in a good state of repair.
The procurement of one contractor is required to ensure that all necessary drainage works and
drainage excavation repairs (including collapsed pipes) are provided.

Appendices


Appendix 1: Resident Impact Assessment

Background papers


None

Final report clearance:
Signed by:

15 November 2021
Executive Member for Housing & Development

Report Author:
Tel:
Email:
Financial Implications
Author:
Tel:
Email:
Legal Implications
Author:
Tel:
Email:

Date

Sylvia Krzak

020 7527 7638

sylvia.krzak@islington.gov.uk
Katherine Hau
020 7527 2125

katherine.hau@islington.gov.uk
Clive Sheldon
020 7527 2965

clive.sheldon@islington.gov.uk

Page 143

Page 9 of 9

This page is intentionally left blank

www.islington.gov.uk

Resident Impact Assessment
Open Tender for: Out-of-hours drainage works, in-hours
backup support for repairs team and all drainage excavation
repairs (including collapsed pipes)
Service Area: Housing Property Services
Service Area: Housing Property Services

1. What are the intended outcomes of this policy, function etc?
This contract is for borough-wide drainage related works linked to Islington Council directly managed
homes. The scope of work will include all out-of-hours drainage repairs and, in busy periods, backup
support for our existing in-house drainage team, who currently provide the drainage repairs service
during standard working hours. The contractor will also deliver specialist drainage excavation repairs ,
including the repairs of collapsed pipes.

2. Resident Profile
The group within Islington that this contract will impact are council tenants, council leaseholders and
other residents of and visitors to Islington council homes and estates where works are carried out.
Below is the known diversity profile for Islington council tenants and leaseholders.
Borough profile

Service User profile

Total: 206,285

Total: 52,631

Gender

Female
Male

51%
49%

54%
46%

Age

Under 16

32,825

9,494

16-24
25-44

29,418
87,177

6,063
17,631

45-64

38,669

12,684

65+
Disabled

18,036
16%

6,756
35%

Non-disabled

84%

65%

Disability
Sexual
orientatio
n

LGBT
No data
Heterosexual/straight No data

N/A
N/A

BME

50%

52%

Page 145

Race

White

48%

42%

Religion
or belief

Christian

40%

16%

Muslim
Other

10%
4.5%

3%
13%

No religion

30%

23%

Religion not stated

17%

42%

3. Equality impacts
There is no change to the service and how it is delivered. The previous contract has ended and requires
replacement, and only the service providers will change. The delivery of this service will not
discriminate against anyone with protected characteristics.
The delivery of this procurement will not negatively impact any persons within the protected
characteristics groups living in or visiting council homes and estates. This contract will affect the
residents, including those with protected characteristics, positively by ensuring that council residential
properties and estates are maintained to a high standard and residents have access to the necessary
sanitation
The planned arrangements for this procurement will positively impact groups with protected
characteristics as equality and diversity will be considered during the evaluation process. Potential
service providers will be asked some scored questions, and the scoring will assess how the service
providers propose to approach equality and diversity in delivering this contract. The evaluation will
include questions on how the service providers intend to engage and communicate with residents
during the delivery of the works, with particular attention paid to communication with residents with
any protected characteristics. For example, service providers will have to consider BSL- translators for
Deaf customers or foreign language translators for customers where English is not their first language.
Service providers will need to show how they will ensure dignity and respect for customers regarding
religious beliefs, for example, by wearing protective covering for footwear within properties or by
showing cultural sensitivity by maintaining social boundaries. It might also include taking time, ex tra
care, and patience with residents with mobility impairments or the elderly.
Service providers will also need to demonstrate how they will deliver the works, so the health and
safety of all residents and members of the public are protected at all times. Health and safety are
particularly pertinent due to the nature of the drainage-related works, which might require the service
provider to cordon off or block some areas of an estate during the excavation work to prevent
residents, including disabled people and children, from accessing these areas. The service providers will
also need to explain any other health and safety measures they will put in place to ensure individuals
with protected characteristics are sufficiently protected. It is a contractual requirement for service
providers to work according to Islington Council's policies and procedures to make equality, diversity,
accessible and safe service an integral part of the service delivery.
The answers given by the successful service provider to the quality questions within the procurement
process will form part of the contract documents for the provision of this service, and the Housing
Repairs Service will monitor performance against these commitments. In addition, it is a contractual
requirement for service providers to work to Islington Council's policies and procedures covering health
and safety and equality and diversity.
Social Value will also be evaluated and written into the contract terms, including a requirement to
provide a minimum of one apprenticeship opportunity. In addition, work experience placements, job

Page 146

2

shadowing and training opportunities will also be sought. The Employment Engagement Team will
attend quarterly Core Group meetings with the successful service provider, where commitments made
to deliver Social Value requirements will be monitored and, if necessary, enforced with the successful
service providers. Other community benefits will also be considered and arranged, such as supporting
the council's World of Work programme and shadowing for work experience and assisting with training
sessions for Islington Council staff.
It is not anticipated that the delivery of this contract will negatively impact relations between
communities with protected characteristics and the rest of the population in Islington.

4. Safeguarding and Human Rights impacts
All service providers appointed by Repairs and Maintenance must have DBS checks for all their
staff working on this contract, including any subcontractors used. DBS Checks must be
evidenced, and this information will be checked and updated quarterly to account for any
service provider’s staff changes. The service provider is not allowed to enter a property unless
an adult over 18 is present. The service provider will receive the leaflets and information
regarding safeguarding, and the staff will need to attend mandatory safeguarding training
delivered by Islington Council. This will allow for any safeguarding concerns to be reported
back to the council.
There is no anticipated risk of Human Rights breaches linked to the delivery of this contract.

5. Action
As there are no negative impacts identified, no mitigating actions are required. As stated in Section 3,
service providers will be scored and monitored closely around their approach to equality and diversity.

This Resident Impact Assessment has been completed in accordance with the
guidance and using appropriate evidence.
Staff member completing this form:

Head of Service or higher:

Signed: Sylvia Krzak

_
Simon
Signed: Kwong_____________________

Date:

Date:

18/06/2021

Page 147

19/07/2021

3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Environment and Regeneration
Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD
Report of: Executive Member for Environment and Transport
Executive
Delete as
appropriate

Date: 25.11.21

Ward(s): All

Non-exempt

SUBJECT: Procurement Strategy for the Fleet Replacement
Programme
1.

Synopsis

1.1

This report seeks pre-tender approval for the procurement strategy in respect of Fleet Vehicle
Replacement Programme in accordance with Rule 2.7 of the Council’s Procurement Rules.
Appendix a. lists all vehicles required to be procured along with the vehicles which are to be off
hired or disposed as the replacements are received. This will replace the 2019-21 strategy
which elapsed in July.

1.2

In the case of all asset types only battery electric zero tailpipe emission vehicles will be
purchased.
Where suitable and financially beneficial existing high value assets such as refuse collection
vehicles and buses may be refurbished and converted from diesel to battery electric
Where viable battery electric zero emission vehicles are not yet available for purchase, hire or
leasing of alternative vehicles shall be utilised until suitable zero emission vehicles are
available.
Preference for hire vehicles will be given as:
1. Electric
2. Electric/Petrol Hybrid
3. Euro 6 Petrol
4. Euro 6/VI Diesel

Page 149

Page 1 of 7

1.3

The strategy also recognises the need to assess the ongoing requirements of the fleet against
the service need and ensure that other more sustainable modes of transport, for example
cycling, are considered as part of the council’s overall transport solution. Over the last few
years vehicle numbers have been reduced with bikes introduced in their place. Where possible
vehicles will continue to be reduced with option to cycle to be offered. A recent example of this
is the trial of push-bikes for Street Environment Operations’ supervisors. Following the success
of this trial other plans are being developed to introduce bikes to supervisors in other services
to promote cycling and reduce vehicle use. Where possible opportunties to reduce the total
fleet will also be taken where there is no service impact.

2.

Recommendations

2.1

To approve the procurement strategy for the continuation of the fleet replacement strategy as
outlined in this report.

3.

Background

3.1

The Council operates a fleet of approximately 500 vehicles across all council departments, of
which around 450 are owned assets. Whilst significant investment and progress has been
made over the last few years to improve and modernise the fleet, at the time of the launch of
this strategy around 85% of council owned vehicles are presently powered by internal
combustion engines. Electrifying the fleet is essential in order to deliver on Islington’s
commitment to achieving it’s net zero carbon position with electrical vehicles respresenting the
only zero-tailpipe emission vehicles currently available.







The 85% of vehicles which are presently powered by engines all assets types from cars,
through vans and buses to HGV and refuse collection vehicles.
Replacement of the fleet with new and conversion of existing assets to battery electric zero
tailpipe emission vehicles will significantly reduce the environmental impact that the council
has on the borough and avoid the financial burden of paying TFL fees for polluting vehicles.
It will also reduce fuel and maintenance costs and avoid downtime currently incurred by
operational services due to unreliable aged assets.
Compressed Natural Gas and Gas To Liquid fuel have been trialed as alternatives to
conventional fuels but have proved to not be viable as they would commit Islington to a
long-term adoption of internal combustion engines which is not compatible with the
borough’s net zero carbon ambitions. The fleet replacement will concentrate on electric
vehicles wherever practical.
The strategy recognises the need to assess the ongoing requirements of the fleet against
the service need and ensure that other more sustainable modes of transport, for example
cycling, our considered as part of the council’s overall transport solution further supporting
the transition to a net zero carbon position. Where possible vehicles will continue to be
reduced with option to cycle to be offered. A recent example of this is the trial of pushbikes for Street Environment Operations’ supervisors. Following the success of this trial
other plans are being developed to introduce bikes to supervisors in other services to
promote cycling and reduce vehicle use. Where possible opportunties to reduce the total
fleet will also be taken where there is no service impact.

Page 150

Page 2 of 7

3.2

Estimated Value
 Capital Funding of £4,600,000.00 has been allocated for 2021-22 (this includes £900,000.00
carried over from the previous year due to lack of vehicle availability caused by the
pandemic) £3,715,000.00 has been allocated for 2022-23 for the fleet replacement
programme.
 The combined value of the procurement is £8,315,000.00 over two (2) years.
 The spend on fleet procurement (not including the HRA funded vehicles) in the last two
years has been £3,437,000.00 with remaining unspent funding rolled over into 2021-22.
 Any reduction in fleet replacement budget would lead to significantly increased operational
costs due to reliance on increased volumes of hired vehicles or payment of ULEZ fees etc
and maintenance costs.
 Revenue savings have been estimated based on adoption of EVs with a reduced energy
cost equating to £188,450 over the two years the strategy runs. Cost avoidance fro m the
expansion of the ULEZ scheme to cover the whole borough has also been estimated at
£60,200 for the first year of the strategy assuming full vehicle adoption for the year.

3.3

Timetable
 The council has commited to operating a zero tail pipe emission fleet by 2030, this
procurement strategy will enable the council to continue to progress in line to meet this
objective.
 There are no statutory deadlines relating to this strategy.

3.4

Options appraisal
 Vehicles are purchased via The Procurement Partnership Ltd (TPPL) Framework Agreements
and it is proposed that this continues as the preferred option as it is the quickest route to
market to meet our requirements in regards to cleaner vehicles which will reduce
environmental impact.
 Collaboration with other boroughs is not currently beneficial as different types of vehicles
are utilised. This is unlikely to change as new electric vehicles are developed. Utilising
framework agreements provides the council with the maximum possible discount from
manufacturers.
 There is no real value in procuring our own framework, timescales will not allow for this and
there are no real commercial, cost benefits in replicating existing arrangements via TPPL.

3.5

Key Considerations
 The purchase of battery electric zero tail pipe emission vehicles with improved safety
features will benefit all residents within the borough.
 London Living Wage does not apply to this procurement.
 Best value will be assessed against each vehicle requirement to ensure the lowest emission,
safest, technologically prudent and operationally/financially viable models are selected.
 There are no TUPE, pension or staffing implications

3.6

Evaluation
All new vehicles will be purchased via the TPPL frameworks. As there are different types and
volumes of vehicles required, there will be no single tender process to cover all purchases
under this procurement strategy.
 Larger purchases will be subject to a further competition with the evaluation based on 40%
price, 20% specification, 10% delivery, 10% aftersales/warranty and 20% social value. This

Page 151

Page 3 of 7



may be varied to suit each specific tender for example four conversion for 26t RCVs
planned for 22/23 (Appendix A).
A direct call-off may be used for lower value purchases, where there is only one option
available which meets the council’s specification or to purchase duplicates of exisiting
vehicles for example 4.25 cage tippers planned for 21/22.

3.7

Business Risks
 Failure to complete the procurement in a timely manner will increase the value of emissions
related fees payable to TFL, it will also result in increased diesel fuel usage and
downtime/maintenance costs related to the outgoing fleet vehicles.

3.8

The Employment Relations Act 1999 (Blacklist) Regulations 2010 explicitly prohibit the
compilation, use, sale or supply of blacklists containing details of trade union members and
their activities. Following a motion to full Council on 26 March 2013, all tenderers will be
required to complete an anti-blacklisting declaration. Where an organisation is unable to
declare that they have never blacklisted, they will be required to evidence that they have 'selfcleansed'. The Council will not award a contract to organisations found guilty of blacklisting
unless they have demonstrated 'self-cleansing' and taken adequate measures to remedy past
actions and prevent re-occurrences.

3.9

The following relevant information is required to be specifically approved in accordance with
rule 2.8 of the Procurement Rules:

Relevant information

Information/section in report

1 Nature of the service

Replacement of Council Fleet Vehicles
See paragraph 3.1

2 Estimated value

There is allocated capital for this procurement
strategy totalling £8,315,000.00
See Paragraph 3.2

3 Timetable

This procurement strategy will run for 24 months
from August 2021. £4.6m will be allocated up to
August 2023 and £3.715m will be allocated up to April
2023
See Paragraph 3.3

4 Options appraisal for tender
procedure including consideration of
collaboration opportunities

The appraisal process will be dependant on the
individual types of assets being purchased. Where
appropriate mini competitions will be let, where there
is only one suitable vehicle available call off within the
framework will be used.
See paragraph 3.4

Page 152

Page 4 of 7

5 Consideration of:
Social benefit clauses;
London Living Wage;
Best value;
TUPE, pensions and other staffing
implications
6 Evaluation

7 Any business risks associated with
entering the contract
8 Any other relevant financial, legal
or other considerations.

See Paragraph 3.5

Larger purchases are evaluated on 40% price, 20%
specification, 10% delivery, 10% aftersales/warranty
and 20% social value. This may be varied to suit the
asset required.
See Paragraph 3.7
Minimising the councils emissions related payments in
the coming years and significantly reducing the
council fleet exhaust emissions as quickly as possible
are key considerations
See Paragraph 3.8

4.

Implications

4.1

Financial implications:
The combined value of the procurement over two years is £8.315m which is a combination of
the capital funding for 2021/22 (£4.600m) and 2022/23 (£3.715m) approved by Full Council in
February 2021.

4.2

Legal Implications:
a) The council has power to enter into the proposed Fleet Procurement contract(s) under section
111 of the Local Government Act 1972 and section 1 of the Local Government (Contracts)
Act 1997, which enable the council to carry out any activity that is calculated to facilitate, or
is conducive or incidental to, the discharge of any of its functions, and to enter contracts
accordingly.
b) The estimated value of the procurement (£8.315m) is above the current financial threshold
for supplies contracts under the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. Accordingly, the contract
must be procured via a legally compliant Framework.
c) Procurement Rule 2.7 provides that in relation to contracts with an estimated value which
exceeds, as here at £8.315m, the delegated authority of the Corporate Director as set out in
Procurement Rule 18 (£5m Capital spend), approval of the Procurement Strategy is required
from the Executive, who will also need to grant express delegated power to the Corporate
Director to make direct awards from the TPPL Framework (or hold mini-competitions on the
TPPL Framework as the case may be).

Page 153

Page 5 of 7

4.3

Environmental Implications
The purchase of new vehicles will have significant environmental impacts. The manufacture
and transport of the vehicles will have impacts including resource and energy use, and once in
use, the vehicles will have ongoing energy consumption. In addition, disposal of old vehicles
will have environmental impacts related to their disposal.
However, the ongoing environmental impact of the new electric vehicles will be lower than the
diesel and petrol vehicles they replace, as they will have zero tailpipe emissions. Vehicles will
be largely charged at council sites, which are now on a renewable electricity tariff. The co uncil
is also installing a vehicle charging system that will maximise charging at times of day when
renewable power is supplying a greater proportion of grid electricity, while the vehicle batteries
may also be used to help power council buildings during peak periods, both of which will assist
the electricity grid with the transition to a greater proportion of renewables. In some cases, the
impacts of material use and vehicle disposal will be mitigated by refurbishing existing vehicles
rather than purchasing new ones.

4.4

Resident Impact Assessment:
The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and
foster good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and those
who do not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The council has a duty to have due regard
to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in particular steps
to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, and encourage people to participate in public
life. The council must have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice and promote
understanding.
A Resident Impact Assessment was completed on 15/06/21 and is appended. No adverse
residents or equalities impacts were identified and the ongoing electrification of the fleet will
benefit air quality and carbon emmisions for all residents.

5.

Reasons for the decision:

The Council needs to renew its procurement strategy for fleet replacement to cover the next two-ye
period. It is recommended that the existing Procurement Partnership Ltd (TPPL) Framework
Agreements continues as it is the quickest route to market to meet our requirements.

Appendices
 Appendix A. details vehicles to be purchased along with old vehicles for disposal/off hire
 RIA - Fleet Procurement Strategy
Background papers: none

Page 154

Page 6 of 7

Signed by:
16.11.21

Executive Member for Environment and Transport

Date

Report Author: Ben Wilde
Email:
Benjamin.Wilde@islington.gov.uk
Financial Implications Author:
Email:
Legal Implications Author:
Email:

Owen Darracott
Owen.Darracott@islington.gov.uk
Clive Sheldon
Clive.Sheldon@islington.gov.uk

Page 155

Page 7 of 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Fleet Procurement - Vehicles and Chargers Required 2021/22 to 2022/23

Page 157

Budget
21/22 Carried over from 20/21
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Carried over from 20/21
21/22 Carried over from 20/21
21/22 Carried over from 20/21
21/22 Carried over from 20/21
21/22 Carried over from 20/21
21/22 Carried over from 20/21
21/22 Carried over from 20/21
21/22 Carried over from 20/21
21/22 Carried over from 20/21
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Carried over from 20/21
21/22 Carried over from 20/21
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
21/22 Funding
22/23 Funding
22/23 Funding
22/23 Funding
22/23 Funding
22/23 Funding
22/23 Funding
22/23 Funding
22/23 Funding
22/23 Funding
22/23 Funding
22/23 Funding
22/23 Funding
22/23 Funding
22/23 Funding
22/23 Funding
22/23 Funding
22/23 Funding
22/23 Funding
22/23 Funding
22/23 Funding
22/23 Funding

Charger Access
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
Fairbridge Road
Fairbridge Road
Fairbridge Road
Fairbridge Road
Fairbridge Road
Fairbridge Road
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
Prichard Court
222 Upper Street
TBC
222 Upper Street
Newington Barrow Way
Ecology Centre
Prichard Court
Daylight Centre
Daylight Centre
Wray Cresent
WRC
Prichard Court
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
WRC
St.Johns
Daylight Centre
TBC
TBC

Charger A
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
90Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
90Kw DC
90Kw DC
90Kw DC
90Kw DC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
22Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
90Kw DC
90Kw DC
90Kw DC
90Kw DC
90Kw DC
22Kw AC
22Kw AC
22Kw AC
22Kw AC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC

Connector A
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2

Charger B
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC

Connector B
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS
CCS

22Kw AC
22Kw AC
22Kw AC
22Kw AC
22Kw AC
22Kw AC
22Kw AC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
7Kw AC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
22Kw AC
22Kw AC
22Kw AC
22Kw AC

Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Chademo
Chademo
Chademo
Chademo
Chademo
Chademo
Chademo
CCS
CCS
CCS
Type 2
CCS
CCS
CCS
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2

7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
7Kw AC
22Kw AC
22Kw AC
22Kw AC
22Kw AC
22Kw AC
22Kw AC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC
50Kw DC

Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Type 2
Chademo
CCS
CCS
CCS

Department
Refuse & Recycling
Refuse & Recycling
Refuse & Recycling
Refuse & Recycling
Greenspace & Leisure
Greenspace & Leisure
Greenspace & Leisure
Greenspace & Leisure
Greenspace & Leisure
Greenspace & Leisure
Greenspace & Leisure
Greenspace & Leisure
Greenspace & Leisure
Greenspace & Leisure
Greenspace & Leisure
Greenspace & Leisure
Greenspace & Leisure
Greenspace & Leisure
Greenspace & Leisure
Greenspace & Leisure
Greenspace & Leisure
Greenspace & Leisure
Highways
Highways
Highways
Highways
Highways
Highways
Refuse & Recycling
Street Cleansing
Mech Services
Street Cleansing
Refuse & Recycling
Refuse & Recycling
Refuse & Recycling
Refuse & Recycling
Building Cleaning
Facilities (222 Upper St)
Environment Services Libraries
Linkline
Asbestos Team
Greenspace & Leisure
Parking Services
Daylight Centre
Daylight Centre
Social Services - Wray Cresent
Mech Services
Parking Projects
Greenspace & Leisure
Greenspace & Leisure
Refuse & Recycling
Refuse & Recycling
Refuse & Recycling
Refuse & Recycling
Refuse & Recycling
ACT
ACT
ACT
ACT
Street Cleansing
Mech Services
Mech Services
Street Cleansing
Street Cleansing
Street Cleansing
Concierge Services
Daylight Centre
Environment Services Libraries
Parking Services

Type
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Flat Bed
4.25t Electric Flat Bed
4.25t Electric Flat Bed
4.25t Electric Flat Bed
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
18t eRCV
HGV Sweeper Electric
4.5t Sweeper Electric
3.5t Sweeper Electric
26t Split RCV Conversion and Refurb
26t Split RCV Conversion and Refurb
26t Split RCV Conversion and Refurb
26t Split RCV Conversion and Refurb
2.2t Electric Van
2.2t Electric Van
2.2t Electric Van
2.2t Electric Van
2.2t Electric Van
2.2t Electric Van
2.2t Electric Van
8 Seat Electric People Carrier
8 Seat Electric People Carrier
8 Seat Electric People Carrier
7.5t Caged Tipper Lumbar (Electric)
Electric Car
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
4.25t Electric Cage Tipper
26t Wide RCV Conversion and Refurb
26t Wide RCV Conversion and Refurb
26t Wide RCV Conversion and Refurb
26t Wide RCV Conversion and Refurb
18t eRCV
32 Seat ACT Bus Conversion and Refurb
32 Seat ACT Bus Conversion and Refurb
32 Seat ACT Bus Conversion and Refurb
23 Seat Electric ACT Bus
HGV Sweeper Electric
4.5t Sweeper Electric
4.5t Sweeper Electric
3.5t Sweeper Electric
3.5t Sweeper Electric
3.5t Sweeper Electric
2.2t Electric Van
12 Seat Electric Acessible Minibus
3.5t Electric L3H2 Panel van
3.5t Electric L3H2 Panel van

Spec
MS2020ET2
MS2020ET2
MS2020ET2
MS2020ET2
MS2020ET1
MS2020ET1
MS2020ET1
MS2020ET1
MS2020ET1
MS2020ET1
MS2020ET1
MS2020ET1
MS2020ET1
MS2020ET1
MS2020ET1
MS2020ET1
MS2020ET1
MS2020ET1
MS2020ET1
MS2020ET1
MS2020ET1
MS2020ET1
MS2020EF1
MS2020EF1
MS2020EF1
MS2020EF1
MS2020ET2
MS2020ET2

MS2021R1
MS2021R1
MS2021R1
MS2021R1
MS2019E4
MS2019E4
MS2019E4
MS2019E4
MS2019E4
MS2019E4
MS2019E4

MS2019ET2
MS2020ET1
MS2020ET1

MS2021AE2

MS2019E4

Batch
1 of 4
2 of 4
3 of 4
4 of 4
1 of 18
2 of 18
3 of 18
4 of 18
5 of 18
6 of 18
7 of 18
8 of 18
9 of 18
10 of 18
11 of 18
12 of 18
13 of 18
14 of 18
15 of 18
16 of 18
17 of 18
18 of 18
1 of 4
2 of 4
3 of 4
4 of 4
1 of 2
2 of 2
1 of 1
1 of 1
1 of 1
1 of 1
1 of 4
2 of 4
3 of 4
4 of 4
1 of 7
2 of 7
3 of 7
4 of 7
5 of 7
6 of 7
7 of 7
1 of 3
2 of 3
3 of 3
1 of 1
1 of 1
1 of 2
2 of 2
1 of 4
2 of 4
3 of 4
4 of 4
1 of 1
1 of 3
2 of 3
3 of 3
1 of 1
1 of 1
1 of 2
2 of 2
1 of 3
2 of 3
3 of 3
1 of 1
1 of 1
1 of 2
2 of 2

Disposal
EHR040/YS66OYR
EHR061/EF66TVK
EHR062/EJ66EZB
EHR081/EF66AOY
IA606/EX13GGZ
IA607/EX13GCY
IA608/EX13GKC
IA609/EX13GEU
IA610/EJ63PVX
IA611/EX13GGV
IA612/EX13GEY
IA613/EX13GFA
IA614/EX13GMG
IA617/EX13GJF
IA618/EX13GDZ
IA619/EX13GAO
IA620/EX13GDU
IA621/EX13GBO
IA622/EX13GZY
IA623/EX13GLK
IA624/EX13GMO
IA625/EX13GBV
IA701/EX14CYJ
IA702/EX14DAO
IA703/EX14CYA
IA704/EX14DCF
IA705/EX14CYP
IA707/EK14YZE
RVS002/VU68MYH
IA800/EU15TFZ
IA664/LJ64FHL
IA918/LJ65DMU
IA928 - Refurb not disposal
IA929 - Refurb not disposal
IA930 - Refurb not disposal
IA931 - Refurb not disposal
ENT006/MD19GHY
IA0233/EF62VCT
EHR100/CA66SDO
EHR097/CA66SDY
IA237/ET14BMZ
IA0010/LR10UKO
IA285/EO63XRK
WWL001/DN67EXJ
WWL005/MT19CZM
EHR086/AX19LHO
EHR001/EU67ZNP
IA10301/LR06XWG
EHR074/BW68NBK
EHR083/AY68HJV
IA942 - Refurb not Disposal
IA943 - Refurb not Disposal
IA944 - Refurb not Disposal
IA945 - Refurb not Disposal
RVS003/VU68MYJ
IA487 - Refurb not Disposal
IA488 - Refurb not Disposal
IA489 - Refurb not Disposal
IA0527 - Already Disposed
IA801/EU15TFY
IA665/LJ64FHN
IA662/LJ64FHH
IA919/LJ65DMV
IA920/LJ65DMX
IA922/LJ65FVW
EHR058/WD16FFY
EHR082/WN19AYE
EHR085/BG19XST
EHR078/AY19JNL

*HGV classed as anything over the 4.25 (below can be driven on Class B license)

Estimate
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£65,000.00
£65,000.00
£65,000.00
£65,000.00
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£325,000.00
£325,000.00
£200,000.00
£200,000.00
£300,000.00
£300,000.00
£300,000.00
£300,000.00
£22,500.00
£22,500.00
£22,500.00
£22,500.00
£22,500.00
£22,500.00
£22,500.00
£40,000.00
£40,000.00
£40,000.00
£120,000.00
£21,000.00
£70,000.00
£70,000.00
£250,000.00
£250,000.00
£250,000.00
£250,000.00
£325,000.00
£150,000.00
£150,000.00
£150,000.00
£250,000.00
£325,000.00
£200,000.00
£200,000.00
£200,000.00
£200,000.00
£200,000.00
£22,500.00
£80,000.00
£45,000.00
£45,000.00
£8,291,000.00

Actual

Ordered
Call Off

Framework Supplier
TPPL
Motus

Call Off
Call Off
Call Off
Call Off
Call Off
Call Off
Call Off
Call Off
Call Off

TPPL
TPPL
TPPL
TPPL
TPPL
TPPL
TPPL
TPPL
TPPL

Motus
Motus
Motus
Motus
Motus
Motus
Motus
Motus
Motus

Call Off
Call Off

TPPL
TPPL

Motus
Motus

Call Off
Call Off
Call Off
Call Off

TPPL
TPPL
TPPL
TPPL

RVS
RVS
RVS
RVS

Expected

This page is intentionally left blank

www.islington.gov.uk

Resident Impact Assessment
Title of policy, procedure, function, service activity or financial
decision:
Service Area: Fleet

1. What are the intended outcomes of this policy, function etc?
To allow the continued use of the TPPL framework for the purchase of fleet vehicles for the next 2
years and ongoing replacement of the Fleet.

2. Resident Profile
Who is going to be impacted by this change i.e. residents/service users/tenants? Please
complete data for your service users. If your data does not fit into the categories in this table,
please copy and paste your own table in the space below. Please refer to section 3.3 of the
guidance for more information.
Borough profile

Service User profile

Total: 206,285

Total: 206,285

Gender

Female
Male

51%
49%

51%
49%

Age

Under 16

32,825

32,825

16-24
25-44

29,418
87,177

29,418
87,177

45-64

38,669

38,669

65+
Disabled

18,036
16%

18,036
16%

Non-disabled

84%

84%

Sexual
orientation

LGBT
Heterosexual/straight

No data
No data

No data
No data

Race

BME

52%

52%

White
Christian

48%
40%

48%
40%

Muslim

10%

10%

Other

4.5%

4.5%

Disability

Religion or
belief

Page 159

No religion

30%

30%

Religion not stated

17%

17%

3. Equality impacts
With reference to the guidance, please describe what are the equality and socio-economic
impacts for residents and what are the opportunities to challenge prejudice or promote
understanding?


No, the strategy is designed to allow the continued purchase of vehicles for
Islington’s fleet.

4. Safeguarding and Human Rights impacts
a) Safeguarding risks and Human Rights breaches
Please describe any safeguarding risks for children or vulnerable adults AND any potential
human rights breaches that may occur as a result of the proposal? Please refer to section
4.8 of the guidance for more information.


No, the strategy is designed to allow the continued purchase of vehicles for
Islington’s fleet.

If potential safeguarding and human rights risks are identified then please contact
equalities@islington.gov.uk to discuss further:

5. Action
How will you respond to the impacts that you have identified in sections 3 and 4, or address any
gaps in data or information?
For more information on identifying actions that will limit the negative impact of the policy for
protected groups see the guidance.

Action

Responsible person or
team

Deadline

N/A

Page 160

2

Please send the completed RIA to equalites@islington.gov.uk and also make it publicly
available online along with the relevant policy or service change.

This Resident Impact Assessment has been completed in accordance with the
guidance and using appropriate evidence.
Staff member completing this form:

Head of Service or higher:

Signed: Mark Smith___________________

Signed:

Date:

Date:

26/03/2021

Page 161

__________
Click here to enter a date.

3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Adult Social Care
222 Upper Street,
London, N1 1XR
Report of: Executive Member for Health and Social Care
Meeting of:

Date:

Ward(s):

Executive

25 November 2021

ALL

Delete as appropriate

Exempt

Non-exempt

SUBJECT: Adult Paid Carers Scrutiny Review
– Response to the report of the Health and Social Care Scrutiny Committee
1.

Synopsis

1.1

In July 2021, Executive received a report from the Health and Social Care Scrutiny Committee
regarding a review it held from June 2019 until April 2021 (extended period due to COVID 19)
into paid adult domiciliary care (also known as home care) workers working in Islington. The
review aimed to assess the current position of domiciliary care in Islington regarding; funding,
contractual arrangements, delivery arrangements and their effectiveness, to consider other
models of commissioning and delivery in place of other areas and to advise any changes that
should be considered/implemented to improve outcomes for residents and for the home care
workforce.

1.2

The committee produced a comprehensive list of recommendations for care at home in
Islington, which were presented to Executive on 22 July 2021.

1.3

This report proposes actions to be taken in response to the recommendations.

1.4

‘Domiciliary care’ is also known as ‘home care’. The report will use the term ‘home care’
throughout the remainder of the report.

2.

Recommendations

2.1

To welcome the findings of the Adult Paid Carers Scrutiny Review

2.2

To agree the responses to the review as set out in section 4 of this report

Page 163

Page 1 of 11

2.3

To agree that officers report back on progress to the Health and Social Care Scrutiny
Committee in 12 months’ time

3.

Response to Recommendations

3.1

The Committee heard evidence that there is scope for new technologies to improve the service
for clients, and to reduce costs for commissioners, and providers. Such examples include
electronic care plans, electronic medication charts, and the ability to meet some specific service
user needs via mobile devices. The Committee noted that the Telecare system is currently
under review, with the aim of increasing the use of technology, in order to improve the quality
of life for those in receipt of care
(a) The Committee therefore recommend that providers and commissioners investigate,
and continue to introduce new technologies, wherever available, to provide a better
service to clients, and to improve co-ordination with Carers
Response – The Council’s commissioned providers already make good use of electronic home
care systems, and the service specification for future home care delivery will require best
practice in terms of this technology.
The Assistive Technology review has now been completed and a new Assistive Technology
offer being implemented towards end of 2021. This will increase the range of service users and
the types of technology available to enhance quality of live, wellbeing and independence.
Home care providers will be able to access this offer for Islington residents, and providers will
be briefed and supported to ensure they make the most of the new offer for their service
users.

3.2

The Committee heard evidence from carers that information is not always provided as
effectively, and as quickly as possible, in relation to details of clients’ needs, especially in
relation to discharge from hospital. This lack of timely information impacts on the ability of
carers to provide the most effective service possible to clients
(b) The Committee therefore recommend that there should be exploration of the
opportunities presented by ‘Fairer Together’ for improved co-ordination between
commissioners/NHS and providers, and to ensure the conveyance of the correct
information to carers in relation to clients’ needs. This is especially in relation to
discharge of clients from hospital to ensure the administration of the correct
medication/assistance etc. Opportunities for introduction of new technology, as
recommended in (a) above can assist in this
Response – North Central London (NCL) health and social care colleagues are exploring ways
to improve the process and quality of information sharing with home care providers at hospital
discharge. Considerations will include reviewing referral forms to ensure they include sufficient
social care package and medications information upon discharge. Colleagues will also be
exploring whether a person’s medication requirements can be anticipated a day or two before
discharge and shared with home care provider before the care package needs to start.
Islington Adult Social Care and Community Health Colleagues are also working together to
develop a more integrated approach to supporting safer hospital discharges and hospital
avoidance.

Page 164

Page 2 of 11

3.3

The Committee heard evidence that continuity of care and personalised care and support is
important. Carers suffered in terms of loss of pay, from the amount of downtime that they
experienced between appointments due to the client’s requirements for assistance getting into
bed/getting up at similar times. This affected the ability of some carers to maximise their
income, and in addition created difficulties/inconvenience for client.
(c)The Committee therefore recommend that commissioners and providers consider
opportunities for enabling a more personalised and efficient home care system. There
should be a focus on overall wellbeing outcomes for service users, rather than a list of
specific tasks to be undertaken at specific times of the day. Opportunities may include
better utilisation of personal budgets, and geographical zoning, whereby a provider has
a set budget for each service user, based on their needs, to deliver a personalised
service, which would reduce downtime/travel time for carers, and enable improved
efficiency. Continuity of care is important
Response - The Council is working in collaboration with home care providers and Adult Social
Care colleagues to move from a ‘Time and Task’ model to an Outcome Based home care
model. A small prototype is in development, coproduced with our strategically commissioned
providers, due to commence in the next few months, to test and adapt the model as we learn
more about what works. The aim is to move to a model that provides a more flexible and
personalised approach that improves resident outcomes, and provides greater job satisfaction
for the workforce. We are also exploring the benefits and options for implementing
locality/geographically focused home care. This developmental work will inform future home
care provision. Personal budgets, whereby the resident manages their own funding and care
arrangements, is an important option which is regularly discussed with residents who would
benefit from packages of care.

3.4

The Committee heard evidence that there are potential opportunities to improve the quality
and speed of discharges from hospital. Providers are sometimes unable to respond quickly and
flexibly to clients’ changing needs, as they are limited in their ability to make changes to care
plans. This should explore how commissioners, providers and social workers can work
together, in order to ensure more timely and responsive changes to care packages in line with
clients changing needs
(d) The Committee therefore recommend that consideration be given as to how the
Council can make best use of the expertise and skills of providers and carers. In
addition, consideration should also be given to consider opportunities to empower and
place more trust in providers, and carers, to make decisions about the care and support
clients require, from discharge from hospital to making adjustments to care packages,
as needs change. This may include exploration of new roles given the need to recruit
and retain more carers. The Council should also explore opportunities for more regular
reviews from providers and the Council, to enable the care needs of users to be checked
more frequently, in order to ensure that there is no over/under provision of care.
The Committee are also of the view that given the shortage of home carers, a situation
likely to increase, commissioners and providers should investigate possible
recruitment/retention measures to help alleviate shortages of carers
Response - The Council is committed to exploring opportunities to develop more trusting
relationships between social care staff and providers, that maximise the skills and expertise of
the home care workforce whilst ensuring accountability and responsibility. This will be explored
as part of the prototype development to test home care approaches. The work will explore
opportunities for carers to play a more active role in developing outcome focused support plans
with residents and their families, responding to changing needs and working in creative ways to

Page 165

Page 3 of 11

support residents to achieve outcomes that matter to them. The ambition is to enable providers
to take on more support and care planning responsibility. We will consider how to balance
provider flexibility to respond to increasing and decreasing levels of need with the requirement
for local authority oversight, effective due diligence and management of the public purse, and
Care Act responsibility.
3.5

(e) The Committee heard evidence that there are ‘untapped’ opportunities to
improve career pathways into home care, and career progression within health and
social care. The Committee recommend that consideration is given to career
pathways and progression for carers, as part of the wider efforts of Islington’s
Health and Care Academy, which aims to support providers to recruit local people.
Commissioners should explore which social value clauses and good employment
practice stipulations, including for small/local providers, would be appropriate to
include in future specifications and contracts. This would enable more local
residents to also be employed who will contribute to the local economy
Response - The Council is committed to improving terms and conditions for care staff working
in Islington, as well as career progression. This includes negotiating with providers from whom
we spot purchase care to increase London Living Wage (LLW) compliance. As a result of this
work, we have seen increased commitment of providers to becoming LLW employers. 77% of
Islington’s home care service users are now supported by an agency who pays at least LLW.
We are working hard to tackle challenges, for example negotiating with providers for whom
Islington only provides a tiny proportion of their business, with just one or two Islington service
users. We strive for 100% compliance and will continue in our efforts to achieve this. We also
continue to work hard to improve pay and conditions. There is a strong working relationship
between council departments, across Adult Social Care and Community Wealth Building as well
as our work with Health and Social Care Academy partners and Proud to Care to support
career pathways and progression. Home care providers contribute significantly to social value
through local recruitment. A recent survey of our top seven providers (those supporting the
vast majority of residents) demonstrated 78% of the workforce live in Islington or
neighbouring boroughs. It is a priority to continue driving forward opportunities for a more
inclusive economy.

3.6

The Committee were impressed with the commitment, and excellent work, that carers provided
for clients in Islington. The Committee heard differing evidence as to whether carers wished to
be offered guaranteed hour contracts, or whether they preferred the flexibility provided by zero
hour contracts. In addition, the Committee heard that carers are unpaid for the time that
clients are hospitalised, if alternative work is not available. The Committee also noted concerns
that carers often experienced problems when having to claim sickness pay, and that this
process in their view, could sometimes be complicated
(f) The Committee therefore recommend that caring should be promoted as a
profession, and that providers should offer all carers guaranteed hour contracts, rather
than zero hour contracts, even if carers do not ultimately wish to take up a guaranteed
hour contract. There should be exploration of the benefits of a discontinuation of
‘minute by minute’ charging, in order to reflect the recommendations in (c) and (d)
above.
Please note that there is no requirement to commission on a ‘minute by minute’ basis
and many councils have chosen not to commission in this way.
The Committee are impressed with the excellent and difficult work that carers often have
to do and their commitment to their career. The Committee therefore also recommend
providers consider compensating/finding alternative work for carers, in the event of

Page 166

Page 4 of 11

clients being hospitalised. In addition, providers should ensure that the process for
claiming and payment of sick is simplified
Response – The Council is committed to promoting caring as a profession and Adult Social
Care works in close partnership with the local Islington iWork Service and has strong ties with
the Proud to Care programme that promotes workforce recruitment and development. The
Council has now moved from ‘paying on actuals’ with minute by minute billing to ‘paying on
planned’ care hours and in line with this recommendation, a change we have continued while
other boroughs have reverted back to paying minute by minute since the first COVID-19 wave.
The Council will continue to support guaranteed hours contracts and work with providers to
make this the norm. ,
3.7

The Committee heard evidence that the introduction of Individual Service Fund payments
(ISF’s), into learning disability payments is working well. Direct Payments (DPs) enable clients
to have more flexibility/control over their care and assist in the move to an outcome based
service recommended in (c) above
(g) The Committee therefore recommend that commissioners, as part of broader market
development, explore the appetite and capacity for delivering personalised services
through Individual Service Funds, or Direct Payments
Response – The Council is committed to increasing the number of people who utilise
Individual Service Funds and Direct Payments for all residents in receipt of social care.

3.8

The Committee heard evidence of the benefits of taking a relationship based approach, and a
stronger enablement approach, together with integration of different types of support
(h) The Committee therefore recommend that the Council works with clients, their
relatives and providers to review the Council services to people in their homes, and to
explore opportunities for improvements that will better support residents to maintain
independence and improve wellbeing
Response – The Council is committed to taking a strength based approached based on
understanding and building relationships with residents and their loved ones to ensure that
they take an active role in how their care is delivered, and enable them to live the lives they
want.

3.9

The Committee heard evidence that carers sometimes suffered racist/physical/verbal abuse
from clients. The Committee felt that this was unacceptable, however as the
Council has to continue to provide care in such cases there should be appropriate specialist
advisers/training provided, in order to ensure that such instances are dealt within an
acceptable manner. The Committee also heard evidence that some domiciliary care users,
especially those BAME clients with cultural differences, such as female carer being provided for
a Muslim women, did not always receive the appropriate care needs that they requested,
although the Committee noted that providers did endeavour to do this where possible
(i) The Committee therefore recommend the institution of a zero tolerance approach in
instances of verbal/physical/racist abuse, and commissioners/providers should take
effective action. Commissioners should engage specialist providers who offer their staff
appropriate specialist training, including gender/culturally appropriate training, in order
to meet the needs of service users with challenging behaviours, and to minimise the
effect on carers. In addition, providers should ensure that where there are requests from
clients that carers needed to be provided to respect cultural differences, measures be
put in place to ensure clients’ wishes are respected

Page 167

Page 5 of 11

Response - Adult Social Care colleagues are developing an anti-discriminatory policy to
support the adult social care workforce to carry out their roles free from discrimination and
abuse. We will share with providers who we hope will also sign up to the policy.
The Council is committed to developing cultural competence among its workforce and
providers. The iWork Team will work closely with commissioners to develop opportunities for
promoting the sector to Islington's diverse communities.
3.10

The Committee recognise the excellent service that carers provide, and were concerned that
carers, especially female carers, stated that they sometimes experience safety concerns, and
attending clients
(j) The Committee therefore recommend that the Council explore the possibility of
providing parking permits for carers working late at night that have to use their car. The
Committee also support the provision of London Transport concessionary fare passes
to the carers for those people with Disabilities.
Response - . One of the Council priorities is to be carbon net-zero and in line with this we will
encourage providers to have travel policies which promote the use of sustainable travel
options. This is balanced by a focus on care worker safety which is championed by Islington
Council staff and which we discuss with care providers. All providers are required to have lone
worker policies in place.

3.11

The Committee heard evidence that the increasing elderly population, who have ever more
complex and multiple needs, will in the future place a growing need for additional social care
resources, whilst at the same time adult social care is still not being adequately funded by
Central Government
(k) The Committee are concerned that that the Green Paper on Adult Social
Care, scheduled for publication many months previously, has still to be published. The
Committee therefore recommend that Government adequately fund social care for Local
Authorities, and implements a fundamental change to its long term funding position, as
soon as possible.
There is an urgent need to address the implications of a growing ageing population, who
will have increasing and ever more complex needs
Response - The government recently announced (September 2021) that there will be a new
lifetime cap on care costs of £86k and an increase to the upper capital limit (from £23,250 to
£100k). This will mean that Local Authorities will have to fund a greater share of care costs
currently paid for by individuals. In addition, the council and supply chain (including providers)
will have to pay additional employer National Insurance Contributions of 1.25% from April
2022. Whilst a reduction in the financial burden on individuals, the government has not yet
announced any additional funding to tackle existing and growing funding gaps in Adult Social
Care. I recently wrote to the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care to highlight the rising
and unsustainable costs of Adult Social Care. Whilst recognising the government has provided
pandemic related support, the support is nowhere near sufficient to meet the ongoing costs and
underlying pressures faced by Adult Social Care. The Council needs immediate on-going
funding to meet these challenges and to continue to support the most vulnerable in society.

Page 168

Page 6 of 11

3.12

The Committee heard evidence that the creation of integrated team work between
Providers/commissioners/NHS and social care can be utilised to carry out preventative work
that may assist in keeping those receiving care out of hospital. This could include ensuring
regular hydration, falls prevention, checking for infections etc.
(l) The Committee therefore recommend that a more integrated approach is taken to
preventative care in order to reduce hospital admissions, and commissioners should
work with providers, social care and NHS in this regard. An example of an integrated
approach could include a combined homecare and district nursing team. There are
many opportunities to integrate between health and social care and integration could
take many different forms
Response - The Council is working with NHS colleagues to establish ways to work closer
together. An example of this is the reconfiguration of district nursing around 3 Islington localities
and joint meetings between home care and district nursing staff identifying options for a more
joined up approach to providing care in people’s homes.

3.13

The Committee heard evidence that some carers did not feel that the time allocated for
travelling between clients was being adequately recompensed by providers, and that travel
time often took longer than time allocated by providers, and that this was unfair
(m) The Committee recommend that the Council reaffirms its commitment to ensure that
carers are adequately recompensed for travel time between clients, and that quality
control measures are put in place with providers, in order to ensure that this takes
place.
Response - Paid travel time is a requirement for commissioned home care providers in
Islington. The time allocated to travel between care calls is monitored and discussed at all
contract management meetings with providers. The Council’s work on driving up standards of
employment with our providers will also attend to the issue of adequate paid travel time for
care staff.

3.14

The Committee were concerned at the effect the COVID 19 pandemic may have on the
domiciliary care, and whether the service would be sufficient capacity among providers to
continue to be able to operate on an effective basis and provide a service to residents who
require care at home
(n) The Committee recommend that the Council congratulate the Home Care providers,
partners, We are Islington, the voluntary sector, community organisations and Adult
Social Care for ensuring that residents who needed it were able to continue to receive
care at home during the pandemic. This is due to the excellent collaborative work, and in
particular the dedication of domiciliary care staff. The Council ensured providers had
access to adequate Council PPE stocks, at points where their normal supply routes
failed, enabling carers to provide care safely
Response – The Council is committed to honouring and recognising our staff and providers
work in delivering social care, especially in light of the extreme conditions of the pandemic.
Council staff and teams including We Are Islington were recognised for their service at the
Annual Staff Awards in 2020 and our Annual Carers Awards recognise and celebrate individuals
and teams that provide care in Islington. The Executive would like to take this opportunity of
publicly thanking all the staff, carers, voluntary sector colleagues and residents from our
Mutual Aid organisations for their overwhelming commitment and dedication to our residents
throughout the pandemic.

Page 169

Page 7 of 11

3.15

The Committee noted that small local organisations were potentially at a disadvantage when
tendering for contracts, compared to large organisations with experience of bidding for
contracts
(o) The Committee recommend that more work should take place in order to ensure that
local organisations are able to bid more effectively for future contracts, as this will
provide increased social value, local employment and keep money in the local economy.
There needs to be adequate training and support provided to enable local organisations
to establish and grow to enable them to bid for contracts, and more emphasis in the
Council’s Procurement strategy should be placed on social value
Response - The Council is pleased to acknowledge that a high proportion of our care
providers employ local residents. The Council’s Progressive Procurement Strategy has a high
commitment to providers adding social value to contracts we award. Prior to any new
procurements we will host market warming events to promote contract opportunities. We will
also be providing training to support and upskill potential providers to successfully bid for
Council contracts.

3.16

The Committee heard evidence that some domiciliary care users, especially those BAME clients
with cultural differences, (such as a female carer provided for Muslim women) did not always
receive the appropriate care needs that they requested, although the Committee noted that
providers did endeavour to do this wherever possible
(p) The Committee recommend that providers should ensure that where there are
requests from clients that carers needed to be provided to respect cultural differences,
measures be put in place to ensure clients’ wishes are respected
Response - The Council is committed to developing cultural competence among its workforce
and providers to reduce and challenge inequality. Residents can and are encouraged to
stipulate the gender of the carer who will deliver them personal care.

3.17

The Committee considered the charging policy that the Council has put in place for domiciliary
care for residents that are in receipt of pension credit and Disability benefits. The Committee
considered that such benefits are awarded to residents, as they do not have sufficient money
to cope within their existing income, and therefore these should not be counted in assessing
their income for charging for domiciliary care
(q) The Committee recommend that consideration be given to the implications of
removing charges for those residents in receipt of domiciliary care that are in receipt of
pension credit, the Disability Living Allowance care component, Personal Independence
Payment Disability Living component, or Attendance Allowance. The removal of charges
would apply to residents with capital in excess of £23,250.
Response - The Council is committed to a fair charging policy and ensures minimum income
guarantee levels for residents. National Government sets the regulations and guidance for
charging for adult social care, which Councils must adhere to. Financial assessments include
additional allowances for people in receipt of disability premiums, carers’ premium or
responsibility for a child, and people in receipt of pension credit with no additional disability
benefits are not charged. Due to the recent announcements regarding Government changes to
lifetime cap on care costs and a significant increase to the upper capital limit, the Council will
need to consider this recommendation within this wider context.
However, the Council’s IMAX service is dedicated to ensuring that residents receive all the
benefits that they are entitled to and has supported residents to access an additional £1.93m
of annual benefit entitlement so far in 2021/22, a figure expected to reach £4m by the end of

Page 170

Page 8 of 11

the financial year. The Council also ran a successful pension credit take-up campaign in
2020/21 that helped residents claim an additional £540k of annual pension credit entitlement.
4.

Implications

4.1

Financial implications:
There are no direct financial implications from this report, however any financial implications
arising from the implementation of any of the recommendations need to be considered and
agreed as necessary by the Council.
Specifically referring to point 3.17, the following financial implications arise if this
recommendation is implemented.
Overall the financial impact will be in the range of £4.1m to £14.9m, based on these figures
this recommendation is currently unaffordable.
This recommendation will result in not charging service users a contribution towards the cost
of non-residential Adult Social Care. The cost of this on the current service user base is
estimated to be £4.1m per annum.
The additional consequence of this recommendation will be those residents who currently selffund their non-residential care privately, will approach the council to fund their care because
they will be able to receive the care for free.
There is little available data on the number of residents who self-fund privately. The majority
of those residents that currently self-fund privately will do so because they have capital in
excess of the full cost level of £23,250.
Based on the cost of non-residential care for every 1% increase in the service user base will
equate to an additional £0.183m cost and if an estimate of a 10% increase is used this will
equate to an additional cost of £1.83m per annum.
Please note it has been estimated 37% of care home residents are self-funders, if nonresidential care self-funders followed the same proportion this will mean an estimated
additional cost of £10.8m.
Any plans or strategies derived or agreed in relation to this report which create a budgetary
pressure for the council would have to be financed through efficiencies as part of the annual
budget setting process.

4.2

Legal Implications:
Section 14 of the Care Act gives local authorities a general power to make a charge for
meeting needs for care and support under sections 18 – 20 of the Act. Detailed provisions in
respect of charging and the assessment of resources are set out in section 17 of the Care Act,
the Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) Regulations 2014 and relevant
chapters of the Care and Support Statutory Guidance.
The case of R( SH v Norfolk CC ) [2020] EWHC 3436 (Admin) the ‘Norfolk Case’ has caused
some legal uncertainty around the charging regulations. The Norfolk case held that their

Page 171

Page 9 of 11

charging policy was discriminatory against severely disabled people as a greater proportion of
their income was taken than other non-disabled people. Whilst the council is of the view that
this case was wrongly decided, it is imperative to ensure that the current charging policy
complies with the Council’s ongoing Public Sector Equality Duty (‘PSED’).
With respect to affordability, this is a requirement for lawfulness.
As a matter of substance, the proposed responses are rational and are in the interests of the
council taxpayers.
If, notwithstanding the fundamental affordability issue, it is decided to explore this further,
then, before any substantive decision can be made, there will need to be an EqIA/RIA and
consultation and conscientious consideration of the responses, and options will have to be
scrutinised against the detailed statutory and sub-statutory provisions, and any relevant case
law at the time, albeit that will not have to include the Norfolk case.
4.3

Environmental Implications and contribution to achieving a net zero carbon
Islington by 2030:
There are no significant negative environmental impacts from the works identified or under
consideration as a result of the recommendations made.
Some of the recommendations will have a positive impact in terms of reducing the
environmental impact of travelling, potentially reducing vehicular emissions. These include
employing a greater proportion of local residents in the care sector (which will reduce
commuting distances) and encouraging providers to promote sustainable travel options to their
staff.

4.4

Resident Impact Assessment:
The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and
foster good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and those
who do not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The council has a duty to have due regard
to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in particular steps
to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, and encourage people to participate in public
life. The council must have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice and promote
understanding.
A Resident Impact Assessment (RIA) has not been completed at this stage. Where the
proposals in the report may have equalities implications for residents, RIAs will be undertaken.

5.

Reasons for the decision:

5.1

This report details the Executive Member’s response to the recommendations of the Health
and Social Care Scrutiny Committee and how Commissioners, and colleagues from Health
and Adult Social Care intend to meet the committees’ recommendations.

Page 172

Page 10 of 11

Background papers: None
Appendices: None
Final report clearance:
Signed by:

15 November 2021
Executive Member for Health and Social Care

Report Author:
Tel:
Email:

Nikki Ralph
020 75278847
Nikki.ralph@islington.gov.uk

Financial Implications Author:
Tel:
Email:

Shakeel Yasin
020 7527 8929
shakeel.yasin@islington.gov.uk

Legal Implications Author:
Tel:
Email:

Stephanie Broomfield
020 7527 3380
Stephanie.broomfield@islington.gov.uk

Page 173

Date

Page 11 of 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11

Bythe
of
virtue
Local
of paragraph(s)
Government Act
3 of1972.
Part 1 of Schedule 12A

Document is Restricted

Page 175

This page is intentionally left blank

